NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

General information

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) engage principally in
satellite television broadcasting and provision of internet media
services.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and domiciled in Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of The People’s Republic of China (“PRC").
The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), unless otherwise stated. These financial statements
were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 March
2020.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"). They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for the revaluation of investment
properties and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group.

(i) Effect of adopting new standards and
amendments to standards effective in 2019

HKFRS 9 (Amendments) ~ Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKAS 19 (Amendments)  Plan Amendment, Curtailment for
Settlement

HKAS 28 (Amendments)  Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

HK (IFRIC) 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Annual Improvements Annual Improvements 2015-2017
Cycle

Except for HKFRS 16, the adoption of the other new
or revised standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations of HKFRS stated above did not have
any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the current and prior periods.
The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 is disclosed
in Note 2(b)(iii).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EESTERHEE (&)
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b) ETERR K EE

disclosures (Continued) (48)

(ii) New standards, amendments to standards and (i) AEEHMAREMBOTE
interpretations not yet adopted by the Group Al - ZAHETTRAE
The following new standards, amendments to AT RREZE20194 12
standards and interpretations have been issued but A3MBIEMBEREE B
are not yet effective for the financial year ended 31 HEREMEREE K
December 2019 and have not been early adopted by R MR ETAER] - R
the Group: 85T 2R
HKFRS 3 (Amendments)  Definition of Business " BEUBEE B ER"

LRI I
CHES
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts @ BEUBaS Riean?
£RIE17 5
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material BAGEN BAZER"
(Amendments) ERE5
EAE
LRI 85
(CHEN
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets BEUNBERE REERARS
(Amendments) between an Investor and its RHIE 109 REHAE
Associate or Joint Venture © REEET OGEZEN
LRF 8% AEHER
CHEN Lo
Conceptual Framework  Revised Conceptual Framework for 018F 8% FHBRER
for Financial Reporting ~ Financial Reporting ! RENHS  EBIHR
2018 1E%E fEZE
m Effective for the Group for annual period beginning m H2020F1 818 A
on 1 January 2020 ralen N ST |
E
@ Effective for the Group for annual period beginning @ H2021F1 818 A
on 1 January 2021 ralen N ST |
E
@ Effective date to be determined @ A A BRFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations not yet adopted by the Group
(Continued)

These standards are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group in the current or future
reporting periods.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach where the cumulative
impact of the adoption is recognised in the opening
balance of retained earnings as at 1 January 2019
and that comparatives had not been restated. The
new accounting policies are disclosed in Note 2(aa)
and the adjustments to the consolidated financial
statements are set out below.

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised
lease liabilities in relation to leases which had
previously been classified as ‘operating leases’
under the principles of HKAS 17 Leases. These
liabilities were measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using the
lessee's incremental borrowing rate as of 1 January
2019. The weighted average lessee's incremental
borrowing rates applied to the lease liabilities on
1 January 2019 were from 1.55% to 5.88%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and (b)

disclosures (Continued)

(iii)

47 2019

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

e ISR

(RIF AT - STELETAIE)
BEESTHBRME (&)
SRR LBEEE

(%8)

(iii) BFBER2D (H)

Measurement of lease liabilities FTEHERRE
2019
2019
$'000
Fx
Operating lease commitments disclosed R2018F 12 H31H
as at 31 December 2018 W E T E RS 858,103
Other commitment reassessed as lease EHAAE Z HhEE 89,229
Discounted using the lessee's incremental FAARBARBXRBEFERZ
borrowing rate at the date 18 BRI KA
of initial application 781,256
(Less): short-term leases recognised on OR) - RHAHEENESE
a straight-line basis as expense ERAMAEZ (4,776)
(Less): low-value leases recognised on CR) + (RERENERE
a straight-line basis as expense R AR (87)
Lease liability recognised as at 1 January 2019 A 201951 81 8®%REA =2
HEAE 776,393
Of which are: H@fE -
Current lease liabilities BNEffEAE 133,933
Non-current lease liabilities JERNHAHEBE 642,460
776,393
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
Measurement of right-of-use assets

The associated right-of-use assets for leases in
PRC were measured on a retrospective basis as
if the new rules had been applied since the lease
commencement date. Other right-of-use assets
were measured at the amount equal to the lease
liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to that lease
recognised in the balance sheet as at 1 January
2019. There were no onerous lease contracts that
would have required an adjustment to the right-of-
use assets at the date of initial application.

The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the
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following types of assets: THEUZEERR :
31 December 1 January
2019 2019
2019 F 20194
12H31H 1H1H
$'000 $'000
ST T
Properties JE 107,024 105,037
Land ) 191,826 198,636
Equipment B 50 95
LED screen LED & 614,848 559,592
Radio Channel and facility B RE R 64,472 77707
Total right-of-use assets FREEERR 978,220 941,067

170 Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
Measurement of right-of-use assets (Continued)

The change in accounting policy affected the
following items in the balance sheet on 1 January

e ISR

(RIF AT - STELETAIE)
BEESTHBRME (&)
(b) &ETER KIKEE
(#&)
(iii) EFFBEREE (&)

FERAEEE (&)

R2019F1H18 @ @t
Bz 2w B2 EEAR

2019: KAWL TIEE -
Effect of
As previously adoption of
stated HKFRS16 Restated
B A% R 2 B
puby:npzi gl F16RNTE P
$'000 $'000 $'000
T Tt FIT
As at 1 January 2019 R201951 418
Right-of-use assets FRERE GERE)

(Non-current) - 941,067 941,067
Lease premium for land TiHEER 198,636 (198,636) =
Prepayments, deposits and TBfHIE - Ze Rk

other receivables H i EWRIR 858,652 (36,482) 822,170
Lease liability HEBE
— due within one year - R—FREIH - 133,933 133,933
Lease liability HEAE
— due after one year - R—FEEIH = 642,460 642,460
Retained profits R &= T 5,478,929 (32,409) 5,446,520
Non-controlling interests FEVERR R 2,257223 (38,035) 2,219,188
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
Practical expedients applied
In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group

has used the following practical expedients
permitted by the standard:

applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with reasonably similar characteristics

relying on previous assessments on whether
leases are onerous

using recognition exemption to operating
leases with a remaining lease term of less
than 12 months as at 1 January 2019

excluding initial direct costs for the
measurement of the right-of-use asset at the
date of initial application

using hindsight in determining the lease term
where the contract contains options to extend
or terminate the lease

using recognition exemption to operating
leases for which the underlying asset is of low
value, and

not reassessing whether a contract is,
or contains a lease at the date of initial
application. Instead, for contracts entered into
before the transition date the Group relied on
its assessment made applying HKAS 17 and
IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii)

F# 2019

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

The Group's leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various lands and offices,
equipment, LED screens and radio channel. Rental
contracts, except for lease premium for land, are
typically made for fixed periods of 2 to 10 years
but may have extension options as described in (i)
below. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants, but leased assets may not be used
as security for borrowing purposes.

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at
the date at which the leased asset is available for
use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term
on a straight-line basis.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

° payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee
exercising that option
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(iii)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

The Group's leasing activities and how these are
accounted for (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot
be determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of similar value in a similar economic
environment with similar terms and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at either: (i) its
carrying amount as if the Standard had been applied
since the commencement date, but discounted
using the lessee's incremental borrowing rate at
the date of initial application; or (i) an amount equal
to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that
lease recognised in the balance sheet immediately
before the date of initial application.

Payments associated with short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT-
equipment and small items of office equipment.

(i) Extension and termination options

Termination option is included in radio
channel lease. This term is used to maximise
operational flexibility in terms of managing
contracts. The termination option held is
exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessor. The Group can terminate the
lease in 5 years by paying liquidated amount
stipulated in lease agreement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries

(i)

47 2019

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

(a)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of subsidiaries is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement.
|dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date.
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(Continued)

(c) Subsidia

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

ries (Continued)

(i) Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in
the event of liquidation are measured at either
fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at
the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognised in
profit or loss.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies

ries (Continued)

(i) Consolidation (Continued)

2
(Continued)
(c) Subsidia
(a)
FR 2019

Business combinations (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at
the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to
the fair value of the contingent consideration
that is deemed to be an asset or liability
is recognised in accordance with HKAS
39 either in profit or loss or as a change to
other comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held
interest measured is less than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the
case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the consolidated income
statement.
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(Continued)

(c) Subsidia

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

ries (Continued)

(i) Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Business combinations (Continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the
Group's accounting policies.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions — that is, as
transactions with the owners of the subsidiary
in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
amount of net assets of the subsidiary
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(c) Subsidia

ries (Continued)

(i) Consolidation (Continued)

(c)

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.

(ii) Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(d)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased
or decreased to recognise the investor’'s share of the
profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss
is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and its share of post-acquisition movements in
other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment
to the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount in the
consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(d)

47 2019

Associates (Continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and
its associates are recognised in the Group's financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor's
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates
are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Joint ventures

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangements.
Under HKFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements
are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures
depending on the contractual rights and obligations each
investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint
arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures.
Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the post
— acquisition profits or losses and movements in other
comprehensive income. \When the Group's share of losses
in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the
joint ventures (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the joint ventures), the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint ventures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n e I ERRM

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(e)

Joint ventures (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of the joint ventures have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors that make strategic
decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company's
functional and the Group's presentation currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(g) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(ii)

F# 2019

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at yearend exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and
other assets and liabilities are presented in the
consolidated income statement within “Other gains,
net”

Until 31 December 2017 changes in the fair value
of debt securities denominated in foreign currency
classified as available for sale are analysed between
translation differences resulting from changes in the
amortised cost of the security and other changes
in the carrying amount of the security. Translation
differences related to changes in amortised cost are
recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and other changes in other comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of the fair
value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-
monetary financial assets such as equities classified
as fair value through other comprehensive income
are included in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(g) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(a)

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(g) Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iv) Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
venture entity that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the equity
holders of the Company are reclassified to profit or
loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group'’s
ownership interest in associates or joint ventures
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control) the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange difference is reclassified
to profit or loss.

(h) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged in the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(h) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

No depreciation is provided on assets under construction
until they are completed and are available for use.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
cost to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives at annual rates, as follows:

Buildings 2.05-3.33%
Leasehold improvements shorter of 6.67%-33.3% or
over the terms of the leases

Furniture and fixtures 15%-20%

Broadcast operations and  10%-33.3%
other equipment

Motor vehicles 20%-25%

LED panels 10%-11.1%

Aircraft 71%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2(m)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised within “Other gains, net” in the consolidated
income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(i)

F# 2019

Investment properties

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields or
for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied
by the Group. It also includes properties that are being
constructed or developed for future use as investment
properties. Land held under operating leases are
accounted for as investment property when the rest of
the definition of an investment property is met. In such
cases, the operating leases concerned are accounted
for as if they were finance leases. Investment property
is initially measured at cost, including related transaction
costs and where applicable borrowing costs. After initial
recognition, investment properties are carried at fair
value, representing open market value determined at
each reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is
based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary,
for any difference in the nature, location or condition of
the specific asset. If the information is not available, the
Group uses alternative valuation methods such as recent
prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow
projections. Changes in fair values are recorded in the
consolidated income statement as part of a valuation gain
or loss in “Other gains, net”

Intangible assets
(i) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an
acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of
the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the
non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries
is included in “intangible assets” Goodwill is tested
annually for impairment and carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses
on goodwill are not subsequently reversed. Gains
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity
sold.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

() Intangible assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwvill
arose identified according to operating segment.

Licences

Separately acquired licences are shown at historical
cost. Licences acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of licences over their estimated useful lives
of two to ten years.

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of two to
four years.

Contractual customer relationships

Contractual customer relationships acquired in a
business combination are recognised at fair value
at the acquisition date. The contractual customer
relations have a finite useful life and are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over the
expected life of the customer relationship of three
years.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

2 EESTHHEEE (8)

() E|YEE (&)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

BE (#)

BENRTREELEM
PVERRERIH - BER
REED BN TR
BRIFTELREBNEBRA
P EmmR S EEFN
SR ELBMNEE -

FETATiE

B BUS Z AR AE
FRANFIR = BIZRFS A HHE
B ZFFRAIEE RS B 8
RFERER o PRI A
BAERERFH  WIRK
AR R ET 351 B o FF A
RELAB ARSI - WA
NF = +FHHFAE
FREHASED R -

BB M BN E Rk
BBE RN RMEZ
AT & A AT E L AR
TEBEARILBRIE o FZEHA
MR- EFREE AR
FHNEE -

BREFRAR

RAEBAHRFZENE
PRGEREUS AR T
BfER - ARHEFPHES
BEEERERFH Wik
AR R A EESHDIRR - &
FRAGNERERE =5
M TRET AT F A
i

Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

() Intangible assets (Continued)
(iv) Club debentures

Acquired club debentures are intangible assets with
an indefinite useful life. They are therefore shown
at historical cost and are not amortised. Impairment
assessments on club debentures are carried out
by comparing their recoverable amounts with their
carrying amounts annually and whenever there is an
indication that the intangible assets maybe impaired.

(v) Computer software

Costs associated with maintaining computer
software programmes are recognised as an expense
as incurred.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as
part of the software product include the software
development employee costs and an appropriate
portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet
these criteria are recognised as an expense as
incurred. Development costs previously recognised
as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a
subsequent period.

Computer software development costs recognised

as assets are amortised over their estimated useful
lives, which do not exceed three years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k)

Purchased programme and film rights

Purchased programme and film rights are recorded at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Cost of film rights is expensed in the consolidated income
statement on the first and second showing and cost of
purchased programme is expensed in the consolidated
income statement by amortising the cost over the licence
period on a straight line basis.

Purchased programme with licence period of 12 months
or less and film rights with economic lives of 12 months
or less are classified as current assets.

Self-produced programmes

Self-produced programmes are stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Cost comprises direct production
expenditures and an appropriate portion of production
overheads. Programmes in production that are abandoned
are written off in the consolidated income statement
immediately, or when the revenue to be generated
by these programmes is determined to be lower than
cost, the cost is written down to recoverable amount.
Completed programmes will be broadcast over a short
period of time and their costs are expensed in the
consolidated income statement in accordance with a
formula computed to write off the cost over the broadcast
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(m) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries,

47 2019

associates, joint ventures and non-financial
assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary,
associate or joint venture in the period the dividend is
declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee's net assets including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n)

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income (“OCl")
or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments
in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account
for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n)

47 2019

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and recognises an associated
liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL'), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group's business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are
three measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost, which include trade
and other receivables, amounts due from related
companies and bank balances. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in profit or loss and presented in “Other gains, net”
together with foreign exchange gains and losses.

° FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised in “Other
gains, net” Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in “Other gains, net"
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n)

47 2019

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net within “Other gains,
net” in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as "“Other gains, net” when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in “Other gains, net” in the consolidated
income statement as applicable. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on a forward
looking basis the expected credit losses associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables.

Impairment on financial assets measured at amortised
cost other than trade receivables is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected
credit losses, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has
occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is
measured as lifetime expected credit loss.

When there is a significant increase in credit risk or the
proceeds receivables are not settled in accordance with
the terms stipulated in the agreements, management
considers these receivables as underperforming or non-
performing and impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit loss.

When management considers that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, the financial assets measured at
amortised cost will be written off.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(0)

F# 2019

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the Group or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories, comprising decoder devices, satellite
receivers and merchandised goods, are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The cost of inventories
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less applicable variable selling expenses.

Accounts and other receivables

Accounts receivable are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of accounts and other receivables
is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Accounts and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses
on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its financial assets. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(@) Accounts and other receivables (Continued)

(n)

The Group's other financial assets carried at amortised
cost include other receivables and amounts due from
related companies. The impairment loss of other financial
assets carried at amortised cost is measured based on
the twelve months expected credit loss. The twelve
months expected credit loss is the portion of lifetime
expected credit loss that results from default events on
a financial instrument that are possible within twelve
months after the reporting date. However, when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since origination,
the allowance will be based on the lifetime expected
credit loss. See Notes 21 and 22 for further information
about the Group's accounting for accounts and other
receivables and Note 3(a)(ii) for a description of the
Group's impairment policies.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less.

Deferred income

Deferred income represents contract liabilities in relation
to advertising revenue, subscription revenue and
promotion service revenue received in advance from third
party customers while the underlying services are yet to
be provided under HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(t) Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

When the Company reacquires its own equity
instruments, the amount of the consideration paid, which
includes directly attributable costs, is recognised as a
deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified
as treasury shares and are presented in the treasury
share reserve. No gain or loss shall be recognised in profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments. Such treasury shares
may be acquired and held by the Group. Consideration
paid or received shall be recognised directly in equity.

(u) Accounts payable, other payables and
accruals

Accounts payable, other payables and accruals are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured of amortised cost using effective interest
method.

(v) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(w) Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company,
its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However, the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted
by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by
the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(w) Current and deferred income tax

47 2019

(Continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable
entity or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Employee benefits
(i) Pension obligations

The Group operates defined contribution retirement
schemes for the Hong Kong employees based on
local laws and regulations. Contributions to the
schemes by the Group and employees are calculated
as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries.
The retirement benefit schemes’ costs expensed
in the consolidated income statement represent
contributions paid or payable by the Group to the
funds.

The Group's contributions to the defined contribution
retirement schemes are expensed as incurred and
are reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the schemes prior to vesting
fully in the contributions. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds. The Group has no
further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(x) Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Pension obligations (Continued)

Pursuant to the relevant local regulations of the
countries where the overseas subsidiaries of the
Group are located, these subsidiaries participate in
respective government retirement benefit schemes
and/or set up their own retirement benefit schemes
(the “Schemes"”) whereby they are required to
contribute to the Schemes to fund the retirement
benefits of the eligible employees. Contributions
made to the Schemes are calculated either based on
certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs
or fixed sums for each employee with reference to a
salary scale, as stipulated under the requirements in
the respective countries. The Group has no further
obligation beyond the required contributions. The
contributions under the Schemes are expensed in
the consolidated income statement as incurred.

Bonus plans

The expected bonus payments are recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled
within 12 months and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when they are settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(x) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii)

47 2019

Share-based compensation

The Group operates a number of equity-settled,
share-based compensation plans, under which
the entity receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options
is recognised as an expense with a corresponding
credit to the employee share-based payment
reserve. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

° including any market performance conditions;

o excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions.

The fair value of options, at the time of grant is
expensed over the vesting period of these share-
based awards based on an accelerated graded
attribution approach. Under the accelerated graded
attribution approach, each vesting installment of
a graded vesting award is treated as a separate
share-based award, which means that each
vesting installment will be separately measured
and attributed to expense, resulting in accelerated
recognition of share-based compensation expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(x) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii)

Share-based compensation (Continued)

Cancellation of share options accompanied by the
grant of replacement share options is accounted for
as a modification of the terms of the cancelled share
options. The compensation costs associated with
the modification are recognised if either the original
vesting condition or the new vesting condition has
been achieved. Such compensation costs cannot
be less than the grant-date fair value of the original
share options. The incremental compensation cost
is measured as the excess of the fair value of the
replacement share options over the fair value of
the cancelled share options at the cancellation
date. Therefore, in relation to the modification, the
Group recognises share-based compensation over
the new vesting periods, which comprises (i) the
amortisation of the incremental portion of share-
based compensation over the remaining vesting
term and (ii) any unrecognised compensation cost
of original share option, using either the original
term or the new term, whichever is higher for each
reporting period.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(y)

47 2019

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied and services rendered, stated for
the sale net of value-added tax and discounts and after
eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the performance
obligations are satisfied by transferring control of a
promised good or service to customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(z) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Advertising revenue

Advertising revenue is recognised upon the
broadcast or posting of advertisements. This
performance obligation is satisfied over time as
the advertisers receive and consume benefits
simultaneously provided by the Group when the
advertisements are broadcasted or posted. The
Group applies output method to measure the
revenue. To apply the output method, the transaction
price specified in each contract is allocated into
different advertising timeslots. Each timeslot has its
value determined in the rate cards.

Mobile, video and wireless value added services
income

Mobile, video and wireless value added services
income are recognised in the period in which the
performance obligation is satisfied by transferring
control of a promised service or recognised evenly
in the subscription period.

Subscription revenue

Subscription revenue received or receivable from
the cable distributors or agents is amortised on a
time proportion basis to the consolidated income
statement. The unamortised portion is classified as
deferred income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(z) Revenue recognition (Continued)
(iv) Magazine advertising revenue

Magazine advertising revenue is recognised when
the advertisements are posted in accordance with
the contract advertising period. The Group applies
output method to recognise revenue.

(v) Magazine subscription/circulation revenue

Magazine subscription or circulation revenue
represents subscription or circulation money
received or receivable from customers and is
recognised when the respective magazine is sold.

(vi) Sales of decoder devices and satellite receivers

Revenue from sales of decoder devices and satellite
receivers is recognised on the transfer of control on
the goods, which generally coincides with the time
when the goods are delivered to customers and the
title has passed.

(vii) Barter revenue

Barter revenue is recognised at the fair value of
goods or services received or receivable in the
transaction upon the broadcast of advertisements,
the publishing of the magazine or the provision of
promotion services to be provided by the Group in
the barter transaction.

F# 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(2)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(viii) Rental income

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

Rental income from investment property is
recognised in the consolidated income statement on
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Tuition revenue

Tuition revenue for educational programs and
services is recognised when the performance
obligation is satisfied by transferring control of
promised services.

IT consultancy service revenue

The Group provides business IT management,
design, implementation and support services under
fixed-price contracts. Revenue from providing
services is recognised in the accounting period in
which the services are rendered. The revenue is
recognised based on the actual service provided to
the end of the reporting period as a proportion of the
total services to be provided because the customer
receives and uses the benefits simultaneously. This
is determined based on the actual labour hours
spent relative to the total expected labour hours.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts
where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to the customer and
payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a
consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(aa) Leases

F# 2019

As explained in Note 2(b) above, the Group has changed
its accounting policy for leases where the Group is the
lessee. The new policy is described below and the impact
of the change is set out in Note 2(b).

Until 31 December 2018, Leases are classified as
finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

(i) The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
the consolidated income statement on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

(i)~ The Group as lessee

Payments made under operating leases (net of
any incentives received from the lessor) including
upfront payment made for lease premium for land,
are charged to the consolidated income statement
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which
the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(aa) Leases (Continued)

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

° variable lease payment that are based on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability. The lease payments are discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be
readily determined, which is generally the case for leases
in the Group, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate
is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(aa) Leases (Continued)

47 2019

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received

° any initial direct costs, and
° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the righ-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment
and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise T
equipment and small items of office equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(ab) Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

(ac) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Company'’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

3 Financial risk management

(a)

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, PRC
regulatory risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group's overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Risk management is mainly carried out by the finance
department (the “Finance Department”) headed by the
Chief Financial Officer (“CFQO") of the Group. The Finance
Department identifies and evaluates financial risks in close
co-operation with the Group’s operating units to cope with
overall risk management, as well as specific areas, such
as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk,
use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative
financial instruments, and investing excess liquidity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i) Market risk

(a)

47 2019

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to the Renminbi (“RMB") and
US dollar (“US$"). Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations.

To manage their foreign exchange risk arising
from future commercial transactions and
recognised assets and liabilities, entities in
the Group engage in transactions mainly in
HK$, RMB and US$ to the extent possible. The
Group currently does not hedge transactions
undertaken in foreign currencies but manages
its exposure through constant monitoring
to limit as much as possible the amount of
its foreign currencies exposures. Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and
liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the entity’s functional currency.
The Finance Department is responsible for
monitoring and managing the net position in
each foreign currency.

The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations, whose net assets are exposed
to foreign currency translation risk. Currency
exposure arising from the net assets of the
Group's operations, such as those in the
People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the
United Kingdom and the United States is
managed primarily through operating liabilities
denominated in the relevant foreign currencies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n e I ERRM

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

If the functional currency of the group entities
had weakened/strengthened by 5% (2018:
5%) against the foreign currency of the net
monetary assets of corresponding group
entities, with all other variables held constant,
aftertax profit for the year would have been
HK$51,037.000 (2018: HK$98,755,000) higher
or lower.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to listed securities
price risk because certain investments held by
the Group are classified on the consolidated
balance sheet as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss. The Group has
investment in the equity of a publicly traded
entity. For further details of price risk exposed
by the Group, please refer to Note 25.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i) Market risk (Continued)

(c)

F# 2019

PRC regulations

The Group is exposed to certain macroeconomic
and regulatory risks and uncertainties in the
Chinese market. These uncertainties affect
the ability of the Group to provide online
advertising, mobile and Internet related
services, and educational programs and
services through contractual arrangements
in the PRC since these industries remain
highly regulated. The Chinese government
may issue from time to time new laws or new
interpretations on existing laws to regulate this
industry. Regulatory risk also encompasses
the interpretation by the tax authorities of
current tax law, the status of properties
leased for the Group’s operations and lega
structure and scope of operations in the PRC,
which could be subject to further restrictions
resulting in limitations on the Group's ability
to conduct business in the PRC. The PRC
government may also require the Group to
restructure its operation entirely if it finds that
the Group's contractual arrangements do not
comply with applicable laws and regulation.
It is unclear how a restructuring could
impact the Group’s business and operating
results, as the PRC government has not yet
found any such contractual arrangements
to be in noncompliance. However, any such
restructuring may cause significant disruption
to the Group's business operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

(d)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks

The Group’s cash flow and fair value interest-
rate risks primarily arise from bank deposits,
amount due from Shenzhou (Note 22), amount
due from a related company (Note 24) and
bank borrowings. Bank deposits placed, bank
borrowings and amounts due from Shenzhou
issued at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest-rate risk whereas bank
deposits placed, and amounts due from a
related company at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest-rate risk. The
Finance Department’s policy is to maintain
an appropriate level between fixed-rate and
floating-rate deposits and use interest rate
swap contract to manage certain cash flow
interest rate risks (Note 25).

At 31 December 2019, with all other variables
held constant, if the interest rates of interest-
bearing assets had increased/decreased by
1%, aftertax profit for the year would have
been HK$24,737,000 (2018: HK$25,488,000)
higher or lower.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

F# 2019

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

(d)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks
(Continued)

At 31 December 2019, with all other variables
held constant, if the interest rates of interest-
bearing liabilities had increased/decreased by
1%, aftertax profit for the year would have
been HK$4,320,000 (2018: HK$8,252,000)
lower or higher.

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk arises from cash and cash
equivalents, amounts due from related companies,
deposits with banks and financial institutions, as
well as credit exposures to advertising agents
and customers, including outstanding receivables
and committed transactions. The Group has a
receivable from an advertising agent, Shenzhou,
in the PRC amounting to HK$363,095,000 (2018:
HK$374,690,000) representing approximately 3%
(2018: 4%) of the total assets of the Group as of 31
December 2019. The Group manages its exposure
to credit risk through continual monitoring of the
credit quality of its customers and advertising
agents, taking into account their current and
expected financial positions, business environment
and industry performance, current and forward
looking economic factors, collection history, past
experience and subsequent settlements of debtors
and Shenzhou. For banks, financial institutions and
issuers of derivative financial instruments, only
reputable well established banks and financial
institutions are accepted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has put in place policies to ensure that
the sales are made to customers with an appropriate
credit history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers.

Most of the payment terms for advertising revenue
are agreed between the Group and the customers
at the beginning of year. Customers make payments
in accordance with the contract terms. The Group
generally requires its advertising customers in the
television broadcasting segment to pay in advance.
Customers of other business segments are given
credit terms of 30 to 180 days.

To measure the expected credit losses, accounts
receivable are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected
loss rates are based on the historical payment
profiles and the corresponding historical credit
losses. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors and industry trends affecting
the ability of the debtors to settle the outstanding
balance. The Group has assessed the expected
credit losses for these trade receivables.

Management considered the credit risk of trade
receivables, other receivables and amount due from
related companies as low as counterparties have
a strong capacity to meet their contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term. The Group has
assessed the expected credit losses for these other
receivables and amount due from related companies
under 12 months expected losses.

See Note 20 for further disclosure on credit risk.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

47 2019

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the
availability of funding through an adequate amount
of committed banking facilities and the ability to
close out market positions. Due to the dynamic
nature of the underlying businesses, the Finance
Department aims to maintain flexibility in funding
by keeping committed banking facilities available.
Details of cash and cash equivalents and banking
facilities are set out in Notes 28 and 29 respectively.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the balance
sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.
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Within exceeding exceeding More than
one year two years five years five years
—f#8 MERME
—£R TRBMEF TEBRE BBRE
$000 $'000 $'000 $000
T T Fr T
Group PN
At 31 December 2019 R2019612A31H
Accounts payable, other FERERER - E AT
payables and accruals FIE R eI R 1,894,573 - - -
Secured bank borrowings BEBRITEE 424,243 28,786 - 2,728
Loans from non-controlling LHEINGE R
shareholders of subsidiaries REER 229,737 121,561 10,762 22,302
Lease liabilities HEAR 214,791 188,991 375,103 44,727
At 31 December 2018 2018128 31H
Accounts payable, other FERERTR - Bt
payables and accruals SRR FERTHR 1,310,725 = = =
Secured bank borrowings BHEARTRE 753,445 72,778 31,932 2,528
Loans from non-controlling Wi 2 I FE AR AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries ~ fRAEE 141,079 78,889 133,961 22,578
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown
in the consolidated balance sheet plus borrowings.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, adjust the
amounts of borrowings or issue new shares.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at
fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have
been defined as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted pries included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

The Finance Department reviews the valuations of the
Group's financial instruments. The Finance Department
holds discussion with the independent valuers on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when
the valuation is performed at each interim and annual
reporting dates.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

3 MBEREE (&)

(b)

(c)

BARER

AEENEAREERRRERE
AEBOFELLEEN - U@
IREREH O - W HEFFREE
REBABDERHRA - 42
EARBRGEREERBRMAD
Z [#zs ] I EEEmETE -

REFIRHBELARE A%
E TR & AL X FRCRE
RE2H REEATERR -
HEEE 2 SBKBEITHRLD ©

AT

TRAGEED TR A FET
RROFBTE - TRFRZE
FWT

o AEREEN B ERNERE
MHZHE CREFHE)
(B14R) »

e  BRERSE1RNBREN -
BEEX A BN EELMH
EEENBARRE (F2
&) -

. WIEE R ] B R T I5 2R
(AN s8R A SUR)
K& E A BN AZE
(F38) -

MBEHPERAEREMBETA
BfEE - EREHHARFER
EHEETHER - MBI
BB E R AT AR i E R R

HERER -

Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)
3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE (F)
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) RY¥EMET (8)
The following table presents the Group's financial assets TEREZ571K2019F12 831 H
and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value at BRAFEFENAEBTBEE
31 December 2019. See Note 15 for disclosures of the ERMGARE - BREATE
investment properties that are measured at fair value. AECREMENEE  F2

BAMIEE 15 ©

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F14 F28 #34 H
$'000 $'000 $000 $'000
Fr Fr Fr Fr
Financial assets BREE
Financial assets at fair value RATEERER
through profit or loss TENNBEE
—Trading equity securities - HEENRAES 18,575 - - 18,575
— Convertible redeemable preferred shares - A #7% A] 2148 S A% - - 2,258,645 2,258,645
- Options for long-term investment - REIR A R R - - 19,800 19,800
— Option for refund of consideration - RE-TRWERE
in an acquisition iR - - 109,807 109,807
- Structured deposits - BEEER - 1,420,370 - 1,420,370
18,575 1,420,370 2,388,252 3,827,197
Financial liabilities BEEE
Financial liabilities at fair value ROATEERER
through profit or loss TENHBEE
- Interest rate swap contracts - MEESHAH - 2,501 - 2,501
- Cross-currency interest rate - RXEBF|IEEHAL
swap contracts - 5,680 - 5,680
— Forward option for disposal of - HERERR AR
investment - - 17,828 17,828
- 8,181 17,828 26,009

4R 2019 FE#AREE (28 ARAR 221
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation (C

ontinued)

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets

that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2018.

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

3

BHERERE (&)
(c) RFHEfLE (B)

T&RZ5M2018512 A31 8
BAFEFENEAEBIFBEE

= o
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1& F25% F30 st
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr Fr Fr Tr
Financial assets BREE
Financial assets at fair value BRAFEEBBETR
through profit or loss WERBEE
—Trading equity securities - HEENRAES 19,782 = = 19,782
- Convertible redesmable preferred shares - AT AR A FE 2B % ik - - 2,235,585 2,235,585
— Options for long-term investment - R A R AR - - 18,909 18,909
- Structured deposits - RN - 1,030,227 - 1,030,227
19,782 1,030,227 2,254,494 3,304,503
Financial liabilities g 3=l
Financial liabilities at fair value ROATEERBR
through profit or loss TENHBEE
- Interest rate swap contracts - FlEEHEL - 855 - 855
- Cross-currency interest rate - RXEWHEERAL
swap contracts - 5,363 - 5,363
- 6,218 - 6,218

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c)

F# 2019

Fair value estimation (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or
out of Level 3 (2018: Same).

(i)

(ii)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm's length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held by
the Group is the current bid price. These instruments
are included in level 1. As at 31 December 2019,
instruments included in level 1 comprise shares
of HSBC Holdings PLC (“HSBC"), an entity
listed on the Stock Exchange, of approximately
HK$18,575,000 (2018: HK$19,782,000) (Note 25).

Financial instrument in level 2

The fair values of structured deposits are determined
by valuation techniques that use observable inputs
such as the price of gold in London Gold Market and
London Interbank Offered Rate that are observable
at commonly quoted intervals while the fair values
of interest rate swap and cross-currency interest
rate swap contracts are determined by valuation
techniques that use observable inputs such as
interest rates, yield curves and foreign currency
rates that are observable at commonly quoted
intervals.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(1)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

3 MBEREE (&)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) RY¥EMET (8)

(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (iii) FEIZ/ANHBIA
Quantitative information about fair value (1)  HEEHELHE
measurements using significant unobservable #E ZgA 2551
inputs (Level 3) ~FEHE (E3

R) BIEZER

Value of Relationship of

Fair value at Valuation Unobservable  unobservable unobservable

Description 31 December 2019 technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value

20198 EiBE EiBED

12A318 BiBg faAE BABER

it WATE hERH HEAHE MEE ATENER
(8'000)
(f7)

Convertible 2,258,645 Market approach Lack of marketability 5% The lower the DLOM,
redeemable ik discount (“DLOM") the higher fair value
preferred shares B\ HERE S HENTREE -

AHRAREER (s Ekmz)) ATHEEE

\olatility 51% The lower the volatility,

it the higher the fair value

RS ATEER

Minority discount 13% The lower the
G5 GiF £ minority discount,

the higher the fair value

% i E5

ATEHS

Options for long-term 19,800 Various techniques Discount rate 35%  The lower the discount rate,
investments G0N i3 the higher the fair value

RERENDE MREHE - ATEMS

Options for refund of 109,807 Probability weighted Probability 60%  The higher the probability,
consideration in method = the higher the fair value
an acquisition BEiNEE BERg  ATEES

REANER(E
ighr S

Forward option for 17828 Forward pricing model Discount rate 166%  The lower the discount rate,
disposal of RHTERA HRE the higher the fair value
investment BRERE  ATEME

HEREN R B

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)
3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HREREMRERE (F)
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) AFEHET (B)
(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) (iii) FE3IFAMNFKETE (H)
(1) Quantitative information about fair value (1)  HEEHELHE
measurements using significant unobservable #E ZgA 2551
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) - FlEE E (B34R)
HIEEEF] (1B)
Value of Relationship of
Fair value at Valuation Unobservable unobservable unobservable
Description 31 December 2018 techniquels) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
20185 BAER BAEEN
128318 BEER I EAZRE
fit MATE EIE KB AEE HEE AT{EREE
(8'000)
(Fr)

Convertible 2,235,585 Discounted Discount rate 17%-225%  The lower the discount rate,
redeemable cash flow i3k the higher the fair value
preferred shares method and HREME  ATEMR

THETREELR market approach

EHREREER Lack of marketabilty 15%-20% The lower the
ik discount (*DLOM") DLOM, the higher the
BHEmE fair value

([EhEITR]) B HENTREE

AVEER

\olatility 44.5% The lower the volatility,

KR the higher the fair value

RIERE  ATEER

Revenue growth rate 4%-76% The higher the

YRk revenue growth rate,

the higher the fair value

YREREER

ATEEE

Terminal growth rate 3% The higher the

IRARE terminal growth rate,

the higher the fair value

SPERERR

ATEHS

Control premium 30% The higher the

EHlEak control premium,

the higher the fair value

AhEREER

DFERH

Options for long-term 18,909 Viarious techniques Discount rate 35%  The lower the discount rate,
investments e ik the higher the fair value
RARARDE HREHE  RTEER
3R 2019 BE#RRE (%) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

(1)

Quantitative information about fair value
measurements using significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3) (Continued)

The Preferred Shares represent investments
in Series C convertible redeemable preferred
shares and Series D1 convertible redeemable
preferred shares (as at 31 December 2018:
Series B convertible redeemable preferred
shares, Series C convertible redeemable
preferred shares and Series D1 convertible
redeemable preferred shares) of Particle Inc.
(“Particle”) by the Group (see Note 41 for
details).

An independent professional valuer adopted
the market approach (2018: discounted cash
flow method and market approach) to first
estimate the equity value of Particle, which
was then allocated to Particle’s common
shares and Preferred Shares using the option-
pricing and binomial models.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

3 MBEREE (&)
() AFEM[E (&)

(ili) HFE3IPANHMKETE (4F)

(1)

BB A% B
79 F ZA B
DFEEE (F3R)
HIEEEF ()

BERRELE
% Particle Inc.
(IParticle]) ZC
I A A% AT BB 1]
B ED1RS
A A% 7] & B8 %
RIELE 2B (R
201844 12 A 31
H:BRJ| AR
AERELR - C
R AT #A % AT HE ]
B %k D1 R 75
A 2 % 7] B (B8 ot
i) (BB R
41) e

B EEGER
RA™HA (2018
F AR RE
ERTSEE) LE
% {t &t Particle 2
IRAEE - #if A
HETER-EN
Xz riEE
Particle < Z A% &
B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iii)

(1)

47 2019

3 MBEREE (&)

(c) RY¥EMET (8)
Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) (iii) FE3IFAMNFKEITE (H)
Quantitative information about fair value (1)  HEEHELHE
measurements using significant unobservable #E ZgA 2551
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) - FlEE E (B34R)
HIEEEAR (4B)
The following table presents the changes in TREEIRT
level 3 instruments during the year ended 31 AN #H =2019F
December 2019. 12A31H Lt & E
Option for
refund of Forward Convertible
consideration option  Optionsfor  redeemable
inan  for disposal long-term preferred
acquisition of investment  investments shares Total
BE-ENE  HEREM RriRE TR
RENEREE BHSE MgE TERELR &zt
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
i r r r T
(Note 25)
(HzE2s)
Opening balance on #2091 418
1 January 2019 ZEYES - - 18909 2235585 2,254,494
Additions e 42,362 (22,49) - - 19,866
Fair value gain MERTERZATE
recognised in W&
profit or loss 68,331 4,952 1121 1,567,715 1,642,119
Disposal it - - - (1564262)  (1,544.262)
Currency translation EEBEED
differences (886) (284) (230) (393) (1,793)
Closing balance on R201912A31 8
31 December 2019 LR 109,807 (17,828) 19,800 2,258,645 2,370,424

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

(1) Quantitative information about fair value

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

3 MBEREE (&)
(c) RFHEfLE (B)

(iii)

E3RMANMB IR (8

(1) BEEEHELEE

measurements using significant unobservable #E ZgA 2551
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) - FlEE E (B34R)
HIEEER (&)
Equity Convertible
securities and Options for redeemable
convertible long-term preferred
loans investments shares Total
RAES Rk RERE AR
ARER gk AREELR &t
$'000 $000 $000 $000
7 Tt it 7
(Note 25)
(£ 25)
Opening balance on R201851 418
1 January 2018 (restated) 2 F#1&5
(&5%5) 154,948 17702 1426714 1,599,364
Fair value (loss}/gain WMERTBR A TE
recognised in (B8) /ha
profit or loss (1,900) 2,053 802,877 803,030
Disposal loss LEBR (690) - - 690)
Disposal HE (152,799) - - 152,798)
Currency translation EHBREER
differences 440 (846) 5,9% 5,588
Closing balance on R2018E 12 8318
31 December 2018 ERER - 18,909 2,235,585 2,254,494

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3

BHERERE (&)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) RY¥EMET (8)
(i) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) (iii) FIJANABEIA (H)
(2)  Quantitative sensitivity analysis 2) TEEHBEEST
A quantitative sensitivity analysis is shown TEEHREDITH
below: Bl an T :
Revenue Terminal Minority Control
growthrate  growthrate Discount rate DLOM Volatility ~ discount5%  premium 5%
10%increase  1%increase  3%increase  3%increase  B%increase  increaseor  increase or
ordecrease  ordecrease  ordecrease  ordecrease  or decrease decrease decrease
KEERE  BAERE BRE  BUEEN RE  SuUFEE  ERERE
by ] g fEENG g I E] g
HD10% A 1% HD3% A5 3% HD5% H55% HD5%
$'000 $/000 $/000 $/000 $'000 $/000 $'000
T i T T i T T
Year ended HE2019%
31December2019 12831 HLLEE
Preferred Shares Bk - - - - - (23,488)/ -
31317
Year ended HEB8E
31December 2018 12A31BILERE
Preferred Shares it 272,618/ 8472/ (6130 (86364 (146,042 - 2,430/
(244,651) (75,586) 525,164 86,775 2,107 (22,509)
No sensitivity analysis for options for long term 2572019
investments amounting to HK$19,800,000 ¢ 12 A31AH
(2018: HK$18,909,000) and a forward option 7% 19,800,000
for disposal of investment amounting to (201 8¢_ :
HK$17,828,000 at 31 December 2019 is 18,909,000/8 7. )
presented as a reasonably possible change ZRERE 2 Mk
in key assumptions used in the sensitivity &17,82820002%7E
analysis would not result in any significant Z L ERENRE
potential financial impact. HEZCHRED
e REASRE
AMHPFRAEER
R BB R
1S E A E R
ENBEY B
-
If the probability for refund of consideration i i IE —TEIKE A
in an acquisition has increased/decreased by B Ry R I 0,
15%, with all other variables held constant, »16% - MAAHE
the fair value of the option would change by fth BB S N
+HK$32,368,000/-HK$24,502,000. BIHAER AT ER
EH +32,368,000
B7T,-24,502,000
BITHES o
3R 2019 BE@ERRE (ER) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HRERERERE ()
(d) Offsetting financial assets and financial (d) HETFEELETEE
liabilities (T

AT B EEZIEE - 7585
TR FREE R REL

The following financial assets are subject to offsetting,
enforceable master netting arrangements and similar

agreements. AR o
Gross amounts Related amounts
of recognised ~ Net amounts of  not set off in the
Gross amounts financial liabilities financial assets balance sheet
of recognised setoffinthe  presentedinthe  Cash collateral
financial assets balance sheet halance sheet received Net amount
YRR
BESERA
REE REE i A il ]
BERNEH BERMZS £ ]
ERH PARE g ZIBEE EhEe
BELE afaE et il et
As at 31 December 2019 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
R2019512A318 T T T T T
Accounts receivable, net RUET TR
- Subject to master netting - RE—-FREERRR ()
arrangement (Note ) 722,051 - 722,051 (17876) 704175
- Not subject to master - UG- FEEEZAAR
netting arrangement 361,486 - 361,486 - 361,486
1,083,537 - 1,083,537 (17,876) 1,065,661
As at 31 December 2018 R2018E12 4318
Accounts receivable, net G
- Subject to master netting - FEEERARR (W)
arrangement (Note ) 549,09 - 549,09 (15,669) 533,427
- Not subject to master - UARG—FREERRR
netting arrangement 370,026 - 370,026 - 310,026
919,122 - 919,122 (15,669) 903,453
Notes: FitsE
(i) Internet advertising customers have provided cash collateral (i) EREEERFPFEMAER

to the Group of HK$17.876,000 (2018: HK$15,669,000) as
protection for payment and contractual obligations under
the terms of advertising sale agreements. The Group has
the right to invoke the collateral if a customer has failed to
settle outstanding payments or full contractual obligations.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

12 1#£17876,0005%8 7T (2018
£ 115,669,000/ 7T) 2
SHEAR  EAELEHER
FEFETONERERE
EZARFE © W& P ReEAES
HMRFBEREBEREL
ANEE A EE BB RRKR

o
g °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)
4 Critical accounting estimates and 4 EEETHHFTRAE
judgements
(a) Critical accounting estimates and (a) EBEEEE{AFTRERE

assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning HRBRK - REB S EL G

the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by MR - BRI ME - FTEA/D

definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The AT ESEEANERLE

estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of Rx2MEE - AEKREME

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts BT BRFEEERBEDN

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are FREEFERBEFTAMEE R

discussed below. RERAE Nt

(i)  Fair values of financial assets/liabilities at fair (i) BAFTEEBEZR
value through profit or loss EHUMEEE &A@
The fair values of financial assets/liabilities at fair WHRRAIRERMSE &
value through profit or loss that are not traded in IR AP EEBRER LR
an active market are determined by using valuation WV ISEE, BENAT
techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select BERABERMNEE - &
a variety of methods and make assumptions that S5 B VR H U DASE ]
are mainly based on market conditions existing at FERMERFEERNER
the end of each reporting period. For details, refer to HHRBE FHSEGR
Note 3 (c) (iii). % o FFIEFE2 MM 30

(ifi) °

(ii) Provision for impairment of receivables (i) EWRERERE
Significant judgement is exercised in the L EWERRR - E bl
assessment of the collectability of accounts HIE - EWERENTR
receivable, other receivables, amounts due from T8 R eI — 2 B S A IR 4
related companies and the receivable from an N 9 2K T 9 A U [ 14 8
advertising agent, Shenzhou. In making such EE EE AT - IMELH)
judgement, management considers a number of R SEEZEZIER
factors including but not limited to the debtors’ = BREETRREBA
current and expected financial positions, business Z IR R FEERBA A AR
environment and industry performance, current and (RASIBIE T RETE | IH
forward looking economic factors, collection history, B R RTREMERERZE « W
past experience and subsequent settlements of FRCEk - BELRKHEZ
debtors and Shenzhou. BEBARBINEERIBZ

(P

4R 2019 BEERRE (2) ARAH 231
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (Continued)

(a) Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions, including Hong Kong and the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining
the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current
and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the
period in which such determination is made. For the
Group's tax exposure in the PRC, please refer to
Note 9.

Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties is determined
by using valuation technique. Details of the
judgement and assumptions have been disclosed in
Note 15.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

4 EERETHEFRAE (&)

@) EEE i RER

(%8)

(iii) FREH

7N & B AN B ME R A

(8

FERTE) &

METEH - REFLER
H T PARE FE 2 FREEE AR
PRSTiEME - RABEH
T RERHRAENR
RBBTHHEE ° NEE
EREFEIEE SR

HA T 7 32

BEMHBE R

BMAE - ERABIAL
R RO 8RO B IE AR
FEEZRR - ZERHF
EFh DiEEBRRENE
HMEERSHEERA
B - ARAAKEHTED

B

(iv)

AELEMWE °

REWENDFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (Continued)

(a) Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (Continued)

(v)

Recognition of share-based compensation
expense

The Group adopts the Black-Scholes option pricing
model to determine the fair value of share options
at the grant date. Significant estimates and
assumptions are required to be made in determining
the parameters for applying the Black-Scholes
model, including estimates and assumptions
regarding the risk-free interest rate, expected
dividend yield and volatility of the underlying shares
and the expected life of the share options. Changes
in these estimates and assumptions could affect the
determination of the fair value of the options, and
the amount of such share-based awards expected
to become vested, which may in turn impact the
determination of the share-based compensation
expense.

(b) Critical judgements in applying the Group's
accounting policies

(i)

F# 2019

Control over Phoenix Metropolis Media
Technology Company Limited (“PMM Beijing”)

Management considers that the Group has de facto
control of PMM Beijing even though it has less
than 50% of the voting rights. Management has
exercised its critical judgement when determining
whether the Group has de facto control over PMM
Beijing by considering the following, amongst
others: (i) the Group has obtained effective control
over majority of the board of PMM Beijing; (ii) the
Group has the ability to direct the relevant activities
of PMM Beijing, i.e. the activities that significantly
affect PMM Beijing; and (iii) PMM Beijing and other
shareholders highly rely on the Group's industry
expertise, brand, network, and reputation.

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

EREHAF R A (&)

(a)

(v)

Zeithat kBR
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TR AR AT TR R
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AEBRARE DR - &
RETHEEEE A AEE
BRENR L A AT
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& BREENERRT
- FRHR R s R AN
2 A {7 B0 5 0 A B B A A
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It AR R L AT
EEErERBIENATE
EEARIEHE T RED
By SRRV RE - M RIRE
BB FZE AR D 3R
B AERE

(b) AR E & A R
SR

(i)

HREBEEH T EHEBER G
BRAF (R ER
) By

EEERAR BEAEE
A REEET 2 KRR
HEAERN50% - BARKE
LR R EET A B
2 - ERENEER
SEHIERARETES
BERIEGHIEE - ZET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n e I ERRM

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5 Revenue and segment information

The Group is principally engaged in satellite television
broadcasting and the provision of internet media services. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue by nature is as follows:

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

5 WARZEEHR

AEENEIZEBRAFEERERER
R BB ERERE - % \&*E"*EE’J
REBWADHTAT

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
Fi T
Advertising sales BEHE
Television broadcasting BRERE 814,943 1,176,750
Internet media ERiEEp e 1,447,980 1,453,183
Outdoor media PonEss 691,336 823,084
Mobile, video and wireless value 7B} * 1358 M B AR IEEARTS
added services income WA 329,618 237,621
Subscription sales G =L N 73,259 75,444
Magazine advertising and SRS RETHEK
subscription or circulation BT 32,657 34,669
Rental income WA 49,048 68,404
Others Hth 249,390 193,661
3,688,231 4,062,816

The operating segments have been based on the reports
reviewed by executive directors that are used to make strategic
decisions. The executive directors consider the business from a

product perspective.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

LEDETIRIBEANTESERILA
RERARAMEMET - RITESE
WEREBmMOTEERS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5 Revenue and segment information
(Continued)

The Group has five main operating segments including:

()  Television broadcasting — broadcasting of television
programmes and commercials and provision of promotion
activities;

(@)  Primary channels, including Phoenix Chinese
Channel and Phoenix InfoNews Channel

(b)  Others, including Phoenix Movies Channel, Phoenix
North America Chinese Channel, Phoenix Chinese
News and Entertainment Channel, Phoenix Hong
Kong Channel and others

(i) Internet media — provision of website portal and value-
added telecommunication services;

(i)~ Outdoor media — provision of outdoor advertising services;

(iv) Real estate — property development and investment
(mainly Phoenix International Media Centre in Beijing); and

(v)  Other activities — programme production and ancillary
services, merchandising services, magazine publication
and distribution, and other related services.

47 2019

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

WARDEER (&)

AEESREIBETIERENHE B
1

() BREE-ERHERESE
BAMRHEERS

(a E25RE - BEEEER
PXAERBEEFREMS

(b) Hft BEREFHRER
a - BE&EEEMNE B
BEERENE - BEER
BE A NEM

i) EBHRIRE - EEAPHEIR
B ERT :

(i) P EE-REPIHESR
7%

(iv) BHE-MEERRERE (X
ZRURIEREEBEERER
L) - &

(v)  EMER - & EREREER

% EmMRH - MR & 3
17 ARE M ARRAARTS o

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

5 Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEER (&)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2019
HZ2019F12 831 ALLER
Television broadcasting
ERER Inter-
Primary Intenet ~ Outdoor Real Other  segment
channels Others  Sub-total media media estate  activities elimination Group
TERE R Nt ERERR  FORR EHE  HtEE SEEHE A%5E
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
n n r n n T T rn rn
Revenue BA
Fxternal sales HONHE 801447 120004 921541 1777598 691,336 49,048 248708 - 3688231
Intersegment sales Notec) 2 EIHE (ke - 325538 32,538 16,635 4532 23,959 10645  (88,309) -
Total revenue 10N 801,447 152,632 954,079 1,794,233 695,868 73,007 259,353 (88,309) 3,688,231
Timing of revenue recognition WARIER
At point in time KERES - 713 73 203980 - - 259 - 316292
Over time REERH 801447 19381 920828 1483618 691,336 457 227109 - 3327467
Revenue from othersource  EAERAINA - - - - - M - - uan
801,447 120,094 921541 1,777598 691,336 49,048 248,708 - 3,688,231
Segment results NERE 17230 (80,909) (63,679) 1,265,042 44,167 (14564)  (141,208) - 1,089,758
Unallocated income (Note.a] ~ RATMA (Hizka) 36,392
Unallocated expenses (Note b) ~ &AT. (HfzEb) (282,668)
Profit before share of #agty/
results of joint ventures/ BEndgE
associates, income tax it
and non-controlling interests  FRIERATER 843,482
Share of profits less losses ~~ E{RAE(RE
of joint ventures atlREE (2,662)
Share of profits less losses B {ABEE AR
of associates atlREE (4124)
Income tax expense FEHEMR (252,468)
Profit for the year FREH 584,228
Non-controling interests SR ER (461,563
Profitattributable to owners ~ AARIEA A
of the Company Rl 122,665

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEFFRIERAR + FELAASITEIE)
5 Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEEFR (&)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2019
HEN9F12A31ALEE
Television broadcasting
ERRE Inter-
Primary Intenet ~ Outdoor Real Other  segment
channels Others  Sub-total media media estate  activities elimination Group

IERE Eft Nt ERERE  FARR BHE  RbRE SREHE A58
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 §000 $000 $000 $000
T Tr T T T Tr T T T

Depreciation e (1,770) (14,154) (25,924) (92,425)  (169,050) (33,649) (31,094) - (392142)
Unallocated depreciation RAME (35,211)
(387353)
Interest income FEHA - 1,074 1,074 20,131 3,866 267 643 - 25,981
Unallocated interestincome ~ AAEFISUA 11,021
37,002
Interest expenses ELEE - (103) (103) (12,035  (26,761) (8535) (4707) - (514
Unallocated interest expenses ~ AARFIERR (12,633)
(64,774)
Reversal of provision for EUSTRERR
impairment of accounts {E]
receivable - - - 36,532 - - - - 36,532
Provision for impairment B RERE
of accounts receivable (3,470) (470) (3940)  (69,440) (6,167) - (36) - (79,583)
47 2019 BEAREE () BRAT 237
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

5 Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEER (&)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2018
HE018F 1231 ALLER
Television broadcasting
EREE Inter
Primary Intemet ~ Qutdoor Real Other  segment
channels Others  Sub-total media media estate  activities  elimination Group
T2 Hth NG EEEEE PR FRE  HUEE HEEHE e}
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
n e r r T S r r T
Revenue BA
Fxternal sales HONHE 1159445 124623 1284068 1690804 823084 68404 196456 - 4062816
Intersegment sales (Note o)~ B (Hizkc) - %799 %79 15208 3876 43926 13635 (112,534 -
Total revenue 10N 1,159,445 160422 1319867 1,706,102 826,960 112,330 210,091 (112,534) 4,062,816
Timing of revenue recognition WARIER
At point in time Al - 48 8 1782 - - 11,433 - 186,263
Qver time EERR 1,169,445 124575 1284020 1,516,022 823,084 3,170 185,023 - 3811319
Revenue from othersource.  EARFAIMA - - - - - 65,234 = = 65,234
1,169,445 124623 1284068 1,690,804 823,084 68,404 196,456 - 4062816
Segment results PERE 319527 (65431) 254096 726798 142,899 36,193 (99,203 - 1,060,783
Unallocated income (Note o]~ RATMA (Hizka) 6,966
Unallocated expenses (Note b) ~ &ARF. (HfzEb) 303,697)
Profit before share of Bhagty/
results of joint ventures/ BENTEE
associates, income tax e
and non-controlling interests R &AL &) 764,062
Share of profits less losses ~~ E{RAE(E
of joint ventures ailREE 34271
Share of profits less losses ~ E{AEEE AR
of associates aflREE 10,632
Income tax expense FEHER (216,768)
Profit for the year ERET 561,343
Non-controlling interests SRR (317553)
Profitattributable to owners ~ AARIEA A
of the Company Ei& 243790
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

5 Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEER (&)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2018
HE018F 1231 ALLER
Television broadcasting
ERER Inter
Primary Intemet ~ Qutdoor Real Other  segment
channels Others  Sub-total media media estate  activities  elimination Group
IEHE Hth NG EEEEE PR FhE  EtEE HEEEE e}
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T S T T T S T T T
Depreciation nE (16,836) (15,269) (32,105) (38413) (31,780) (35,570) (8,382) - (146,250)
Unallocated depreciation RAME (40,129)
(186,379)
Interest income HEBA - 937 937 44,01 3,563 83 3 - 48,968
Unallocated interestincome ~ AARFISMA 12,454
61,422
Interest expenses ELEE - 70) (70 (16210 - [11900) = - (28180
Unallocated interest expenses & ARCHIBE T (9,864)
(38,044
Reversal of provision for EUSTRERR
impairment of accounts BE
receivable - - - 11470 - - - - 11,470
Provision for impairment B RERE
of accounts receivable - - - (38,087) (3,187) - (12.418) - 63,692)
Provision for impairment EY-HAEhE
of amount due from FERERRE
a joint venture - - - (3133) - - - - (3133)
Reversal of provision for El-FBELT
impairment of amount FERERERR
due from an associate - - - 1,199 - - - - 1,199
3§ 2019 BEEIRIZE (I HRAT 239




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5 Revenue and segment information
(Continued)

Notes:

(a) Unallocated income represents exchange gain, interest income,
investment income and other income.

(b)  Unallocated expenses represent primarily:
- corporate staff costs;
- office rental,
- general administrative expenses;
- marketing and advertising expenses related to the Group
as a whole; and
- exchange loss

(c) Sales between segments are carried out based on terms
determined by management with reference to market prices.

Revenue from external customers by country/area, based on
the destination of the customer:

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

5

WARDEER (&)

Bt -

(@)  AOERWAEELKE  FEK
A BREBAREMBA -

b)) KOEHAZEESR:
- NCII= 5% NE
= WAEFS
- —MITHRER
- HAEBERELENTISH
BRELSER &
- I& 5 518

© HDERHEENKRERELETSE
IREETE 2 IGRGETT -

RENREFHRAKRBER HE (Bi%
BEFZBeimE) 2500

2019 2018

2019 F 20184

$'000 $'000

T T

The PRC 2] 3,460,200 3,874,755
Hong Kong BE 150,274 110,428
Others HAh 77,757 77633
3,688,231 4,062,816

Non-current assets, other than financial instruments and
deferred income tax assets, by country/area:

FRBEE (MBTARREMRSHEE
BRON) HREIR BE2FT

2019 2018

2019 & 20184

$'000 $'000

T Tz

The PRC F 3,391,014 2,523,741
Hong Kong B 330,370 617085
Others Hih 110,000 42,596
3,831,384 3,183,422

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Other operating gains, net Hith & & W F 8
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
T 7
Exchange gain/(loss), net PER W (F518) 1,159 (17.906)
Investment income JEWA 14,052 10,458
Fair value gain on financial BAFEEBERCENVIEEE
assets at fair value through KA ERE
profit or loss
Investment in Particle Inc. & Particle Inc. 1,567,715 802,877
Other financial assets HitM B EERAR
and liabilities 83,358 1,148
Provision for impairment of FEWE & IR E R
amounts due from joint
ventures - (3,133)
Reversal of impairment of JiE Uk — B & 1 R BB R (E B ]
amount due from an associate - 1,199
Provision for impairment of E b EMGRIE R E R
other receivables (43,279) -
Impairment of investment in W — B & A R 2 I E R A
an associate (29,884) -
Others, net HAthF58 12,892 5,196
1,606,013 799,839
BREERRIRE (2R) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

7 Profit before income tax

The following items have been (credited)/charged to the profit
before income tax during the year:

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

7  BRATEHANER

THIBRD EARFEE RS HAT
wEAMA GEA) /HE

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
Fi T
Crediting A
Reversal of provision for U BRROR B B
impairment of accounts
receivable (36,532) (11,470)
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BE kREHRE
plant and equipment (1,316) (1,801)
Charging eR
Production costs of B 260 B RERKAR
self-produced programmes 204,597 197568
Commission expenses BeZ 325,747 403,341
Bandwidth costs A 68,630 67274
Provision for impairment of FEUR BR SRR B
accounts receivable 79,583 53,692
Employee benefit expenses EERNER (BREES=ME)
(including Directors’
emoluments) 1,468,535 1,286,214
Operating lease rental in THEEHERS
respect of
— Directors’ quarters -EEFE 2,160 1,872
— Land and buildings - EENTHRET
of third parties 29,835 70,953
— LED panels - LED#TRF 5,625 251,063
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BEKERENEE
plant and equipment 5,098 2,543
Depreciation of property, M - BEREEITE
plant and equipment 178,195 186,379
Depreciation of right-of-use FRAEEENE
assets 209,158 -
Amortisation of purchased FEARTE kB hRERH
programme and film rights 12,188 9,306
Amortisation of lease TR EE RS
premium for land - 5,833
Amortisation of intangible assets & E# 45,430 10,377
Impairment of intangible assets ~ EZEERIE 6,245 10,277
Auditor's remuneration ZE AN &
— Audit services - SRS 15,085 15,663
- Non-audit services - IR 1,127 1,156
Outgoings for investment WEMHE T
properties 3,346 6,001

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

8 Employee benefit expenses

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

8 REEEMNEH

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
T T+t
Wages, salaries and other IE& - e kEAMER
allowances 1,422,932 1,238,784
Unutilised annual leave RAAER 424 589
Pension costs — defined RIS - EREHKETE
contribution plan, net of (FBR#OS W) (Mista)
forfeited contributions (Note a) 22,326 21,756
Share-based compensation VAR 1< SR B F 18
expense 22,853 25,085
1,468,535 1,286,214

47 2019

Pensions — defined contribution plans

The Group operates a number of defined contribution
pension schemes in accordance with the respective
subsidiaries’ local practices and regulations. The Group is
obligated to contribute funding to these plans based on
various percentages of the employees’ salaries or a fixed
sum per employee with reference to their salary level. The
assets of these schemes are generally held in separate
trustee administered funds.

Employees in Hong Kong are provided with a defined
contribution provident fund scheme and the Group is
required to make monthly contribution to the scheme
based on 10% of the employees’ basic salaries. Forfeited
contributions are used to offset the employer’s future
contributions. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the
aggregate amount of the employer’s contributions was
approximately HK$18,615,000 (2018: HK$18,820,000)
and the total amount of forfeited contributions was
approximately HK$1,196,000 (2018: HK$1,418,000).

Since 1 December 2000, the employees in Hong Kong
can elect to join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF Scheme"”). The MPF Scheme was introduced
pursuant to the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation
introduced in 2000. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group
and each of the employees make monthly contributions to
the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income as
defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.

(a)

BIRE - EREFGETE

AEBERIBEM B AR ED
BB MOERRAEZHER
EFRAREFTE - REEAR
BEH LR RR2 R
MRERERREEABEEHE
AZETEIRHEES - ZFF
FMBEE—RAGEABILE
EHNESRA -

EEEESERETHERRARE
©ETE - MASEES AiZE
BEAHFEH10% [MZTE1E
AR TR o R U TR T B R IR
1B E R R FR - EZE 2019
F12ANBLEFE BEEx®
M 4A%E 5 4918,615,00078 T
(20184F : 18,820,000/ JT) °
MW ERBEAEY
1,196,000 T (2018 4 :
1,418,000 7T) °

B 2000412 A1 B#E - F5E
BrEEMASS AR S
Bl ([RELTE]) - ESET
B THARIR R 2000 F A8 45 Y58 I
MRS EGIH L - RIFRTE
¢ 8 AEBERBEEES
AZEEHBRANGYS (E&
B fl AT EAN) mazat
SIVEHIHEER -

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

8 EERNEH (8|

8 Employee benefit expenses (Continued)

(a)

Pensions — defined contribution plans
(Continued)

Both the employer’s and the employees’ contributions
are subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000 from 1 June 2014 onwards for each employee.
For those employees with monthly relevant income less
than HK$7,100, since 1 November 2013, the employees’
contributions are voluntary.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the aggregate
amount of employer’s contributions made by the Group
to the MPF Scheme was approximately HK$2,877,000
(2018: HK$2,638,000) and the forfeited contributions was
HK$20,000 (2018: HK$99,000).

Five highest paid individuals and senior
managements’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019 included two Directors (2018:
two) and three members of senior management (2018:
three). The aggregate emoluments paid/payable to the five
highest paid individuals during the year are as follows:

(a) EARE - ERENGETE
(#8)

E2014F6A1H#E B X
EEMHFHEXEGREES
A YA 30,0008 TTH) LR
FrAMR - 2T AMEKA LD
71008 T A fE & - 52013
FMNHA1BR  ZFEEERAE
FAVE L #HE3K -

HZE2019F12 A31 HILFE -
AEBMRESTEELNE
FHRFRAREE AL 2,877.00078 7T
(20184 : 2,638,000/87T) * #
S8 U4t 3% 420,000 7% 7T (2018
£ :99,000787T) °

(b) AEZEFALESH
BEABZME

NEEEAE F2019612 8318
tFEZREERRFALTEE
MBEESE (2018F : MAB) &
—EASRERAS (20184 :
=%) FREN ENTFRSA
g ATHRMSIT

2019 2018

2019 F 20184

$'000 $'000

T Tz

Salaries e 18,366 18,489
Discretionary bonus BB 8 I TEAT 735 3,195
Housing allowance B E=ERL 5,933 4,588
Pension costs RIRE AR 1,371 1,164
26,405 27436

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

8 Employee benefit expenses (Continued) 8

(b)

47 2019

Five highest paid individuals and senior
managements’ emoluments (Continued)

The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals (2018:
five highest paid individuals) fall within the following

bands:

Emolument band

HEgEE

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

BEEMNER (&)

hEasEETmATESHR
EIRABZBNE (8)
hEHZeH AL (20185 : &
FZEREHAL) SN T
TEE :

Number of individuals

HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000
HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000
HK$9,000,001 — HK$9,500,000
HK$9,500,001 — HK$10,000,000

3,500,001 /& 7T — 4,000,0008 7T
4,000,001 87T — 4,500,000 % 7T
4,500,001 /87T - 5,000,000 % 7T
5,000,001 7T — 5,500,000 /& 7T
9,000,001 /&7T - 9,500,000/8 7T
9,500,001 /&7t — 10,000,000 % 7T

During the year, no emoluments or incentive payments
were paid or payable to the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join the Group or as compensation for
loss of office except as disclosed above (2018: Nil).

AE
2019 2018
2019 & 2018 4F
2 1
1
1
- 1
- 1
1 —
5 5
Br ESUREE N - FANERA

ABEE I AT B
AT & sk SE R #R & - DAE RN
AREE R RESAERBE B
8 (20184 : #E)

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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Income tax expense

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2018: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year.
Taxation on PRC and overseas profits has been calculated on
the estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of
taxation prevailing in the countries/areas in which the Group
operates.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

FresiER

EBANBH I EAFE G ERT S
F LA16.56% (20184 : 16.6%) %t &K
B - B REINEFIBIE TR EA
FEMETERBES - HAE@EE
BAERR @RI R E -

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
5 FiT
Current income tax EHAMSH

— Hong Kong profits tax - BBNIEH - 3,628
- PRC and overseas taxation - PR B HNRIA 34,656 59,987

— Under provision of tax -RBEFETR
in the prior year THIAR 1,687 2,134
Deferred income tax (Note 34) EIEFTEHE (PFIEE34) 216,125 151,019
252,468 216,768

On 20 January 1998, the PRC State Administration of Taxation
granted a Tax Ruling of Business Tax and Foreign Enterprise
Income Tax on certain of the Group's advertising fees collected
from an advertising agent, Shenzhou in the PRC (the “Ruling”).
The Group has dealt with the aforementioned taxes according
to the Ruling in the consolidated financial statements. However,
PRC tax laws and regulations and the interpretations thereof
may change in the future so that the Group would be subject to
PRC taxation on certain income deemed to be sourced in the
PRC other than Hong Kong. The Group will continue to monitor
developments in the PRC tax regime in order to assess the
ongoing applicability and validity of the Ruling.

A deferred tax provision of approximately HK$221,442,000
(2018: HK$149,300,000) has been recorded in the Group's
consolidated income statement during the year ended
31 December 2019. The tax provision is related to the Group's
investment in convertible redeemable preferred shares which
the Group now expects to recover through sale.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

19984 1 208 » BB R B i5
BEGAEEE R ESMNKE S TE
EERHEXEB RINGREDEMS
MBMIBEE ([ZHE]) - AEBEER
BZH TR A MISIRERAEIE Filt
FIE - SAm - FEBEHBCERZRE
REREBARARES  AEAEE
HERE THEARTE (FBRIN
ES R A BN BT IE - K@
f 1B R X rh B A A BE I O B DART (S
ZEEREA KA -

HZE2019F 12 A31HILFE @ EE
T T8 B #5 #49221,442,00078 7T (2018
F 1 149,300,000/ L) BEAFARE
E2HRAEWRSERA - BIEEE T
PN B A AT H2 AR A B2 ST AR 2 3%
& AEEREEHRATEERE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

9 Income tax expense (Continued) 9

The tax on the Group'’s profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate of the
location in which the Company operates as follows:

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

FresiEM (8

RE BB TS B AT A 5T B AT
18 - EIRAAR R TR HY A
KMELRIERNRNEZRIOT

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
TR F
Profit before income tax W PS5t A A 836,696 778,111
Calculated at a taxation rate IRAERZE 16.5% 515 (20184F : 16.5%)
of 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) 138,055 128,388
Income not subject to taxation BERBUWA (27,257) (22,036)
Expenses not deductible for DA AT DR A & A
taxation purposes 27,093 24,479
Tax losses not recognised RERTIAEE 74,675 16,831
Effect of different tax rate in EmERFEREENTE
other countries 76,715 76,086
Effect of tax exemptions and BT BB A AR IR e KR e R R 2
concessions granted to
PRC subsidiaries (33,370) (5,703)
Utilisation of previously B SRR ER IR A
unrecognised tax losses (5,130) (3,411)
Under provision of tax in RBAFERERET
the prior year 1,687 2,134
Income tax expense ST E R 252,468 216,768
F35 2019 BREERRIRE (2R) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

10 Earnings per share

(a)

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year.

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

10 SRER
(@) EHAXK

BREABMNDREARRHE
BABMEENBRAFAND EIT
BB IR OSEE -

2019 2018
2019 2018
$'000 $'000
Fr Tz
Profit attributable to owners ZNA BB AT
of the Company ($'000) (F7T) 122,665 243,790
Weighted average number B 377 @R A J#E F 5 24
of ordinary shares (Fr)
in issue ('000) 4,993,470 4,993,470
Basic earnings per share  SREARZF GB(L)
(Hong Kong cents) 2.46 4.88

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

10 Earnings per share (Continued)

(b)

47 2019

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The Group has dilutive potential ordinary shares
which comprise share options of the Company and a
subsidiary (2018: share options of the Company and a
subsidiary).

A calculation is done to determine the number of the
Company's shares that could have been acquired at fair
value (determined as the average annual market share
price of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary
value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding
share options of the Company. The number of shares
calculated as above is compared with the number of
shares that would have been issued assuming the
exercise of the share options. Where the number of
shares so calculated is smaller than the number of shares
that would have been issued assuming the exercise of all
the outstanding share options, the difference represents
potential dilutive shares and is added to the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue to arrive at
the weighted average number of ordinary shares for
diluted earnings per share. There was no dilutive potential
ordinary shares in existence during 2019 as the share
options of the Company and a subsidiary were anti-
dilutive.

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

10 BRER (&)

(b)

HE

BREERNDERKME #
SEBREEERE LBERT -
BB BITAEINE BRI
EFOHEE - AEEEHE
BETBEE  HEREARAR
— [P 8 2~ =) 0 i R (2018
F:ARAR—FHENERRD
BAHE) -

RQETIRE M ARITEER
RSN REEEEET
FrE UEETERATE (&
ARBBRMHOEFEFLY TS
EimE) BARKRDR KD
HH - Lillst E TSR &
By EBRRZEEREETE
BEEEITHRMDEE L -
izt E MR B E PR
RFTAE M ARTT R B A T
BHESBRITHRMGHE - BlE
=R RBEEER D - 3N
AZEBBITL B INETY
g NERARECEREE
B R LB NE TS - B
2019 F W BT EE BT LR
f% - AARRR KRB R AR
BREAREETE -

2019 2018
2019 20184
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Profit attributable to owners ZAA G| # B AFE(R
of the Company ($'000) w A (F7T) 122,665 243,790
Weighted average number B 21T EBLA
of ordinary shares InETFHE (%)
in issue ('000) 4,993,470 4,993,470
Adjustment for share AR RIEREIED
options of the R (FH)
Company ('000) - _
Weighted average number &A% & 2 F1| 49 3 B A%
of ordinary shares for IREFHE (FR)
diluted earnings per
share ('000) 4,993,470 4,993,470
Diluted earnings per share  FRxESEZE A (G&1l)
(Hong Kong cents) 2.46 4.88

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

11 Dividends 11 KE
The 2018 final dividends paid during the year ended 31 HE2019F 12 A31 BIEFELHH
December 2019 were approximately HK$49,935,000 (1 Hong 2018 4F 7 B A% 5. /& %949,935,000 7%
Kong cent per share). The Board of Directors of the Company T (BB - ARFESE ([E
(“Board”) did not recommend the payment of final dividend to Fe ) TEZRRERNFERBARK
shareholders for the year. B e

12 Purchased programme and film rights, net 12 BAGBREZIREFAR

2019 2018
2019 20184
$'000 $'000
T T
Balance, beginning of year FHEERR 10,935 11,947
Additions NE 21,697 8,645
Amortisation 3] (12,188) (9,308)
Others EAb (268) (351)
Balance, end of year FIRERR 20,176 10,935
Less: Purchased programme B BAGTE RERE
and film rights
— current portion — BPEREL (D (281) (163)
19,895 10,772
13 Lease premium for land 13 TH#HEEEHR
The Group's interests in leasehold land and land use rights N B A E b [+ (i AR AR R
represent prepaid operating lease payments and their net book =IEBEMNEERENT - EREFE
values are analysed as follows: ST :
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 ¢
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Balance, beginning of year FHEERR 198,636 208,619
Transfer to right-of-use asset EREEAEEE (H7E36)

(Note 36) (198,636) -
Amortisation i - (5,833)
Currency translation differences ~ E¥HRE =51 - (4,150)
Balance, end of year FIRAERR - 198,636
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14 Property, plant and equipment, net

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

14 Y% - BERRERHE

Broadcast
Leasehold ~ Furniture  operations Construc-
Freehold improve and  and other Motor LED tionin
land  Building -ments fixtures equipment  vehicles panels Aircraft  progress Total
KA ik iR EEEER
£ ik BR  MEEE RE  HitRE A& LEDERE R EEIR fazt
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T o T T r o T T T T
(Note ) (Noteb)  (Notec)
(ita) (Wakb) (M)
Year ended HZ2019%5128
31December 2019 31 ALEE
Openingnetbook  FHIREFE
amount 11967 516,540 137420 4688 258919 3,636 74,540 33519 4254 1,045,483
Acquisition of YEEHBAR
subsidiaries - - 2,062 - 2,002 160 - - - 4,224
Additions AE - - 6,073 420 71515 1,012 804 - 18,638 104,462
Disposals i3 - - (23) (61) (7708) (49) (3,554) - - (11,395)
Depreciation il - (31430 (25,07) (2298)  (85959)  (2039) (24,093 (7299) - (178195)
Transfers &% - - - - 1,130 - 19,280 - (20410) -
Currency translation & HEEE
differences 6) (3,665) (543) (18) (2,055) (19) (414) - (123) (6,843)
Closing net book ERERFE
amount 1961 481445 119,912 2731 243844 2,701 66,563 26,220 2,359 957736
At 31 December 2019 1R 20195
12318
Cost A 11,961 687970 506,241 30,029 1,058,117 45490 189,322 88,871 2,359 2,620,360
Accumulated ZERAE
depreciation
and impairment - (206525)  (386,329) (27298)  (814273)  (42,789)  (122,759)  (62,651) - (1,662,624)
Net book amount R E 11961 481445 119,912 2731 243844 2,701 66,563 26,220 2,359 957736
3§ 2019 BEEIRIZE (I HRAT 251
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14 Property, plant and equipment, net

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

14 Y%  BERREZRE (&)

(Continued)
Broadcast
Leasehold  Furniture  operations Construc-

Freehold improve and  and other Motor LED tionin

[and Building -ments fixtures  equipment  vehicles panels Aircraft ~ progress Total

KA & ik BASE]

$ETH BF WERE kB HEURE 8 LEDETR R EEIE Eh

$/000 $1000 $1000 $000 $000 $1000 $000 $000 $/000 $1000

v v T S v v S T v v

(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢
(Mizta) (Mp) (Mo
Year ended HZ218% 127
31 December 2018 31BIHER
Openingnetbook  FAIBEZE
amount 12,019 567618 163,455 6,097 185,556 6,118 94,733 40819 3859 1,080274
Acquisition of W&
asubsidiary HEAF
(Note 42) (Aiz42) - - - B 54618 129 - - - MIn
Additions A = - 3197 1,170 106,768 1,047 793 - 18403 131,378
Disposals HE = = (95) (4 (573) (181 658) = = (7442)
Depreciation e = (36,133) (27855) (2522) (81,064 (34200 (28,085) (7300) - (186379)
Transfers &5 - - - - 1,386 - 16,587 - (17973) -
Currency translation & HEZE
differences (52) (14,945) (1282) (78) (1772) (81) (2,905) = (35) (27120)
Closing net book EREREE
amount 11,967 516,540 137420 4688 258919 3,636 74,540 33519 4254 1,045,483
At 31 December 2018 5820185
12R318

Cost A 1967 694,046 499,885 30470 1,027978 45813 232,400 88,871 4,264 2,635,683
Accumulated ZHHERAE
depreciation
and impairment - (177508)  (362465)  (25782)  (769,089) (42177) (167860 (55,352) - (1,590,.200)
Net book amount HEFE 1,97 516540 137420 4688 258919 3,636 4540 33519 4254 1,045,483

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14 Property, plant and equipment, net
(Continued)

Depreciation expense of approximately HK$117354,000 (2018:
HK$116,447,000) has been charged in “Operating expenses’,
and approximately HK$60,841,000 (2018: HK$69,932,000) has
been charged in” Selling, general and administrative expenses”

(a)

47 2019

Included in the net book value as of 31 December 2019 is
an amount of HK$21,985,000 (as at 31 December 2018:
HK$22,684,000) which relates to the Group's entitlement
to use 10,000 square meters in the Shenzhen Building.
As at 31 December 2019, the cost was HK$30,848,000
(as at 31 December 2018: HK$30,848,000) with a net
book value of HK$21,985,000 (as at 31 December 2018:
HK$22,684,000). As at 31 December 2019, the Group was
still in the process of obtaining the title certificate to the
8,500 square metres of the entitled areas through the
payment of land premium and taxes (see Note 36(i)(b)).

As of 31 December 2019, the Group was still in the
process of renewing and obtaining certain licences of
LED panels. The Directors are of the opinion that the
licences will be obtained in the near future and the risk of
noncompliance with laws and regulations is remote.

Included in the net book value as of 31 December 2019 is
an amount of HK$26,220,000 (as at 31 December 2018:
HK$33,519,000) which relates to the aircraft for operation
use.

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

14 Y%  BERREZRE (&)

#r & & F #7117,354,00078 JT (2018
1 116,44700078 7T) EF A&
EBE] AN 460,841,000 T
(20184F : 69,932,000 jt) Jh&t A
[$HE - —MRITEREARINA -

(a)

R 20194 12 A 31 H /Y Bk & /%
BEREASEEEEERFIIE
10,000 75 2K BT 7% I B9 3Kk
%821,985,0007%8 T (742018
12 A31H : 22,684,000/
J0) ° 201912 A31 8 » K
7K 530,848,000 7t (142018
%12 A31H : 30,848,000/
JC) - BREDVF(ER]A 21,985,000
# 9T ( R2018%E 12 A31 8 -
22,684,000/ JT) ° 1A 20194
12A318  AEEBASNH
BRFIE - LAFF & #8,500F
FAAAEBENERE (R
5E36(i)(b)) °

R2019F 12 A31H » &%
DFERF L I EDBRRENE
BT RFNETA] c EER AR
RAAN RIEZHFRIFFA] - M
REGBTEAEERNARTS o

A8126,220,0007 7T ( 1220184
12 A31 8 :33519,000/8 7T) 2
£HE T AR2019512 A31 8
ZERMEFE - AR IEEER
BRI o

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

15 Investment properties 15 REYE

2019 2018

2019 F 2018 4F

$'000 $'000

T T+t

Balance, beginning of year FEXEEER 1,512,304 1,570,414

Acquisition of subsidiaries gy = MGl

(Note 42) (f37E42) 2,697 -
Additions A= 585 =
Fair value (loss)/gain AFE (BE) e (6,847) 7533
Currency translation differences B E =S (18,287) (65,643)
Balance, end of year FIR SRR 1,490,452 1,512,304
(a) Fair value measurement of investment (a) WREVEHATEE

properties

The Group applied the fair value model for the accounting
of investment properties. Independent valuations of the
investment properties were performed by the valuers,
Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited and Lambert
Smith Hampton, to determine the fair value of the
properties as at 31 December 2019 (2018: Same). Fair
value loss of approximately HK$6,847000 (2018: gain of
HK$7533,000) is included in the “Other gains, net” in the
consolidated income statement.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

AEBRAAFEEAZEE
BEYMEANR - BEMERGE
RE ST EETEERBRA
7] X Lambert Smith Hampton
EITBYEE UEBTEZRS
¥ % 20194128318
AN F{E (20185 : R > &
6,8470007% 7T (20184 : Y %
7533,000% L) MA F(EEE
Bt AGRAKRERPH[HM
Wezs 7 FEE ] o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (B3RS0 - SBLUBTTHIE)
15 Investment properties (Continued) 15 BREYE (&)
(a) Fair value measurement of investment (a) "EYWENAFET=Z
properties (Continued) (8&)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (i) AFEER
Fair value Fair value

measurements measurements
at 31 December at 31 December

2019 using 2018 using
significant significant
unobservable unobservable
inputs (Level 3) inputs (Level 3)
EREE {5 F 40
BRENTE BEnEE
LIPN ¢ B A\ BR
FTEN FTER
2019 F 2018 4F
1283188 12 A31 BAY
Description AFE NE
it (B34R) (EB34)
$'000 $'000
FT ¥
Recurring fair value  &EMAFE =
measurements
Investment properties $&& 4%
— Phoenix — BEBEEEA L (RE)
International
Media Centre
(The PRC) 1,471,932 1,496,921
- Commercial (UK) ~ — B2 (3E) 15,362 15,383
- Others (the PRC) ~ — Efth () 3,158 -
(ii) Valuation processes of the Group (i) FKENGERRF
The Group's investment properties were valued REENREYEHE L
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 by independent BEALERGHERTE 2019
professionally qualified valuers who hold a F %2018 12 A31 H A
recognised relevant professional qualification and B - I ER A AERER
have experience in the locations and segments of AIEEER - WEHAHE
the investment properties valued. For all investment HIIZ B ) A BE R B 15
properties, their current use equates to the highest HEKE - SIFTEIREYD
and best use. ¥ HARMERASRE
e ML ©
F35 2019 BE@ERRE (ER) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15 Investment properties (Continued)

(@) Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Valuation processes of the Group (Continued)

The Finance Department, headed by CFO, reviews
the valuations performed by the independent valuers
for financial reporting purposes. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held between
the Finance Department and valuers at least once
every six months, in line with the Group’s interim
and annual reporting dates.

At each financial year end, the Finance Department:

° Verifies all major inputs to the independent
valuation reports;

o Assess property valuations movements when
compared to the prior year valuation reports;
and

° Holds discussions with the independent
valuers.

Valuation techniques

For the investment property in UK with a carrying
amount of HK$15,362,000 (2018: HK$15,383,000),
the valuation of the investment property held directly
by the Group is made on the basis of the “Market
Value” adopted by The Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (“RICS"). It is performed in accordance
with the RICS Valuation Standards on Properties
published by RICS. The valuation is reviewed at least
once every six months by a qualified valuer using
income capitalisation approach.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

15 REWE (|)
(a) WEMENAFETE

(#8)

(ii)

(iii)

REFHNGERF ()

i Y B4R B R G RO B 75 7
WES=§ 2 WVARY=LIY )
B3RE B P {ER fh (B
TR - REEAAKE
hEIFIFEERE RS @
BEPIRAEM R D ER

BEARE—R  &wfhE

TR AAERRAER o

EEEMBRFEREFER

BEPIE

s REHBYMER
T EERE A
g

e FHEMEMESRL
FEMERELR
THES &

o EBYVIhERETT
BE

fhE R

RUREBREEER
15,362,000/ £ (2018
£:15,383,000/87T) Z
WEMEMS @ A5EEE
BEREZIREMEZGE
TRIE B 2 REFFAI2
e ([ EEERSTA
EMEg ) FrRmz™
Bl £% BREESREF
PR SR ER S M 2 HE
EXREFFISMEeyE
HEERETT - (SERE
B ERE R AE R
xR DN E AR —
R e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15 Investment properties (Continued)

(a)

F# 2019

Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

(iii)

Valuation techniques (Continued)

Income capitalisation approach is based upon
estimates of future results and a set of assumptions
specific to the property to reflect its tenancy and
cash flow profile. The fair value of the investment
property reflects, among other things, rental income
from current leases and assumptions about rental
income from future leases in light of current market
conditions including open market rents, appropriate
capitalisation rate and reversionary income potential.

In addition, for the investment property in the
PRC, which represents gross floor area of Phoenix
International Media Centre held for rental income,
has a carrying value of HK$1,471,932,000 (as at 31
December 2018: HK$1,496,921,000). The fair value
of this investment property is determined using the
information from the valuation performed by external
professional valuer using the direct comparison
method. However, given the heterogeneous nature
of this property, appropriate adjustments are made
to allow for any qualitative differences that may
affect the price likely to be achieved.

There were no changes in valuation techniques
during the year.

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

15 REWE (|)

(a) WEMENAFETE
(#&)

(iii)

fhERM (F)

WABREETIRIBARK
ES LRI VEAEEYE ke
B FE AR RBR ELFH
HRREREMMN ° %
BREMEZRAFER
B (EHPBE) RERE
HEZHS WA AR AR
ERTR (BEARTS
He  ERZEMEER

W ABREE 2 B ) R E
RATEE 2B RAE

BEAN - TR B 2 3B )
¥ (RERBHEBAS KA
Fr #5879 Bl 2 B B 438 4
FOORELARE) MERE
& A1,471,932,00078 JT
(R2018% 12 A31 8 :
1,496,921,0003 7T ) °
IR EMEN AT ENE
IR - RINPEEME
Bl A B 32 L EOA (R RO 1S
EFTIRERER - A -
ERILIBME 2 S
g BRER AR AR
ERERNEREEE
i R o

AEEIWEEERNE
) o

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15 Investment properties (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

15 REWE (|)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment (a) WEYWENAFET=E
properties (Continued) (&)
(iv) Information about fair value measurements (iv)] ERFERELIBENTE
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) WABENAFERE
(B3} MER
Relationship
Fair value at Valuation Unobservable of unobservable
Description 31 Dec 2019 technique(s) inputs  inputs to fair value
ELBREN
R2019512 8 BEEEN BAYBR
it 31ANATE fER BWARE AFENEE
($'000)
()

Phoenix International 1,471,932 Direct comparison Adjusted average The higher the
Media Centre EZIE price of HK$33,699 adjusted average
-The PRC per square metre price per square

EEERR EER.L - TR metre, the higher

BRABEAA the fair value

BEI9AET BT HROEHE

THERER

ATEES

Commercial - UK 15,362 Income capitalisation Estimated rental The higher the
[EEE approach  value of HK$4,049 rental value,
WABRLE per annum the higher

per square metre the fair value

At RER HEES

SEIKEE AFESS

4,0497%7T

Reversionary yield The higher the

of 7% reversionary yield,

NG the lower the

WEET% fair value

WABE 2 izs

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

BE - ATEYE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

15 REWE (|)

15 Investment properties (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment (a) "EYWENAFET=Z
properties (Continued) (&)

(iv) Information about fair value measurements (iv) FREFERELEENEE
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) WMAHBNAFETNE
(Continued) (%34 MER (&)

Relationship

Fair value at Valuation Unobservable of unobservable

Description 31 Dec 2018 techniquel(s) inputs inputs to fair value

ELBEN

R2018512 A BEERD B

fan SIAMATE EAEEST BARE ATEMER
($'000)
()

Phoenix International 1,496,921 Direct comparison Adjusted average The higher the

Media Centre
-The PRC
BB EER L - A E

Commercial - UK

EERE:

47 2019

BEUE

15,383 Income capitalisation
approach

WAERA

price of HK$34,271
per square metre
R
BRABEAA
34271 BT

Estimated rental
value of HK$4,053
per annum

per square metre
fhERER
BYRAREE
4,063 87T

Reversionary yield
of 7%

WA
WeERBT%

adjusted average
price per square

metre, the higher
the fair value

ST KSR
FHERAE -
ATERE

The higher the
rental value,

the higher

the fair value
MHEES
ATEES

The higher the
reversionary yield,
the lower the

fair value
WA 2 Wz
HE - ATERE

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15 Investment properties (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

(v) Quantitative sensitivity analysis

The major sources of estimation uncertainty of
investment properties are mainly contributed by
the Phoenix International Media Centre and the
quantitative sensitivity analysis is shown as below:

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

15

REWE ()
@) RAMEHATES B
()

(v) EEHBREDINF

BREWFE AT EEL
IEHRRAEIERARE
B L O E BHUR
EDWEIIEAT

Adjusted average
price per

square metre

5% increase

or decrease
BYRFKZ
RARTIGER
=R 4 5%
$'000

T

At 31 December 2019 }A2019512 A31H
At 31 December 2018 72018412 A 31 H

(b) Deferred tax

The Group's investment properties in the PRC are held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties through use. The Group has
measured the deferred tax relating to the temporary
differences of these investment properties using the
tax rates and the tax bases that are consistent with
the expected manner of recovery of these investment

properties (Note 34).

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

73,596
74,846

(b) IEIEFRIR

AEERTPENREYRER
BE-EBERAFE - MxiR
A2 BMREBERMBER
BEMEFEANBRINLH
Mzt - AEEFERLFRE
VIR E R Z A AR
I - PR AR R AR
BHRE N EREMEN TR
— 2 (MiE34) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)
16 Intangible assets 16 EEEE
Contractual
customer Club
Goodwill Licenses relationship debentures Software Total
BHEF
HE e B BfiES B @t
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr T T T T T
Year ended BZ2019%12A318
31 December 2019 J1:355
Opening net book amount  FANEMEFE 120,043 12,630 - 2,065 55,733 190,471
Addition NE - 30,261 - - 56,214 86,475
Acquisition of subsidiaries  WEEHBA] 14,429 - - - - 14,429
Amortisation B - (10,775) - - (34,655) (45,430)
Impairment E - - - - (6,245) (6,245)
Currency translation ERBEEE
differences 519 212 - - (854) (63)
Closing net book amount ~ FAEREFE 134,991 32,388 - 2,065 70,193 239,637

At 31 December 2019 R2019%12 8318

Cost KR 134,991 69,420 1,924 2,065 193,243 401,643
Accumulated amortization 23t & A{E

and impairment - (37,032) (1,924) - (123,050) (162,006)
Net book amount REFE 134,991 32,388 - 2,065 70,193 239,637
Year ended HZ2018%12A31H

31 December 2018 LEE
Opening net book amount  F¥IBREF (& 8,733 14,060 - 2,085 2,102 26,960
Addition AE - 18,081 - - - 18,081
Acquisition of a subsidiary  WE—RHHB A

(Note 42) GEZY) 111,310 - - - 55,368 166,678
Amortisation & - (8,645) - - (1,732) (10,377)
Impairment e - (10,277) - - - (10,277)
Currency translation SHBEER

differences - (589) = = (5) (594)
Closing net book amount ~ FREEF(E 120,043 12,630 - 2,065 55,733 190,471

At 31 December 2018 R2018%12A318

Cost WA 120,043 39,309 1,924 2,065 139,445 302,786
Accumulated amortisation 2zt RAlfE
and impairment - (26,679) (1,924) = (83,712) (112,315)
Net book amount EEFE 120,043 12,630 - 2,065 h5,733 190,471
3 2019 BEAARIEE (2I%) BRAF 261




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

16 Intangible assets (Continued) 16 EE&EE (&)
Amortisation of approximately HK$45,215,000 (2018:
HK$8,645,000) is included in “Operating expenses’ HK$215,000
(2018: HK$1,732,000) is included in “Selling, general and
administrative expenses” during the year.

R #745,215,000/8 7T (20184 :
86450007 7T) 2 B AT A K &
B Al M #9215000/% 7T (20184 :
1,732,00087T) 2 #ESERT A [3HE - —
BRATERER ] -

ERBEFERZFN 20195 12 A 31
AvAERAEETRESRN  £2
BEBEREERE  RRIERER
IEFHERKAE » DRIA15.4% &
45% ~ 3% N 17% ° T7B{E LR E
& - BURERAMES - IRERES
ARERBLE D EERNERE
ELBN CREELEN) - AlkE$
BIREBEFEREETE - FALERE
RRERE (20184F : £) o

An impairment review of the carrying amount of goodwill at
31 December 2019 was performed based on key assumptions
including revenue growth rate, terminal growth rate and
weighted average cost of capital, which were 15.4% to 45%, 3%
and 17% respectively. No impairment provision is required. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired has been
allocated to individual cash-generating units (CGUs) identified
according to operating segment. The recoverable amount is
based on a value in use calculation. There was no impairment
charge recognised during the year (2018: Nil).

REEE THHKRENE QR EHIER
BRUFAIENTE  AEAKLEH
7% BRESBEEERIEE
A] R R AB AT RT AT A o

Certain of the Group's new media subsidiaries are in the
process of applying for certain licenses for the operation of
their businesses, including internet audio-visual program
transmission license and internet news license.

17 Interests in joint ventures 17 REELENER
2019 2018
2019 2018
$'000 $'000
T Fit
Unlisted investments, net JEEMREFEE 38,407 56,723

The Group's investments in joint ventures are analysed as follows:

REBREELENRENTNAT

2019 2018

2019 F 2018 4F

$'000 $'000

Fx T

Unlisted investments, at cost FEETIRE + AR 102,655 87979

Capital contribution LA 4,000 14,676

A joint venture becoming FREERFEKR

a subsidiary during the year NG (19,412) =

Provision for impairment B S (4,326) (4,326)
Share of profits less losses BIEa g niRERE

of joint ventures (43,405) (40,743)

Currency translation differences  E¥MEZE (1,105) (863)

Unlisted investments, net FEETIRE TR 38,407 56,723

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

17 Interests in joint ventures (Continued)

Details of the joint ventures which are accounted for by the
equity method of accounting as at 31 December 2019 were as

17 REELENER (F)

M 2019F 12 A 31 B AR EHEA
BRAMAEEMNFBOT ¢

follows:
Percentage of Issued and fully
Place and date of Place of equity interest paid share capital/
Name incorporation operation Principal activity held by the Group registered capital
REBREN BRIRAR
28 AEMER Y 2R B & EENY TEXE RAESE AL A/ ERER
Beijing Simulcast Communication The PRC, 7 January 2005 The PRC Advertising business 45% RMB30,000,000
Co. Ltd. * HE - 200561878 HE  inradio broadcasting, AK%30,000,0007C
IR EEERERAR and media marketing
industry in the PRC
PEEAERES
EBRERERE
AT eSS EEER AT The PRC, 15 December 2010 The PRC Radio Broadcasting 50% RMB10,000,000
MEl - 20105128158 e in the PRC AR#10,000,0007T
PEERRRER
Huabao Phoenix Beijing Cultural The PRC, 2 September 2013 The PRC  Provision of promotional 65% RMB2,000,000
Communication Co., Ltd.* R - 2013F9A 2R e related services AE%2,000,0007C
REEBEUERERAA RAUEEARRRY
Phoenix Culture Property Hong Kong, 19 June 2017 The PRC Cultural promotion 40% HK$10,000,000
Investment Management Limited &5 + 20176 A 198 i YR 10,000,000/
BEXLEXREERARAR
Phoenix FM Limited Cayman Islands, Cayman Islands Internet media 54.49% US$560
29 August 2013 HEHS GEEReE 5607
FEHE
201348 A29A
Phoenix FM (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, 24 October 2013 Hong Kong Internet media 54.49% HK$1
Company Limited B 2013F10A24H B GEaReE 13871
BEEH (B%) FRAR
Phoenix FM (Beijing) Information The PRC, 24 January 2014 The PRC Internet media 54.49% US$1,700,000
Technology Co. Ltd. * HE 20141 F 248 e GEEE 1,700,000% T

BEZE OtR) FERNERAR]

* For identification purpose only

47 2019

* o EHEP

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

17 Interests in joint ventures (Continued) 17 REELENER (B)
Percentage of Issued and fully
Place and date of Place of equity interest paid share capital/
Name incorporation operation Principal activity held by the Group registered capital
FEEEEN BRTREAR
£ MBI R A EEHE TEEH RAEZAAL RE/HREL
Beijing Fengming Jiutian Network The PRC, 28 February 2014~ The PRC Internet media 54.49% RMB1,000,000
Technology Co. Ltd. * W 201428288 HE AR AK#1,000,0007C
EREBARBERIERAR
Shenzhen Fenghuang Jingcai The PRC, 1 April 2014 The PRC Internet media 1719% RMB71,428 571
Network Technology Co. Ltd. * HE 20144 A1 i GEHEER ARET1428571 T
AT EB R AR AR
EREEXHAB LR The PRC, 30 October 2012 The PRC Education 36% RMB10,000,000
AR27 (formerly known as/ wE - 2012610A30 7 i B AR%10,000,0007T
ABENERBE B
ERRMARRR)
ERERBENEERERAR The PRC, 27 July 2016 ThePRC  Technical consulting 30% RMB1,000,000
RE 20167 A 27 A e EE ARE1,000,0007T
YRR DB EFERERAR The PRC, 9 October 2016 The PRC Cultural promotion 40% RMB60,000,000
HEl - 201610 A9A HE MR AK%60,000,0007C
International Chinese Medicine Hong Kong, 11 January 2017  Hong Kong Cultural promotion 50% HK$10,000
Cultural Festival Company Limited &% + 20171 A 11 B i XLt 10,0007t
HRREE T HERAR
ERMECU R RERAR The PRC, 10 January 2017~ ThePRC ~ Tourism and cultural 40% RMB100,000,000
HE 20171108 i development AR %100,000,0007C
RERXEE
ERERLEEARAR The PRC, 26 September 2017 The PRC  Programme production 65% RMB10,000,000
BB 201749268 e RS AR%10,000,0007T
BRERERMERLR The PRC, 31 August 2017 The PRC Big Data 10% RMB5,555,560
RE 201748 A31 R Gl A8 AR¥5,555,560 70
Phoenix Culture Property Investment  Hong Kong, 19 June 2017 Hong Kong Investment 40% HK$4,000,000
Management Limited B 201756 H198 B management 4,000,00087C
BEX{ EEREAERERAA RAEE

* For identification purpose only

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

* o EHEP
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

17 Interests in joint ventures (Continued)

(a)

47 2019

17

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

REELENER (F)

Aggregate information of joint venture that are individually (@ (ERIYIIEENEGEDEMNE
immaterial FTE R
The Group has interests in a number of individually REBRZRENUEZRSEEA
immaterial joint ventures that are accounted for using the RmER T EEZNEERE
equity method. PEARER ©
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
T T+t
The Group's share of profits N5 [B# {55 el &5 18 K
less losses and total EHEKELRTE
comprehensive income (2,662) 3,427
Aggregate carrying amount AEERILES L 7S
of the Group's interests in WA THEREE
these joint ventures 38,407 56,723
As at 31 December 2019, there are no commitments and (b) 201912 A318 @ AEE

contingent liabilities relating to the Group's interests in
joint ventures (2018: Nil).

EEENSETENERE RN
EfAE KB A& (20184 :
) o

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18

Investments in associates

The Group's investments in associates are analysed as follows:

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

18 REEQTRNKRE

REBERBERRMRESTAT

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
Fr T+t
Unlisted investments, at cost FEETIRE - BECR 133,425 128,454
Capital contribution HE 3,460 4,971
Capital return BEARE (2,472) =
Impairment of investment in R —EE & A R IR B R (A (29,884) =
an associate
An associate becoming a FREE R EIK A B AR
subsidiary during the year (9,839) -
Share of profits less losses B (GBS N R A BUE 18
of associates (41,974) (37.850)
Currency translation differences & E =58 (6,889) (5,841)
Unlisted investments, net FEETIREFRE 45,827 89,734

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)
18 Investments in associates (Continued) 18 REtENRINIRE (&)
Details of the principal associates which are accounted for by R2019F 12 31 B EZH & QA
the equity method of accounting as at 31 December 2019 are (AEZEAEAR) FBT ¢
as follows:
Percentage Issued and fully
of equity paid share
Place and date of Place of Principal interest held capital/
Name incorporation operation activity by the Group registered capital
AEEEEN ERITRBRE
Z8 AR L B K B R EE Y TEEE  RAEZEAL BA&/ERER
SinoPac Venture Capital Corp. Taiwan, Taiwan Cultural 30% NTD20,000,000
I BIR ER N AR AR 11 September 2013 =) development 20,000,000 %7 &
B)& 20135941 A X{HEE
EABR (R HERRERAR  The PRC, The PRC Education 30% RMB6,000,000
2 August 2012 H ¥E AK#6,000,0007

HE - 201258 A28

Sky Fame Business Limited British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Investment 25% usSD100
REEFERAA 8 August 2016 BE holding 100%7T
EEBRERES REERR
2016F8 A8 H
Fengxin Technology (Haikou) The PRC, The PRC Provision of 8.54% RMB10,653,000
Group Company Limited* 22 August 2014 i financing AR 10,653,0007T
BERE (80) REER AR FE 2014458 422 platforms
(formerly know as/ Fiif& RERE

BerE (80) REERAFR
It REREEvEERMERAR)
("Fengxin Technology”)
(TBIETRHL ) (Note c) (P c)

Sky Fame Co. Ltd.* Taiwan, Taiwan Programme 25% NTD500,000
REBRAA 11 May 2017 ) production 500,000 & ¥
5% 2017581 A HIEES(S
BEBE(LR)HAERKEARAR  The PRC, The PRC Education 40% RMB10,000,000
6 May 2016 F technology AR 10,000,000 7T
FE - 20164576 H AR
* For identification purpose only * (EHHF)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Investments in associates (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

18 RBERRANRE (&)

Percentage Issued and fully
of equity paid share
Place and date of Place of Principal interest held capital/
Name incorporation operation activity by the Group registered capital
AEEREN ERITRBRE
£ AR L B K B R EENY IEEH  RAERASL R/ EMER
IR BE R EEER AR The PRC, The PRC Cultural 35% RMB146,153.85
(formerly know as/ i 29 December 2016 F development AR 146,153.85 ¢
EMBEERULEEBRAR)  FE - 2016F12A29A MR
RYFERRBRAR The PRC, The PRC Game 19.29% RMB10,418,750
8 March 2017 i development AE#10,418,750 7T
FE 2017453 A8H BRI
B ERZEE P ER AR The PRC, The PRC Technical 21.80% RMB5,000,000
4 December 2018 HE consultation AR 5,000,0007%
FE - 20185 12 A4 A )
IRy EEREERHER AR The PRC, The PRC Cultural 19.9% RMB500,000
22 June 2017 HE development AR 500,0007T
FE - 201746 A 228 XA E
BREAE R R E L AR AR The PRC, The PRC Digital Media 15.7% RMB500,000
30 October 2017 3 YIEHE AER500,000 7T

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

FE - 20174108308
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

18 Investments in associates (Continued) 18 REtERNTINRE (&)
Note: FisE
(a)  Aggregate information of associates that are individually @ ERNCEEEMNBEARNETE
immaterial #
The Group has interests in a number of individually immaterial REBREH AR G AR
associates that are accounted for using the equity method. BRI EEREE AR P HEEE
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
Fx Tt
The Group's share of AN R R e 1R
profits less losses and KEER A5
total comprehensive income (4,124) 10,632
Aggregate carrying amount NS BRI EBE A )
of the Group's interests 2w (BEEE)
(including goodwill) VA FTRREE
in these associates 45,827 89,734
(o)  As at 31 December 2019, there are no commitments and () HR2019F 128318 "EFEW &
contingent liabilities relating to the Group's interests in associates EAE PR & A Bl KR 2 A BE A (E (A
(2018: Nil). FERSEEE (20184 : &) »
F35 2019 BREERRIRE (2R) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18

Investments in associates (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(c)

The Group held equity interest in Fengxin Technology amounting
to RMB1,000,000 (approximately HK$1,212,000) as at 31
December 2015. On 20 May 2016, Beijing Huibo Advertisement
Media Limited Company (At FUEREEEEEABRAF]) (“Huibo”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Mr. He
Xin, Mr. Zhang Zhen (together “Major Shareholders”) and
Fengxin Technology entered into an investment agreement
("Agreement”), pursuant to which Huibo has conditionally agreed
to make a capital contribution of RMB38,136,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$45,607,000) to subscribe for an additional
of approximately 1.25% equity interest in the enlarged capital
of Fengxin Technology. At the same time, other investors also
agreed to subscribe an aggregate of approximately 4.88%
equity interest in Fengxin Technology for RMB165,000,000
(approximately HK$197.324,000).

Under the Agreement, Huibo and other investors were granted
both call options and put options (“Options”) with the same
exercise terms. The call option enables the holder to further
acquire a maximum of 8.75% additional equity interest in Fengxin
Technology at RMB1 per share from the Major Shareholders in
the event that Fengxin Technology cannot achieve the expected
transaction amounts or revenues for the years ending 31
December 2016 and 2017 The put option grants the holder
the right to request Fengxin Technology to repurchase those
equity interest acquired by Huibo on or after the date of the
Agreement for a consideration equivalent to the aggregate of
the initial investment costs of the relevant equity interest and
the return of investment based on an annual rate of return of
10% should Fengxin Technology fail to list, or decide not to list,
on a recognised stock exchange in or outside the PRC before 31
December 2020.

The aforesaid capital increase was completed during the
year ended 31 December 2016 and the Group indirectly held
approximately 8.54% effective equity interest in Fengxin
Technology. The directors of the Company considered that the
Group now has significant influence over Fengxin Technology
through its representative on the board of directors of Fengxin
Technology, Fengxin Technology’s reliance on the branding of
Phoenix, and the relationship of the controlling shareholder of
Fengxin Technology with the Group. The total investment costs in
Fengxin Technology have been separated into (i) “investments in
associates” which are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting; and (i) “financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss” for the Options (Note 25 Option for long-term investment).

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

(BRI IR AR

C REAETTIIE)

18 REtEQTINKRE (&)

Wi

(c)

(&)

R2015F 12 A31H  AEEHEE
A R 1,000,000 7T (471,212,000
WIT) Z BB R E o 722016
F5H208 kR EFESSE
BRAR ([ERE] HAEKRARZ
—HEE2ENBAR) BESL
A CRESRE (HBATKKE]D
REF BT IRE BE ((ZH
#ZD - Bt ERAREHRE D
& AR #38,136,0007T (FHERL
45,607,000 7)) bARR B BUE BHE
KRR BN 2 FEINY 1.25% BRHE o
R EMIREEITRREIA
A R #165,000,000 7T (H8E R4
197.324,000770) REBEFEIEA
H494.88% e o

BEZ W% EREEEMEEER
BP0 SR B I SRUM B ([ HB
1) TEIESAER - IRIERE
o WEBFERAREEIERE
2016 F 2017 F 12 A3 BILEE
2R GESEIMA  HHEAR
HEAFRARE 1 TR ARERE—
FUERFEHR 2 5% % 8.75% FIN
AR o RIERLEARE - WE BT
BOREEN 20204 12 A 31 HATES
B3R NSRRI BEHR BT E
MERETELT « BB ABRE
R BLFT R B BUE R 5% ek B
BTk 2 RIS 2 s S AR - B
ERARARE 2 R IR E KA RIR
BEEHREE10% 2 HERFHHE
il

it EB R 2016 F 12 A31 8 1E
FEFATHKMAEBEEREE
% 48.54% 2 BERIRIE - AR
AEZRAREEEAEREFE
REZTgIRE  BHEEREEER
JBL 7 &R hE DA R JB 3o sk s e A A 2R £
NER 2 BEMBDHRFBIRE
EAFEN  c RBFBI R ZBIRE
KAE &l &) [ R EEE QB8R
Bl DiRERGFHAAR  Ki)
BEREE S A IZATESBES
RIS EE | (k25 REIIRE
HEIZRE) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries

(a)

47 2019

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 BT

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) M20194F12 A31 B & = E K
December 2019: BARIFEAT
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
SR IBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER BERY TERE  RAEZESN ZRER
Phoenix Satellite Television Hong Kong, limited Hong Kong Provision of 100% HK$20
Company Limited liability company &%  management and 2057
BERERERAR % BRRAAR related services
RIEERR
BRRH
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Satellite 100% US$1
(Chinese Channel) Limited limited liability company Y television 1%
BEERRXAERAR RBRIES broadcasting
BREFLH HEERER
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Satellite 100% Us$1
(Movies) Limited limited liability company B television 1%
BEEREYAERAR RBRIES broadcasting
BREFLH BEERER
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, British Virgin -~ Trademark holding 100% US$1
Trademark Limited limited liability company Islands HERE (S
BEERERARAR EERARE RERAEHS
ARELAA
Phoenix Chinese News & The United Kingdom, The United Satellite 70% £9,831,424
Entertainment Limited limited liability company Kingdom television 9,831,424 545
5B BREMLAR it broadcasting
BRERES
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, British Virgin Investment 54.49% US$1
Information Limited limited liability company Islands holding (E
BEEHARAR EERARE RERAEHS RERR
BRELAA
5 For identification purpose only * Era5

BEFREE (25 BRAR 271
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) M20194F12 A31 B & = E K
December 2019: (Continued) BRARIFENT « (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
SR IBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EEHY TERE  RAEZESN ZRER
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, British Virgin Investment 100% US$1
(B.V.) Holding Limited limited liability company Islands holding (E
(Note a () EERARE RERAEHS RERR
EEEREEERAR BRELARA
(HisEal)
Hong Kong Phoenix Weekly Hong Kong, Hong Kong Publishing and 77% HK$100
Magazine Limited limited liability company Y distribution of 100787C
RAEBRERBRAR % BRRAAT periodicals
iR RE TR
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Satellite 100% Us$1
(InfoNews) Limited limited liability company B4 television 1%
BEERERAERAR RBRIES broadcasting
BREFLH BEERER
Phoenix Film and Television The PRC, The PRC  Ancillary services 60% HK$10,000,000
(Shenzhen) Company Limited* limited liability company A for programme 10,000,0007C
BEZA (R BRAR T BRERAT production
B BUFRLERRTS
Phoenix Satellite Television (U.S.), Inc.  United States, The United Provision of 100% US$1
limited liability company States of  management and 1%
X8 ARRFAR America promotional
ZB  related services
RILERR
HEEARBIRRTS
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Taiwan Programme 100% US$1
(Taiwan) Limited limited liability company ag production 1%
BREERAERAR * EERARS HiEESE
ARELAA
5 For identification purpose only * Era5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

47 2019

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2019: (Continued)

n _\éﬂjﬁiﬁ% IZ{E'.EI
(BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)
19 KMIEAT (&)

(@) M2019%F 128318 EEM
BRRFBOT : (8)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
SR IBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EEHY TERE  RAEZESN ZRER
Hong Kong Phoenix Satellite Hong Kong, Hong Kong [nvestment 100% HK$2
Television Limited limited liability company 5 holding 28T
EAEEGERERAR 4 BREEAR RERR
Fenghuang On-line (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.49% US$43,850,000
Information Technology limited liability company HE consulting 43,850,000 7T
Company Limited * T BRERAT Rl
BEER (LR) ERRMARAR
Hong Kong Phoenix Books Culture  Hong Kong, The PRC Publication 100% HK$1
Publishing Company Limited limited liability company i i ARENR! 187
ERBEERHRERAE 4 BREEAR
Phoenix Metropolis Media Hong Kong, The PRC Outdoor 100% HK$400
Holdings Limited limited liability company i media business 400787T
EEATEEERERAT 4 BREEAR PoMEERER
Phoenix New Media Limited Cayman lslands, The PRC Investment 54.49% US$2,659,353
BEFEEERAR limited liability company HE holding (Class A
HEHs  GREMLA REER Ordinary shares)
US$3,173,254
(Class B
Ordinary shares)
2,659,353 % T
(AFLER)
3,173,264
(BELAER)
Phoenix Pictures Limited Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
BEZRAEBRAT] limited liability company e holding 18
4 BREEAR RERR

* For identification purpose only

* o EREE
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) M20194F12 A31 B & = E K
December 2019: (Continued) BRARIFENT « (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/

Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital

SR IBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER BERY TERE  RAEZESN ZRER

Phoenix Centre (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Hong Kong Property holding 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company EiC S 187

BEHL (BE) BRAT % BRRAAR

Green Lagoon Investments Limited  British Virgin Islands, The PRC Property holding 100% US$1

EHRAERAR limited liability company HE mERE (37

EBRUES BREERR

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMB154,000,000
Technology Company Limited* limited liability company BB media business AR 154,000,000 7
(Note c) HE - ARELAR POMEERER

EEATEENRRAERAR
(MfZc)

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMB22,072,992
(Shanghai) Company Limited * limited liability company i media business ARE22,072,992 7T
(Note ¢) HE - ARELAR POMERERT

EEERAEE (L8) ARAR
(Mftc)

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMB8,857320
(Hangzhou) Company Limited * limited liability company BB media business AR™8857320 T
(Note c) HE - ARELAA POMEERER

BEERBHEE (M) BRAR
(MfZc)

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMB35,000,000
(Shenzhen) Company Limited* limited liability company B media business ARE35,000,0007C
(Note c) HE - ARELAA POMEERER

BE#HES (M) BRAR
(Hf&Ece)

* For identification purpose only

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

* o EREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 BT (&)

(@) M2019%F 128318 EEM
BRRFBOT : (8)

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2019: (Continued)

47 2019

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/

Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital

SR IBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EEHY TERE  RAEZESN ZRER

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMB3,000,000
(Guangzhou) Company Limited * limited liability company HE media business ARE3,000,0007C
(Note c) HE - ARELAA POMERER

EER#mEE (BM) BRAF
(MfZc)

Jiangsu Phoenix Metropolis Media ~ The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMB15,000,000
Company Limited * (Note c) limited liability company HE media business AR 15,000,0007C

THEESTEEERAR HE - AREAAA POMEERER
(MizEc)

Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 45.54% RMBS8,795,328
(Sichuan) Company Limited * limited liability company i media business AR 879532870
(Note c) HE - AREAAR PoMEERER

EERHmEE (W) BRAF
(MfZc)

Phoenix Oriental (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Property holding 70% RMB300,000,000
Properties Company Limited * limited liability company mE VeSS AR%300,000,0007T
(Note d HE - BREFAR

BEFA (kR) EXBRAR
(Htizd)

PNACC Television (Canada) Inc. Canada, Vancouver, Satellite 100% CAD100

limited liability company British television 1007
MeX - ERAEFAT Columbia, broadcasting
Canada HESEER
mex
EEFRLTA
BEED
5 For identification purpose only Era5

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (a)
December 2019: (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

R2019F 12 A31H W £ B K
BRRFBOT : (8)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
SR IBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EEHY TEER  RAREASMW ZRER
Phoenix Metropolis Media Hong Kong, The PRC Outdoor 100% HK$10,000
Company Limited limited liability company HE media business 10,0007
EESTEEERAR 4 BREEAR POMERER
Phoenix Radio Limited Hong Kong, Hong Kong  Investment holding 100% HK$1
BEEEERAR limited liability company % REER 1571
4 BREEAR
Phoenix Satellite Television (France) — France, France Satellite 100% EUR500,000
SAS limited liability company B television 500,000 BT
B - ARARAF broadcasting
BRERES
Beijing Tianying Jiuzhou The PRC, The PRC Advertising, 54.49% RMB10,000,000
Network Technology limited liability company i mobile value-add AR#10,000,0007
Co. Ltd.* (Note alii) T ERERAT service, games
IRRBAMNBERIBRAR and others
(tiZali) BERE
BEEERT -
EREERE
Yifeng Lianhe (Beijing) Technology ~ The PRC, The PRC Mobile value-add 54.49% RMB10,000,000
Co. Ltd.* (Note ali)) limited liability company el services AR#10,000,0007
REHE (tR) BEEREARA B BREEAR BELERE
(Fir&E afii)
Beijing Tianying Changzhi The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.49% RMB5,000,000
Advertising. Co. Ltd. (Note ali) limited liability company B ELRE AR%5,000,0007T

ERRBEIEEEERAT
(BizEalii)

ME - BREMAR

* For identification purpose only

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

* o EREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

47 2019

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (a)
December 2019: (Continued)

M2019F12 A31 B 8y = Z2 [
BRRFBOT : (8)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
SR IBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EEHY TERE  RAEZESN ZRER
PSTV, LLC United States, The United  Property holding 100% US$5,000,000
limited liability company States of VeSS 5,000,000%7
B BREMLAR America
*H
Phoenix Metropolis Communication ~ The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 100% RMB78,170,238
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.* limited liability company B media business ARH78,170,238 10
EESTUES (kR) BRAR B FREALE PoMEERER
Phoenix Cultural Consult (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Radio 100% RMB1,000,000
Co., Ltd. * limited liability company e broadcasting AR#1,000,0007
BEAE R (ER) BRAR  HE - FREALE ZRER
I RERBEEEERAR The PRC, The PRC Radio 100% RMB19,000,000
limited liability company i broadcasting AR%19,000,0007T
HE - BRELAR BRER
Phoenix (UK) Properties Hong Kong, Hong Kong Property holding 100% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company % holding 187
BB (E) EXERAF A BREEAR NERE
Phoenix Satellite Television Hong Kong, Hong Kong Television 100% HK$1
(Hong Kong Channel) Limited limited liability company % broadcasting 18
BEER (B48) BRAH % BRRAAR BHRER
Phoenix New Media (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Hong Kong Advertising 54.49% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company BA ELRE 157
BEFTHE (%) BRAT A BERRLAR
Peak Apex Limited British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Aircraft 100% US$1
BEBRAF limited liability company B chartering services 1%
EERARS R SRR
ARELRRA
5 For identification purpose only * Era5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) M20194F12 A31 B & = E K
December 2019: (Continued) BARFBET : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
FMALBER EEREN BRARBMRRE/
£ EEERER 2ENY TEEH RABHRED ZRER
Phoenix Research & Development ~ British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Research and 100% US$1
Limited limited liability company BE development (EFD
EERERERERAF EERARE e
BRELARA
Phoenix Industrial Development Hong Kong, Hong Kong Research and 100% HK$1
Centre Limited limited liability company BE development 18
BEEXEETRLERAH % BRRAAR e R
Phoenix Research Institute Limited ~ Hong Kong, Hong Kong Research and 100% -
BERERARAR company limited &t development
by guarantee AR
A ERERAR
Phoenix Culture Industrial Hong Kong, Hong Kong [nvestment 100% HK$1
Development Company Limited limited liability company ¥ holding 187
BE EXRRARAR % BRRLATA REER
Phoenix Culture Creation Hong Kong, Hong Kong Cultural 100% HK$1
Development Company Limited limited liability company BE development 187
BEXEREERAR 4 BREEAR XiHE
Phoenix Culture Creation Hong Kong, Hong Kong Cultural 100% HK$1
Management Company Limited limited liability company BE development 187
BEXAEEERAR 4 BREEAR WiEHEE
Phoenix Culture Creation Industrial ~ Hong Kong, Hong Kong Cultural 100% HK$1
Investment Management limited liability company BE development 18
Company Limited &5 BRELAR MR
BEXEESREERARAR
Beijing Fenghuang Yutian The PRC, limited The PRC Software 54.49% RMB5,000,000
Software Technology Co., Ltd. * liability company e development ARE5,000,0007
FRBERREERITAR AR HE - ARELAA HHRE

* o EREE

* For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

47 2019

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (a)
December 2019: (Continued)

R2019F 12 A31H W £ B K
BRRFBOT : (8)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
FMALBER EEREN BRARBMRRE/
£ EEERER 2ENY TEEH RABHRED ZRER
ERBRBERINERAR The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.49% RMB10,000,000
(Note ali) limited liability company e consulting AR#10,000,0007
(i afi) HE - BREAAR U
Phoenix Culture Industrial The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB25,000,000
Development (Shanghail Co., Ltd.*  limited liability company e development AR 25,000,000
BEGR U ERER (H8) HE - ARELAR XiEHEE
BRAT
Tianjin Fenghuang Mingdao The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.49% RMB2,000,000
Culture Communication Co., Ltd. * limited liability company i EERE AR 2,000,0007
(Note afii) HE - BREAAR
REEESEERERAE
(Fir&E afii)
Shanghai Yixi Network Technology ~ The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.49% RMB100,000,000
Co., Ltd.* (Note afii) limited liability company e consulting AK#100,000,000 70
EEERERNERAR HE - BRELAA U
(Fit&E afii)
Beijing Fenghuang Convergence The PRC, The PRC Financial 54.49% RMB400,000
Investment Co. Ltd.* (Note a(ii) limited liability company M consulting services AR 400,0007C
FRBERERERRAF HE - ARELAA SRR
(Fir&E afii)
Shanghai Miaogiu Information The PRC, The PRC Technical 40.87% RMB1,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company B consulting ARH1,000,0007C
(Note afii) (Note c) HE - BREAAR SUES

EEREERITER AR
(BizEalii) (Bt c)

* For identification purpose only

* o EREE

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR




280

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) M20194F12 A31 B & = E K
December 2019: (Continued) BRARIFENT « (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
FMALBER REEREN BRARBMRRE/
£ EEERER 2ENY TEEH RABZED ZRER
Phoenix Overseas Infonews Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company BE holding 15871
EREINERERAR 4 BREEAR RERR
Fenghuang Feiyang (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.49% RMB100,000,000
New Media Information limited liability company i L8 AR %100,000,0007T
Technology Co., Ltd.* T BRERAT
BERE (7) HERES
RiERAR
Phoenix New Media (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 54.49% HK$1
Information Technology limited liability company ) holding 18
Company Limited B8 BRELAR REER
BEHGRE (55) GERNERAR
Convergence Investment Co. Ltd Cayman Islands, Cayman Islands [nvestment 54.49% US$0.01
limited liability company REHS consultancy 0.01%T
HERE " RE®:
BRELAA
Phoenix InfoNews Japan Limited* ~ Japan, Japan Satellite 100% JPY 9,000,000
TJIZVJACAYTHAZ1—Re limited liability company BA television 9,000,000 Bl
VAUAVZ 5 Wi BA - BREEAF broadcasting
BRERRAERAR* HEERER
Shanghai Phoenix General The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB100,000,000
Nice Art Development Co. Ltd.* limited liability company e development AK%100,000,000 7
HEEEARENERERDE HE - ARELAR pdieid

* For identification purpose only

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

47 2019

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) M20194F12 A31 B & = E K
December 2019: (Continued) BRARIFENT « (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
FMALBER EEREN BRARBMRRE/
4 EEERER BERY TEEK RABHRED HMER
Fread Limited Cayman Islands, Cayman Islands Investment 54.49% US$0.01
exempted company HEHE holding 001 %L
FEHE RERR
SN
| Game (Hong Kong) Company Hong Kong, Hong Kong [nvestment 54.49% HK$1
Limited limited liability company A holding 15871
B (B%) BRAR 4 BREEAR RERR
Beijing Chenhuan Technology The PRC, The PRC Game 54.49% RMB1,500,000
Co., Ltd.*(Note a i) limited liability company i development AR®1,500,000 7
FRESRBEERAR (MiEai)  +E BREFAR BEISHE
Beijing Youjiuzhou Technology The PRC, The PRC Game 54.49% RMB1,500,000
Co., Ltd.*(Note a (i) and (iv)) limited liability company i development AR#1,500,000 7
ERENNERERAF HE - ARELAR BEIEHE
(Ft&E ali) B ()
Beijing Huanyou Tianxia The PRC, The PRC Game 54.49% RMB10,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* (Note a (ii) limited liability company el development AK#10,000,0007C
FREBEXTHREERAF HE - ARELAA ERIE
(Fir&E afii)
Beijing Fenghuang Borui Software  The PRC, The PRC Software 54.49% US$1,000,000
Technology Co. Ltd.* limited liability company el development 1,000,000% 70
IRERBHENRMEREARR HE  BREFAR HHRE
Qie YiYou (Beijing) Information The PRC, The PRC Game 54.49% US$5,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company B development 5,000,000% 7T
&’EH L) EERMERAF HE - BREAAA BEISHE
Phoenix Education Development Hong Kong, Hong Kong [nvestment 100% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company BE holding 18T
EE#EREERAT 4 BREEAR RERR
5 For identification purpose only * Era5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) M20194F12 A31 B & = E K
December 2019: (Continued) BRARIFENT « (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
SR IBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ HERRER EEHY TEER  RAREASMW afER
Phoenix International Education Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 60% HK$500,000
Company Limited limited liability company 5 holding 500,000 7T
BRERAEARAH 4 BREEAR RERR
EA R BERRARAR The PRC, The PRC Education 60% RMB5,000,000
limited liability company Gl #E ARE5,000,0007T
HE - ARELAR
BEHBA (LR BENHBERRE  The PRC, The PRC Education 60% RMB10,000,000
(Note a (i) limited liability company B HE AR#10,000,0007
(tiZali) HE - AREAAA
BESK (LR HEHRERAR  The PRC, The PRC Education 60% RMB2,000,000
(Note afii) limited liability company HE HE AR 2,000,0007C
(tiZali) HE - ARELAR
Phoenix Property Investment British Virgin Islands, British Investment 100% US$1
Holding Limited limited liability company  Virgin Islands holding (E
EEEEREARERAT EERARS RERAEHS RERKR
BRELAA
Phoenix Property Development Hong Kong, Hong Kong Property 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company BE development 18
BEEXEEERAF % BRRAAR nEEE
Phoenix Cloud Technology Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Development Company Limited limited liability company % holding 18
EEEHRBERERDA 4 BREEAR RERKR
BEER (LR MEERERAR  The PRC, The PRC Technical 100% RMB3,000,000
limited liability company i consulting AK%3,000,0007T
HE - ARELAR U
5 For identification purpose only * Era5

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 BT (&)

(@) M2019%F 128318 EEH
BRRFBOT : (8)

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2019: (Continued)

Percentage

Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
SR IBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ HERRER EENY TEER  RAREASMW afER
FTRBEREBERER AR The PRC, The PRC Technology 100% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company e development AK%10,000,0007C

HE - ARELAA e
Phoenix Entertainment and Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 96.5% HK$1
Game Company Limited limited liability company % holding 18

BRI RO 4 BREEAR REER
Phoenix Satellite Television Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Investment Limited limited liability company Y holding 187

BEERREERAT 4 BREEAR REER
Phoenix New Life Limited Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
BEFEEEAERAT limited liability company % holding 187

4 BREEAR RERR
I RERREEREERAR The PRC, The PRC Investment 96.5% RMB1,000,000
limited liability company i holding AK%1,000,0007T

HE - BREAAA RERR
ERERGERRERAR The PRC, The PRC Game 96.5% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company i development AK%10,000,0007C

HE - ARELAA BEIRAE
Phoenix Hong Kong Television Hong Kong, Hong Kong Dormant 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company i TmEK 187

BERBERERAR 4 BRELAR

ERBRENERRIBRAR The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.49% RMB5,000,000
limited liability company i consulting AR%5,000,0007C

HE - AREAAR R
BEERXES (LB)BBAR  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB20,000,000
limited liability company e development AK%20,000,0007

HE - ARELAR WLHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) M20194F12 A31 B & = E K
December 2019: (Continued) BARFBET : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
FMALBER EEREN BETRARRAE/
£ EEERER BERY TEEK RABHRED HMER
BERE (1R BREXRE The PRC, The PRC Investment 60% RMB5,000,000
BB A7 (Note alv)) limited liability company el management ARE5,000,0007
(MizEalv) HE - ARELAR RAEE
Phoenix Exhibitions Company Hong Kong, Hong Kong Exhibitions 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company B business 18
FEREERAT % BRRAAR EEXK
FERRBENEERAR The PRC, The PRC Games 96.5% RMB1,000,000
limited liability company e development ARH1,000,0007C
HE - BREAAR BRI
Shanghai Fengyu Shixun The PRC, The PRC Media 54.49% RMB50,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e technology AK50,000,0007C
DEERRARRERAT T BRERAT development
e
T REEEFHBEERAR The PRC, The PRC Technical 52.25% RMB14,618,900
limited liability company e consulting AR 14,618,9007
HE - BREAAR Rilr&A
TIUAZ LS () BRAT  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 50% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company i promotion AK%10,000,0007C
HE - BREAAR TR
Beijiing Fengyue Culture The PRC, The PRC Media 54.49% RMB10,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e technology AR#10,000,0007
IREREUEREARAR HE - BRERAT development
REER R
Tianjin Fengying Hongda Culture The PRC, The PRC Cultural 54.49% RMB2,000,000
Communication Co., Ltd.* limited liability company A promotion ARH2,000,0007
REBRAEERERAR HE - BREAAR XEE

* For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

47 2019

19 HEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) M2019F12 831 H & = EHK
December 2019: (Continued) BRARIFENT : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
SR IBER REEBEN  BRORBRRE/
£ EEERER EEHY TEER  RAREASMW afER
Tianjin Fengman Culture Media The PRC, The PRC Cultural 54.49% RMB10,000,000
Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e promotion AR#10,000,0007
REREX BEERAR HE - ARELAR X
Beijing Fengge Advertising The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.49% RMB10,000,000
Co., Ltd.* limited liability company i L8 ARE10,000,0007C
IRERESERAR HE - BREAAR
Phoenix Culture Property Hong Kong, Hong Kong [nvestment 100% HKD1
Investment Limited limited liability company ¥ holding 18
BE{LEXERAT 4 BREEAR RERR
ERBFEMREERAR The PRC, The PRC Technology 54.49% RMB5,000,000
limited liability company e development AR%5,000,0007T
HE - ARELAR RiRE
G REEBTREUERAR The PRC, The PRC Cultural 45.54% RMB8,000,000
limited liability company e promotion AK%8,000,0007T
HE - ARELAR X
BEREAE (67 BRAR  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 82.35% RMB2,000,000
limited liability company i promotion AR%2,000,0007T
HE - ARELAR XiLHEE
Lilita Financial Investment Limited British Virgin Islands, The PRC Investment 100% USD1
limited liability company i holding (E
EBRUES BR RERR
REAT]
PHOENIX SATELLITE Hong Kong, The PRC Sofeware 100% HKD1
TELEVISION APP LIMITED limited liability company HE application 187
BEEREREAARAF &5 BREMLAR development
BHERRE

* For identification purpose only

* o EREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) M20194F12 A31 B & = E K
December 2019: (Continued) BARFBET : (8)
Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
FMALBER EEREN BRARBMRRE/
£ EEERER BERY TEEK RABHRED ZRER
Tianjin Fengxiaoman Culture The PRC, The PRC Cultural 54.49% RMB10,000,000
Media Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e promotion AR#10,000,0007
RERNEXHEEERAE HE - ARELAA X
BEEH(tR)IEEREARRDE  The PRC, The PRC Technology 100% RMB1,000,000
limited liability company HE development AR1,000,0007C
HE - ARELAR R
BREE(RE)BRAT The PRC, The PRC Data 54.51% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company i technology AK%10,000,0007T
HE - AREAAA BB
RERRBEERAF The PRC, The PRC Technology 54.51% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company e promotion AK%10,000,0007T
HE - ARELAR Rt E
Phoenix Overseas Investment Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HKD1
Advisory Limited limited liability company % holding 18
RN EBRARAF 4 BREEAR RERKR
BB (R BRAF The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB1,000,000
limited liability company e promotion AK%1,000,0007T
HE - AREEAR XiLHEE
AAMB (R BRAR The PRC, The PRC Technology 54.51% RMB1,000,000
limited liability company e development ARE1,000,0007C
HE - ARELAA RiRE
FEBBRERER U ERARAR  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 51% RMB10,526,300
limited liability company f development AR¥10,526,3007
HE - AREEAA WiEHE

* For identification purpose only

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)
19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 KRBT (&)
(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) M2019F12 A31 H & = E K
December 2019: (Continued) BARFBET : (8&)
Percentage

Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
FMALBER EEREN BETRARRAE/
£ EEERER BERY TEEK RABHRED HMER
BEEZULMR (LR BRAR  The PRC, The PRC Technology 51% RMB2,000,000
limited liability company e development AK%2,000,0007T

HE - BREAAR IR
BELRE (L) BEBRAR The PRC, The PRC Techology 30.6% RMB3,000,000
limited liability company i promotion AK%3,000,0007T

HE - BREAAR Rt
PRABEEEEEERAR  The PRC, The PRC Hotel 51% RMB3,000,000
limited liability company i Management AK%3,000,0007T

HE - BREAAR BEER
Beijing Yitianxindong Network The PRC, The PRC Internet media 51% RMB5,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd* limited liability company e DHEReE ARE5,000,0007

IRFRHADRENIARLA TE - ARREAT

Phoenix Radio US Inc. United States, The United Radio 100% USD1
limited liability company States of broadcasting (E

XB - ARERLA America SRER

*H

BEER (BN BRAA Macau, Macau  Satellite television 100% MOP25,000
limited liability company il programme JAPI 25,000 T

B ARARFAT production

EEEREMERUE
EEEFESRE (TE)ERAT  ThePRC, The PRC Investment 100% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company e management AK%10,000,0007C

T BRERAT REER
BEERESREERER The PRC, The PRC Capital market 100% RMB10,000,000
(BM) ERAF limited liability company e service AR#10,000,000 7

HE - BREAAR EARTHHRE

5 For identification purpose only * Era5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 (@) M20194F12 A31 B & = E K

December 2019: (Continued) BARFBET : (8)

Percentage
Place of of equity Issued and fully
incorporation and Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/

Name kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital

FMALBER EEREN BETRARRAE/
£ EEERER BERY TEEK RABHRED HMER

Jinglin (Beijing) Real Esstate The PRC, The PRC Real estate 272% RMB1,000,000
Agency Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e brokerage ARE1,000,0007C

RE OLR) BHELLERAR T BRERAT business

FHEELEH

Beijing Fenghuang Tianbo Network  The PRC, The PRC Technology 272% RMB1,960,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e promotion AK#1,960,000 7

I RERRERERMBRAR HE - BREAAR RiTEE
(Note afii))

(Fir&E afii)

FTRBREFHELLER AR The PRC, The PRC Internet media 272% RMB500,000
(Note ali) limited liability company e DHERe AR 500,0007T
(PtzEali) HE - BREAAR

BESFEEFALRARLE  The PRC, The PRC Internet media 272% RMB1,000,000
(Note afii) limited liability company G GRHEER AR%1,000,0007T
(PzEali)) HE - BREAAR

Aifang (Tianjin) Internet The PRC, The PRC Internet 212% RMB2,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company i technology AR 2,000,0007C

ER(KE) EBERITERAR HE - BREAAH development
(Note afii))

(PzEali) RIS

ARARNAEMPRIERRAR  The PRC, The PRC Internet 16.35% RMB2,000,000
(Note afii) limited liability company el technology ARE2,000,0007C
(tiZali) HE - BREAAR development

ERBRRRE

WERTAZEMBRMARAE  The PRC, The PRC Internet 272% RMB1,500,000
(Note alii) limited liability company HE technology AR 1,500,000
(tizali) HE - BREAAR development

ERRRRRE
5 For identification purpose only * Era5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

47 2019

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2019: (Continued)

Notes:

Phoenix Satellite Television (B.V.l.) Holding Limited is
directly held by the Company, while all other subsidiaries
are indirectly held by the Company through Phoenix
Satellite Television (B.V.I.) Holding Limited.

The Group does not have any equity interest in Beijing
Tianying Jiuzhou Network Technology Co. Ltd., Yifeng
Lianhe (Beijing) Technology Co. Ltd., Beijing Chenhuan
Technology Co. Ltd., and BE#HEAILR)BEREE
fR’A7] and their respective subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “VIE entities”). However, through entering
into various contractual arrangements with the registered
equity holders of VIE entities, the Group has rights to
variable returns from its involvement with these VIE
entities and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over them and is considered to control them.
Consequently, the Company regards VIE entities as indirect
subsidiaries under HKFRS. The Group has included the
financial position and results of these VIE entities in the
consolidated financial statements from date of acquisition
of control. The management of the Group is of the opinion
that these contractual arrangements are in compliance with
relevant PRC laws and regulations and are legally binding
and enforceable.

Phoenix Hong Kong Television Limited became dormant
since 12 October 2017.

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(@) M2019F12A31 B EBH
BARGBMT : (8)

BiAE

FEFRERERQRBA
RAEEFA  MAAHEM
MEARRBARBEBE
BEEEEBEAR DA BER
5o

ARG B AL R B UM A
HMEMABR DR - 1h L
& R BEEREER
B AEREERBRERAF
kEEFEE (LR #HE
B AR A AR E B 8
BARR (R EHE
B M EABRARER -
A BBEATEMN SRR
MBS A AR LZ0
BRREE - NREBH 2 HE
SRk Al JCTE
ZERENIAR B BE I E
ERZRIZEZSER
BRI SR 2N R E
B Eit ARFEREERE
§op 755 5 2 AR 1L 2 F] 22 R
HEEBRREMBAR A
SEBESZEE BB
A MR AU ER
HM R BB PSR Rk
B AEBECZERERE
IEENZEN A HATE
ERFOERIA R BB ERD
R R AR BIFATT -

BEEEEREFR QAN

201710 A 12B K BT &
EI/NEIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2019: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

Vi

Vil.

viii.

During 2020, Bejing Youjiuzhou Technology Co. Ltd.* had
changed its name to Bl&# (It ) XL EHEFR A A,
and the Group's equity interest in Bl& # (1t R®) X (L&
E AR A7) was decreased from 54.49% to 32.69% as a
result of share transfer and increase of share capital from
RMB1,500,000 to RMB10,000,000.

BERZEJLR)BEEFXKREFRAT had changed its
name to BBEEHERHE(IER)ARAA on 20 March
2020.

INE ZRHE AR F], in which the Group previously held
54.49% equity interest was dissolved on 2 April 2019.

FREBEEER AR EHE AR AR], in which the Group
previously held 54.49% equity interest was dissolved on
27 April 2019.

Fengyu Limited, in which the Group previously held
54.49% equity interest was dissolved on 14 October 2019.

Fengyu (Hong Kong) Information Technology Company
Limited, in which the Group held 54.49% equity interest
was dissolved on 29 November 2019.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(@) M2019F12A31 B EBH
BARGBMT : (8)

Bt - ()

Vi

Vii.

viii.

R 2020 F -+ JEFEE M AT
BRARENERBARSH
(IER) UEBEEBFR AR -
MAKERESHE (L3)
MAL B E B R A 7 AR AN
ARG EERBAHAR
#1,500,000 L = A R #&
10,000,0007C 1M FH54.49%
JHZE 32.69% ©

BERE (bR REER
REBRRFN 202043 A
20 E B ABRBERHEER
& (ER) BR AR -

MMFRERFER AR (K
SEBAEREHE54.49% K
#) BR2019F4 A2 BfRER ©

BCERER R N SRR E
RAR (AEEBEIFHAEE
54.49% A%#E) B R 20194F 4
B 27 BfifER

Fengyu Limited (A& EBE
A HB449% k) B R
20194 10 A 14 BEEBL -

BUR (BA) EREMAR
ARI(AEBBEREH
54.49% A% 1) B 720194
1M A 29 BERES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(b)

F# 2019

The Company has undertaken to provide the necessary
financial resources to support the future operations of the
subsidiaries within the Group. The Directors are of the
opinion that the underlying value of the subsidiaries was
not less than the carrying amount of the subsidiaries as at
31 December 2019.

The Group has assessed the existence of control over
these subsidiaries where it does not have more than 50%
of the voting power but is able to govern the financial and
operating policies of these subsidiaries by virtue of de-
facto control.

Cash and short-term deposits of HK$654,151,000 (2018:
HK$1,063,302,000) held in the PRC are subject to local
exchange control regulations. These local exchange
regulations provide for restrictions on exporting capital
from the country, other than through normal dividends.

Material non-controlling interests

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December
2019 are HK$2,269,961,000 (2018: HK$2,257,223,000),
of which HK$236,991,000 (2018: HK$315,226,000) is
attributed to PMM Beijing and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “"PMM Group"”); HK$1,436,329,000
(2018: HK$1,762,870,000) is attributed to Phoenix New
Media Limited (“PNM") and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “PNM Group”); and HK$157732,000 (2018:
HK$165,262,000) is attributed to Phoenix Oriental (Beijing)
Properties Company Limited (“Phoenix Oriental”). The
non-controlling interests in respect of other subsidiaries in
which the Group holds less than 100% are not material.

Set out below are the summarised financial information
for PMM Group, PNM Group and Phoenix Oriental that
have non-controlling interests that are material to the
Group. See Note 40 for transactions with non-controlling
interests.

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

RRAEHEREVETHER
A RARSERNME R R &K
REE - EERAE HBAA
MEREETERK B AR
20194 12 A 31 HAEREE °

REEEREIWEHES 50% A
IR EREEDREREE BT
EHREZENB AR B RE
BHRZZEWBRRFGHZ
LI o

7 B #F A 2 654,151,0007%8
7t (20184 : 1,063,302,000
TT) e REHERABSTH
75 SNPE B IR o 1t St 5 A
B &5 ] 6% {911 BRR 711 48 B P B 1
- HBEBIREEFREHET
HBRON

BEEIHEED

R2019F 12 A31H 2 JEIE %
T %5 48 %8 52,269,961,00058
7T (20184F : 2,257223,000 %
JT) & A #9236,991,0007%
7t (20184F : 315,226,000 %
L) BRI R BB AT R EH
ME AR (G [t =B R AT
& [E]) :1,436,329,00078 7T
(20184 : 1,762,870,000 &
L) BREREBEEFEEERA
Al ((BEFEE]) REMBA
Al (578 [BEFEEER])
157,732,000 7T (20184 :
165,262,000/%8 JT.) 5% B 7 Bl
BEA (IR EXFRAA
(TRERA]) - BAKEIFH
D H100% HE 55 K9 E A BT B A
AIABRIEERE R W IEEE -

TXEIBEEHAKBERER
Z IR R a0 3 BB
£E - BEHNKEEENEE
RAWFEERRE - EIFE
Petgnn 2 X 5B 2 BMTE40 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(e) Material non-controlling interests (e) EEIFERERE (B)
(Continued)
Summarised balance sheet EEEBREUE
PMM Group PNM Group Phoenix Oriental
IFEEHHER BENREEE EERA
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
219% 20185 0195 20185 0195 20185
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T r Tr T Fr T
Current assets TEEE 525,383 601,951 5,101,721 4,489,725 133,057 107151
Current liabilities TERE (229,865) (265,087) (1,648,103) (1,226,901) (975,987) (1,137072)
Net current AR/
assets/lliabilties) (BF) 58 295518 336,864 3453618 362,824 (842,930) 1,029921)
Noncurrentassets  JEREEE 803,312 254,131 540,459 456,923 1,926,383 1,989,475
Non-curent liablifies ~ FEREIEE (651,447) - (322,300) (159,129) (560,835) (408,679)
Net non-current assets SRS AEFE 151,865 254131 218,159 297794 1,366,048 1,580,796
Net assets BEFE 447383 590,995 367,177 3,560,618 523,118 550,875
Non-controling IrEEHTEE/
interests within EEHiEeE/
PMM Group EER AN
PNM Group HiRiEs
Phoenix Oriental - - (68,130) (79,749) - -
Net assets I RBEATER/
attributable to EEHEEE/
owners of Ry 2N
PMM Group/ ElFAEFE
PNM Group/
Phoenix Oriental 47383 590,995 3,603,647 380,869 523,118 550875
Non-controling SR E R
interests 236,991 315,226 1,436,329 1,762,870 157732 165,262
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

(e) Material non-controlling interests (e) EEFFIERER (&)
(Continued)
Summarised income statement and statement of KERREZHEKBEREE
comprehensive income
PMM Group PNM Group Phoenix Oriental
IREESTER BEFEERE BERA
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
2019 WI8%E 20195 2018% 20195 20184
$'000 $000 $'000 $000 $'000 $000
r T r S i r
Revenue WA 694,734 826,972 1,794,233 1,706,101 68,889 108,345
Profit/loss) before B
income tax a7/ (B) 38,435 141,991 1,261,149 732,639 (13,109) 3,652
Income taxexpense &R (7490) (34,174 (244472) (172,361) 1,712 (2,944)
Profitflloss| after i
income tax B/ (58) 30,945 107817 1,016,677 560,278 (11,397) 3,708
Other comprehensive  Et 2N
income - = - - - -
Profitfloss) and totel R/ (B8) &
comprehensive FENRRE
income for the year 30,945 107817 1,016,677 560,278 (11,397) 32,708
Total comprehensive St REEHHEE/
income fortheyear ~ BEFEEEE/
attributable to EEEH7E
non-controlling FHERER
interests within ElEFERANE
PMM Group/ %
PNM Group/
Phoenix Oriental - 5,686 4,900 2817 - -
Total comprehensive It REEHHED/
incomefor theyear ~ EEHftkEEE/
attributable to owners  BIERAEEA A
of PMM Group EEER2ENE
[PNM Group/ &z
Phoenix Oriental 30,945 113,503 1,021,577 563,095 (11,397) 32,708
Total comprehensive  ARZEEIERERA
income alocated o~ 2ENGEE
non-controling
interests 16,942 52,960 457,687 252,319 (3,419) 9812
Dividends paid to BiisHERERD
non-controlling RE
interests 135,847 52,044 356,177 - - -

47 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

19 HWEAR (F&)

(e) Material non-controlling interests (e) EEIFZRiER (8)
(Continued)
Summarised cash flows REeEREHPE
PMM Group PNM Group Phoenix Oriental
1ZRESHEE BENRREE BERA
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
2019 WI8%E 20195 2018% 20195 2018%
$'000 $000 $'000 $000 $'000 $000
r T r S i r
Cash flows from SEzEEaN

operating activities ~ BEHE
Cash generated from/  IREERHE/

(used in) operations (FR) Be 233,920 205,086 (311,14) (6,666) 25,125 61,957
Income tax paid ERmER (16,258) (41.921) (1,330) (14,094) - -
Netcashgenerated B EHERFE/

from/{used inf (MR REFE

operating activities 217,662 163,165 (372,444) (20,760) 25,125 61,957
Netcash (usedinl/ &3 (i) /

generated from fsReFE

investing activities (2,204) 77953 1,892,522 (1,137669) - (1,679)
Net cash used in HEEHHA

financing activities ReFE (279,902) (95,557 (1,294,767) (89,804) (35,491) -
Net (decrease)/increase B& KRS ZEER

in cash and cash (D) /%M

equivalents 8 (64,444) 145,561 225,311 1,248,233 (9,766) 60,278
Cash and cash ENReRALSE

equivalents at 13H

beginning of year 227967 93,969 196,456 1,507452 82,938 25214
Net exchange RehRe%ERE

gains/llosses| ME RS/

on cash and (B8) 58

cash equivalents 33914 (11,563) (41,500) 62,763) 22 (2,554)
Cash and cash ERRE LA

equivalents at BB

end of year 197437 227967 380,267 196,456 73,394 82,938

The information above is the amount before intercompany

eliminations.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

EIERBRIEEEARRZ
RIS SHAY 278 o

Annual Report 2019




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

20 Credit quality of financial assets

The credit quality of financial assets can be assessed by
reference to external credit ratings or historical information
about counterparty default rates.

MREEZFEER

MBEENEEERI2EAHRS
HFNIEBEETRIBHEXRNE
SEER T AR ©

Accounts receivable FEUW IR K
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 FF
$'000 $'000
Fr Tz
Counterparties without WEINEBEE RO ZEF
external credit rating
Group 1 48501 134,606 72,898
Group 2 485712 1,137,970 983,286
1,272,576 1,056,184
Other receivables H At FE IR IR
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
F T
Counterparties without WEINEBEEF RO ZEF
external credit rating
Group 1 #8711 6,959 4,778
Group 2 #8712 565,736 624,401
572,695 629,179
F35 2019 BREERRIRE (2R) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

20 Credit quality of financial assets (Continued) 20 HIBEEZEFEEZ (&)

Amounts due from related companies JEW B i@ R R R
2019 2018
2019 20184
$'000 $'000
Fr T+
Counterparties without WEINEBEE RO ZEF
external credit rating
Group 2 485712 46,998 90,834
Group 1 — new customers/related parties (less than 6 months). BRI — FRE /BHEEALT (DR
ANEA) ©
Group 2 — existing customers/related parties (more than 6 72 — BEVEEREONRER
months) with no significant defaults in the past. B/ BREEAT (ZRAEA) -
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReFEER
Ratings by rating agencies of banks at which cash and deposits BB EFER S RFHAERITH
are held BE
2019 2018
2019 F 20184F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
AA- AA- 450,830 101,079
A+ A+ 1,529 315,911
A A 40,402 41,036
A- A- 273,579 478,316
BBB+ BBB+ 689,580 188,266
BBB BBB 1,067 1,032
BBB- BBB- 5,080 6,592
Others (Note a) Hith (Fifzta) 68,497 113,948
1,530,564 1,246,180
Note a: Others represented cash held at banks without credit rating. Mizta : HtIEBAREEATRANRT
These banks are reputable banks with no defaults in the past. FIFENRE ZEFRITESE

REF - BEAEIBRFA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

20 Credit quality of financial assets (Continued) 20 HIBEEZEFEEZ (&)

Restricted cash ZPRHIRE
2019 2018
20194 20184F
$'000 $'000
T T
A A 1,603 226
A A 5,112 -
BBB+ BBB+ 85,988 -
92,703 226
Bank deposits RITER
2019 2018
2019 & 20184
$'000 $'000
T T
A A 16,813 11,321
A A- 126,862 243,395
BBB+ BBB+ 131,237 128,998
BBB- BBB- 35,781 35,591
310,693 419,305
Pledged bank deposits BEERIRITIER
2019 2018
2019 & 20184
$'000 $'000
T T
AA- AA- 391,465 434,909
BBB+ BBB+ - 299,836
391,465 734,745
4R 2019 BEAIRE (1)) ARAR 297




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

20 Credit quality of financial assets (Continued)

21

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

20 MBEEZFEER (H)

BAHES BRI
BEE

=

2019 2018

2019 & 2018 4F

$'000 $'000

Fr Tt

AA- AA- 464,616 19,782
BBB+ BBB+ 974,329 1,030,227
Other (Note b) EAth (I5EDb) 2,388,252 2,254,494
3,827,197 3,304,503

Note b: Balance represents investments in debt and equity securities
of private companies which credit ratings are not available.

None of the financial assets that are fully performing has been
renegotiated during the year (2018: Nil).

Accounts receivable, net

iiEb : BHBAKREBERNEEFRLR
ZFAARRIER REAES

FEZ2ERITHNMEEERF R E
FLAEFER (20184 : ) o

21 EWERFUEEE

2019 2018

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

T e

Accounts receivable JEURBR R 1,272,576 1,056,184
Less: Provision for impairment B ORERE (189,039) (137,062)
1,083,537 919,122

The carrying amounts of accounts receivable, net, approximate
their fair values.

The Group has appointed an advertising agent in the PRC
to promote the sales of the Group's advertising airtime and
programme sponsorship and collect advertising revenues within
the PRC on behalf of the Group. The Group generally requires
its advertising customers to pay in advance. Customers of other
business segments are given credit terms of 30 to 180 days.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

21 Accounts receivable, net (Continued)

At 31 December 2019, the ageing analysis of the accounts

21 EUWERFORE ()

N2019E12 A31 0 - EIREFEXR

receivable from customers was as follows: HEBRIR DT -
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
$'000 $'000
S T
0-30 days 0Z30H 353,734 277630
31-60 days 31260H 183,529 208,012
61-90 days 61290 H 129,314 156,020
91-120 days 912120 H 116,104 116,490
Over 120 days 120 B 489,895 298,032
1,272,576 1,056,184
Less: Provision for impairment B ORERE (189,039) (137062)
1,083,537 919,122

The carrying amounts of the Group's accounts receivable are

AEEEYSRANREER IS

denominated in the following currencies: REAL
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
$'000 $'000
T Tz
RMB AR 1,252,773 1,040,513
uss =T 13,191 12,610
UK pound g 5,371 1,666
Other currencies Hih & 1,241 1,395
1,272,576 1,056,184
3 2019 BREERRIRE (2R) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

21 Accounts receivable, net (Continued) 21 FBWERFFE (&)
Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of REEEREFRERENE N
accounts receivable are as follows: T

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
T T+t
At 1 January ®m1A1H 137,062 112,270
Provision for impairment B 79,583 53,692
Receivables written off during F R H T AT Uk (B A9 e U R OR
the year as uncollectible (21,882) (11,608)
Reversal of provision for VERIEEELEE
impairment (36,532) (11,470)
Acquisition of subsidiaries L B 2 P BB 2 ) 33,375 =
Currency translation differences E®HmE =358 (2,567) (5,822)
At 31 December ®12 A31H 189,039 137,062
The creation and release of provision for impaired accounts FEREREWER G IR E R
receivables of approximately HK$43,051,000 (2018: & % #J43,051,0007% JT (20184 :
HK$42,222,000) have been included in “Selling, general 42,222,000 7T) © B i A4 A WK
and administrative expenses” in the consolidated income mAF[HE  —REITHER]EA
statement (Note 7). The Group has written off approximately T (H5E7) - AEBEERAFEE AR
HK$21,882,000 (2018: HK$11,608,000) of accounts receivable B E AL A EBCR OB E R E
against the provision for impairment of accounts receivable 84 #921,882,0007% st (2018 :
made in prior years during the year because there is no 11,608,000 7T) B YRS - [RE
expectation of recovering additional cash. REHIEIREIEINGS -
There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to accounts HRAEEREAERF  RIES
receivable because the Group has a large number of customers. FRBERES N EESERRER

22 Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 22 FENHE - RERHMEWR

MIE
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Prepayment and deposits ENFRIERIES 224,468 308,772
Other receivables H e Y I8 572,695 629,179
797,163 SB7B1
Less: Non-current portion B FERNERER (61,210) (79,299)
Current portion BNERER (D 735,953 858,652

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
(Continued)

Included in other receivables is an amount of approximately
RMB325,545,000 (HK$363,095,000) (2018: RMB331,843,000
(HK$374,690,000)) owing from an advertising agent, Shenzhou,
in the PRC. The amount represents advertising revenue
collected, net of expenses incurred by Shenzhou on behalf of
the Group.

Pursuant to a service agreement signed between Shenzhou
and the Group dated 5 June 2015, Shenzhou agreed to deposit
the advertising revenue it had collected prior to the execution
of that agreement and to be collected in the future in one or
more than one specific trust bank accounts in the PRC, which
together with any interest generated from such bank account(s)
(based on prevailing commercial interest rates) would be held
in trust on behalf of the Group and handled according to the
Group's instructions. No additional interest will be charged by
the Group on the balance.

The Trust Law in the PRC enacted in recent years has not
laid out specific detailed implementation rules applicable to
trust arrangements such as that of the Group with Shenzhou.
Therefore the extent of the enforceability of the arrangement
is still unclear. Although the management recognises that the
present arrangement is the only legally viable arrangement, the
management will continue to monitor and explore alternatives
to improve the situation.

The management of the Group is of the opinion that the amount
owing from Shenzhou of approximately RMB325,545,000
(HK$363,095,000) as at 31 December 2019 (2018: approximately
RMB331,843,000 (HK$374,690,000)) is fully recoverable and
no provision is required. The balance is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other
receivables approximate their fair values.

47 2019

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

22 FENRE RERHEMER

A ()

HmEkRERE —SEERKFTH
EERBEHMNAORBEBHOARE
325,545,000 7T (363,095,000/8T)
(20184 : AR® 331,843,0007T
(374,690,000/87T) ) ° It 5k IE A48 )N
REAEBEDMBES A (BN
) e

RN AR EE R 20156F6 A5 H
FIIH B  BNEEEENE
51 15 AT B URER B oA 2R A MR B
WA A B —{E sk — 8 2 B e
RITEAEFPAN . ERAZSRT
IRPEAZEMFE (RE AT EF
EitHE) BREASEBUEEHAEF
B WIREBASEBEZIERER - K%
BT g AR REUERIEINIE

B FEMANEALEE HER
PRIEUAEE S KSR Hr a0
BIERE - At REEBELRHE
PAIEORAITREEE o 3N E IR R
BERITREDER LE—AITTHR
BE - BEIRE SRS MR
AITHRE N ZEGRIER

AEEBEREERA  R2019F12
A3 MERHREBELHARE
325,545,000 7T (363,095,000 7T)
(20184 : 49 A R # 331,843,000 7T
(374,690,000787T)) #AIZBEUKE -
UL EBZEME L B - eR AR -
BB NBIRENREE -

FANFIE - e REMBERFIEN R
E{EHEE N FEES -

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22 Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

(Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other receivables are
denominated in the following currencies:

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

22 FENRE RERHEMER

FIE (&)

AR B H A R BREETIA T
FIEHEDIE -

2019 2018

2019 & 2018 4F

$'000 $'000

Fr Tt

RMB AR 519,642 557317
US$ EIT 244 750
HK$ BT 49,426 67369
UK pound gy 3,166 3,659
Other currencies Hih gk 217 84
572,695 629,179

As at 31 December 2019, other receivables of HK$54,791,000
(2018: HK$11,512,000) were impaired.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
is the carrying value of the prepayment, deposits and other
receivables mentioned above. The Group does not hold any

collateral as security.

MN2019F12 A31 8 » EREZ Hith
& U 3% 18 454,791,000 JT (2018
£ :11,512,000/87T) °

REEAPMESNSSEERRE
ERFTATEN TR - e MEAMER
IR ARE(E © AEE EFEE
ERRIERTER -

- A

23 Inventories 23 FE&
2019 2018
2019 & 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt

Decoder devices and RIS S Es M R AT E NS

satellite receivers - 586
Merchandised goods HEEm 9,353 9,528
9,353 10,114

The cost of inventories sold of approximately HK$7106,000
(2018: HK$11,353,000) for the year ended 31 December 2019 is
charged to the consolidated income statement.

302 Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Amounts due from related companies

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

24 EWHBERXRRE

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 £F
$'000 $'000
T 7
Amounts due from related FEUWE A RIFRIA
companies
- Joint ventures (Note a) - AEE (M) 801 14,892
— Other related companies - HthBEREENT 46,197 75,942
46,998 90,834

(a)  Amounts due from joint ventures

(a)

e & SR

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
T F
Amounts due from joint JEUR & & 3EFIR
ventures 13,238 57764
Less: Provision for B ORERE
impairment (12,437) (42,872)
Amounts due from joint JEUR & &SR F R
ventures, net 801 14,892

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
recorded a provision for impairment of approximately
HK$3,133,000, included in “Other gains, net" after taking
into account the present value of the estimated cash

flows from the joint venture.

47 2019

REZE2018F 12 A31 B ILF
B ERIGEREEERE
ZHRERENRER  A5E
B R ERE 93,133,000 7
70 (T A [E AUk 5g]) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

24 Amounts due from related companies
(Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

24 EWHBERXRINE (&)

(b) At 31 December 2019, the ageing analysis of the amounts (b) ®m2019412A318 ' EWK
due from related companies, were as follows: B BE N R IE R BRE 5 AT a0
T
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Amounts due from related  JEU B RIE A RIFIE
companies
0 - 90 days 0Z290H 19,035 42,590
91 - 120 days 91 & 120 H 5,897 7.098
Over 120 days 120 HA £ 22,066 41,146
46,998 90,834
(c) The amount due from related companies are unsecured, (c) mwBEmERTRESEIK
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. Other W RERBRERER - H
receivables from related parties are repayable in fth FE U B3 A Y FE UK IR
accordance with credit terms. BIREEHIEE -
The carrying amounts of amounts due from related BRBRCEWIESE © &
companies approximate their fair values as the impact of U7 B8 3 X A) 3R IE A BR 1 {E £
discounting is not significant. HATEES -
The maximum exposure of amounts due from related REEE - EWREREEAR
companies to credit risk at the reporting date is the FRIE P 7 S X5 B 3 e AT
carrying value mentioned above. FitBREE -
(d) The carrying amounts of the Group's amounts due from (d) AeEERKEBEATREZ

related companies are denominated in RMB.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

25 Financial assets/(liabilities) at fair value 25 ZRAF{EZERBICRE
through profit or loss BEE/ (AF)
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
T e
Non-current assets EREEE
Option for long term investment  REIIRE LB I2HE - 18,909
Current assets RENEE
Option for long term investment  KHIE B MR I2HE 19,800 =
Trading equity securities BEERAES 18,575 19,782
Convertible redeemable AJ AR A B BB L AR
preferred shares (Note 41) (FfizE41) 2,258,645 2,235,585
Option for refund of consideration RE—TEWENBRIRIERE
in an acquisition 109,807 -
Structured deposits EREETR 1,420,370 1,030,227
3,827,197 3,285,594
Current liabilities nEaE
Forward option for disposal of SR A R R A
investment (17,828) -
Interest rate swap M= E 4
contract - (855)
Cross-currency interest rate BEENEERE4
swap contract (5,680) -
(23,508) (855)
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Interest rate swap contract B HRS 4 (2,501) -
Cross-currency interest rate B EEFRSEE L
swap contract - (5,363)
(2,501) (5,363)
Included in the financial assets at fair value through profit and EAFEERABRLENMBEE
loss is an amount of approximately HK$18,575,000 (2018: B 1& #918,5675,000/% T (20184 :
HK$19,782,000) representing the shares of HSBC. 19,782,0007870) HEZAZ( o
These shares are held for trading. The fair value of these shares ZERMNBIFEEE - EROHZA
is based on the current bid prices in an active market. As at TEEEENERMSANEREA
31 December 2019, the closing price of the shares of HSBC & - MN2019F 128318 - REB L
listed in Hong Kong was HK$60.9 (2018: HK$64.8). If the price mZELRHM 2 WM EA609%5 T
of the shares of HSBC increased/decreased by 20% with all (20184 : 648/E L) - BH T EZL
other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would DB EF T8 20% @ MATHE
have been approximately HK$3,715,000 (2018: HK$3,956,000) HEmEguFrg  AFARTRR
higher/lower. ) fE 738 o0, R > 493,715,000 78 7T
(2018 4F : 3,956,000757T) °
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through profit BATEBEBERCENYBEED
or loss of HK$1,651,073,000 (2018: HK$804,025,000) are NFEYE1,651,073,0005 7T (2018
recognised in “Other gains, net” in the consolidated income £ 1 804,025,000/ 7T) et A&RE
statement (Note 6). Wes AR ey [ bz $58 ] (MiEE6)
F3R 2019 BREERRIRE (2R) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

26 Bank deposits 26 SRITIFEX
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Short-term deposits (Note a) EEER (M5Ea) 310,693 419,305
(a)  Short-term bank deposits represents bank deposits with (a) RHRTHEXEEFAZHR
a maturity date exceeding 90 days but not exceeding 1 FEEE BB ETRE—F
year from the date of making the deposits. The carrying BERITER - RITFHREE
amounts of bank deposits are denominated in the TS EEIIE :
following currencies:
2019 2018
2019 F 20184F
$'000 $'000
Fix T
HKS$ BT 103,242 241,039
RMB AR 82,418 55,441
US$ ET 125,033 122,825
310,693 419,305
(b) During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group (b)) MEE2019F12 A318 1k
recorded HK$35,493,000 interest income from cash FE - AEEHBHEe LIRS
and cash equivalents, bank deposits, restricted cash and ZEER - RITTFER - ZRH
pledged bank deposits (2018: HK$59,549,000). R REERRITFERZFE
T A 35,493,000/ 7T (2018 4 :
59,549,00087T) °
Restricted cash 27 ZRFERE

27

Restricted cash represents funds pledged to banks to secure
banking guarantee and advance payment.

ERHEBERRERTRITZESN
TERIRITER KBS HRNER -

2019 2018
2019 & 20184F

$'000 $'000

Fr Tt

RMB AREE 92,703 226

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

28 Cash and cash equivalents 28 RekREEEEHR

29

2019 2018

2019 F 20184

$'000 $'000

T Tt

Cash at bank and on hand RITRFERE® 798,941 689,536

Short-term bank deposits EEIRITER 731,623 556,644

1,530,564 1,246,180

Maximum exposure to credit risk FAEERE 1,528,911 1,244,825
Denominated in: LARPIE®SIE

- HK$ -3 66,917 54,825

- RMB - ARHE 286,780 664,321

-US$ = 1,162,030 510,411

— Other currencies - Hih gk 14,837 16,623

1,530,564 1,246,180

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less for the purpose of the consolidated statement

of cash flows.

Bank facilities

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has undrawn banking
facilities of HK$14,090,000 (2018: HK$136,677,000).

HEEREMERNS  RELBRE
FEBAEERTRELTEREN
MREE A B=EAHAT 2 AR

TR -

29 RITEE

MR2019F 12 A31H » AEBEHE KR
HY 4R 77 R & 14,090,0007% JT (2018

F : 136,677000%87T) °

30 Share capital 30 ®A
2019 2018
2019 2018
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
BHEE ot L PEnE ¢! &5
$'000 $'000
ST T
Authorised: JERE
Ordinary shares HARMEE0.1 T
of $0.1 each ZEBR 10,000,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: 22&/TRAR :
At 1 January ®m1A1H
and 31 December %12 A31H 4,993,469,500 499,347 4,993,469,500 499,347

47 2019

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

31 Share-based compensation

(@) Share options of the Company

The Company has several share option schemes
under which it may grant options to employees of the
Group (including executive Directors of the Company)
to subscribe for shares of the Company. Options are
granted and exercisable in accordance with the terms set
out in the relevant schemes. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options

in cash.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

31 BURGNRAFEE

(a) ANREIEEAHE

ARBEHRA B EBEAE S
REFEATAANEENEER
(BRARRNNITES) BT
A R B AN B A fn B B RO -
FERE R IR G BT BB D RO R
R RITE - REEWEE
AT SHEEEEEARSE
(O] Sk A RBAHE -

RITEBEREHENEH R E
TH R N F 1T (E E K 5

follows: I
2018
2019 2018 &
Average Average
exercise exercise
price in HK$ price in HK$
per share Options per share Options
B SilE LA TTAIE
WERFH WERTH
THEE B IR e 171E(8 B iE
‘000 ‘000
T T
At 1 January ®m1A1H 1.41 86,184 1.41 88,5654
Lapsed and BRI TS
cancelled 1.37 (1,310) 1.40 (2,370)
At 31 December 712 A31H 1.41 84,874 1.41 86,184

As at 31 December 2019, all of the (2018: all) outstanding
options were exercisable. No options were granted or

MR2019F12 A31 8 @ IARITE

BAEE T

2 #6 (2018 4F :

exercised in 2019 (2018: Nil).

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

2E) BREYT FITHE R
2019 F AR H sk 7T BB AR
(20184 : #) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

31 Share-based compensation (Continued)

(a)

47 2019

Share options of the Company (Continued)

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the

e SRR M EE

(RIF AT - STELETAIE)
31 RGN E (&)
(a) ARTEEEARE (B)

RELRITEBRENZIAA

following expiry dates and exercise prices: RATEELNT -
Exercise price in

Expiry date HKS$ per share 2019 2018
EIHH LB TSIENERITEE 2019 F 2018 F
‘000 ‘000
T SR
21 July 2019 20197 H21H 1.17 - 200
20 March 2027 202793 A20H 1.41 84,874 85,984
84,874 86,184

Share options of PNM

PNM has two share option schemes under which it may
grant options to the executives, employees, directors,
consultants, advisers, agents, business partners, joint
venture partners, service providers and contractors
of PNM and/or its affiliates. Options are granted and
exercisable in accordance with terms set out in the
relevant share option schemes. PNM has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options
in cash.

(b) BUEFTHE A

R 2\ 5 B R A P M1 B P he T
g RIEETE A AR R R K
BR/RHEBBRRNITRA
B -EE EF EM - ##
ARE - XBBHE - R
- REBEEEBEREERRT
BRE- BREAIRARE
Bt &85 A0 IR th 1T
i o B EREY B EMDEE
FHEMTENRE B @A
HRERE -

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

31 Share-based compensation (Continued)

(b) Share options of PNM (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2016, PNM
implemented an option exchange program from 21
October 2016 to 1 November 2016, whereby PNM's
directors, employees and consultants exchanged options
to purchase 21,011,951 Class A ordinary shares of PNM
granted under PNM’'s 2008 Share Option Plan with
various exercise prices greater than US$0.4823 per
share (or US$3.8587 per ADS) for new options granted
by PNM under the same plan with a new exercise price
of US$0.4823 per share and a new vesting schedule
that generally adds 12 months to each original vesting
date, and the new options would vest no sooner than
1 May 2017. PNM accounted for the option exchange
program as option modification and recognised the total
incremental share-based compensation of US$1,700,000
(approximately HK$13,000,000), of which US$200,000
(approximately HK$1,500,000) (2018: US$200,000
(approximately HK$1,500,000)) was recognised in the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

31 BURGNREEE (F)

(b)

Rl 2\ 2% B2 RO B A
(#8)

REE20165F12 8318 IEF
Z - BEFEER 2016 410 A
21BZE2016F 11 A1 BHAE
TRBRRRE R ATl - Rt - Bl
BHEENES  EERERM
HEAR I B 237 45 88 2008 G B A%
HEET S B AT B A 21,011,951
BRAKE X @ AR A B8 AR (5T
ETRTEEMHE SN SR
0.4823% 7T (K E I EB AT
B2 15 3.8587%(7T)) « FAARH
RIER —IEF B 2 $T AR
# (G1TEEASNR0.4823%
M EEREAR —RESR
FmEBHEMENRBEAR)
i %7 B8 AR g N B R 2017
5A1H %8B - BlE 5L
BB 2 B RER
HETEIA BRI HERR 4R B LA AR
3 S 1< #9 # 181,700,000 % 7T
( 4913,000,0007% 7T) ' &
#9200,000 3 7t (491,500,000
7 7t) (2018 4F : 200,000 7T
(#91,500,0007%7T)) EREZE
2019F 12 A31 B ILFEMHER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

31 Share-based compensation (Continued)

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

31 BRI REME (&)

(b) Share options of PNM (Continued) (o) Bl 2\ ¥ K 88 1Y B Az
(&)
Movement in the number of share options outstanding MARITEBRESEEFHRE
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as BRANETHTEENAT -
follows:
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 &
Average Average
exercise exercise
price in US$ price in US$
per share Options per share Options
HNERTHIE LAZETTYIME
WERFY R
1TfEE B T8 HEhxE
‘000 ‘000
T3 T1n
At 1 January ®m1A1H 0.47240 34,251 0.42064 39,288
Granted B 0.48360 15,794 0.55879 3,720
Lapsed B 0.49378 (7,128) 0.47224 (3,934)
Exercised B17f 0.43269 (174) 0.12247 (4,823)
At 31 December 12 A31 H 0.47309 42,743 0.47240 34,251

47 2019

As at 31 December 2019, out of the 42,743,000 (2018:
34,251,000) outstanding options, 25,807,000 (2018:
22,372,000) were exercisable. Options exercised in
2019 resulted in 174,000 (2018: 4,823,000) shares being
issued at an average exercise price of US$0.43269 (2018:
US$0.12247). The related weighted average share price
at the time of exercise was US$0.52 (2018: US$0.59) per
share.

N2019% 128318 * »
42,743,00017 (20184 :
34,251,0000) mARFTHEER
R » 25,807,00017 (20184
22,372,00013) Al FITME o I
2019F 1T F R ESBUZ TR
0.432693 7T (20184 : 0.12247
EL) ZFEHTEBRST
174,000/% (20184 : 4,823,000
BR) BRD o FEATIERE 2 AR N
BEFHRERSRKRO0.52%E T
(2018%: 0.569%7T) °

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

31 Share-based compensation (Continued)

(b) Share options of PNM (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

31 BRI REME (&)

Management estimates the fair values of options at
the grant dates. The fair values of the options were
determined using the Black-Scholes model. The key
assumptions used in the valuation of the fair value of the
options granted on respective dates are set out in the

(b) JBl 2\ £ 58 &) 5 AL
(%)

BEEEMABERERRLAS
ZAYE - BiiEs A FER
RlAhe - TR KAE
E o HMEREBRERSRH
BBz A FEBERRAZE

below table. ERBHIIN T X -
Closing share Annual Expected
Fair value of price at Exercise price risk-free life of Expected
Date of grant share options grant date per share interest rate options volatility
BRED Rt AEH EEkR Btk

RiAH AVE UL G BRAEE £7i= BEH RHRE
(USS) (USS) (US$) (%) (years) (%)
(%7) (Z1) (Fm) (%) () (%)
15 March 2013 2013535158 0.293% 0.5125 0.44593 154 6.16 58.10
23 May 2013 013%E5A 23R 037349 0.61125 0.46565 160 6.16 5760
1 October 2013 13510418 0.9615 140625 0.7867 187 6.16 5820
8 October 2013 013%10A8A 10998 15775 0.8249 188 6.16 5820
10 December 2013 013% 128108 0.6609 11575 108443 1 6.16 5840
14 March 2014 0144535148 0.8336 1405 131 188 6.16 62.20
4 June 2014 14456747 0.6626 123 12749 161 6.16 56.98
11 July 2014 UETRNA 0.6608 1.236 13035 160 6.16 56.38
11 October 2014 14F 108 1A 0.6608 1093 0.8249 160 5.81 56.13
16 July 2015 2015575168 0.4658 0.8825 0.9155 198 6.16 54.32
17 October 2016 0165107178 0.2342 0.45125 04734 155 6.16 55.30
21 Qctober 2016 16108218 0173202193 0.4525 04823 130 391539 50.67-55.65
14 September 2017 017%F9R148 0.4648 0.7025 04149 188 6.16 55.99
24 November 2017 NTENAAA 0.6294 0.9338 0.5344 192 6.16 5706
3 January 2018 2018%173A 05032 0.83375 0.6326 186 5.91 5700
3 January 2018 2018%173A 0.4798-0.5289 0.8338 04823 102-150 3.445.04 5700
2 April 2018 201854728 02419 0.52375 0.7513 185 6.16 5710
12 July 2018 2018%7R 128 0.3053 0.57625 0.6306 2.089082 6.16 5701533
5 July 2019 2019%7A5R 0.201 039 0.4836 312 6.16 5709

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

31 Share-based compensation (Continued)

(b) Share options of PNM (Continued)

47 2019

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the

(b)

31 BURGNREEE (F)

Bl 2 ¥ 4% 22 &) P B

(%8)

RERRITEBRZENTHA

following expiry dates and exercise prices: RATEEWT :
Exercise price in

Expiry date HKS$ per share 2019 2018
A LU T HIERN S RITEE 2019 F 2018 4F
‘000 ‘000
T4 T1n
14 March 2023 20233 A 14H 0.445925 3,710 3,861
22 May 2023 20235 H22H 0.46565 2,900 2,900
30 September 2023 202399 A30H 0.7867 6 6
7 October 2023 202310 A7H 0.4823 2,125 2,125
9 December 2023 2023F 12 A9 H 0.4823 1,188 1,188
3 June 2024 20246 A3H 0.4823 37 37
4 June 2024 20246 A48 0.4823 50 50
10 July 2024 20247 H10H 0.4823 6,811 6,829
10 October 2024 202410 A10H 0.4823 162 162
15 July 2025 20257 A 15H 0.4823 2,126 2,438
16 October 2026 20264 10 A 16 H 0.4733875 3,910 5,281
13 September 2027 20279 A 13 H 0.4149 3,591 5,367
23 November 2027 2027 11 A23H 0.5344 398 488
2 January 2028 202841 H2H 0.4823 1,385 2,134
2 January 2028 202841 H2H 0.6326 - 1,180
1 April 2028 20284 A1H 0.7513 100 190
11 July 2028 20287 H11H 0.6306 - 15
4 July 2029 20297 H4H 0.4836 14,244 -
42,743 34,251

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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32 Accounts payable, other payables and

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

32 EMIRM - HMEARER

accruals PEST RIE
2019 2018
2019 F 2018
$'000 $'000
Fx Tt
Accounts payable FETERR 396,579 391,350
Other payables and accruals Fo At FE A SE K FERTRUR 1,502,223 932,775
1,898,802 1,324,125
Less: Non-financial liabilities B I AE (4,229) (13,400)
1,894,573 1,310,725

At 31 December 2019, the ageing analysis of the accounts

R2019F 12 A31 H @ EAERAEE

payable was as follows: BT -
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
0-30 days 0&£30H 231,019 237882
31-60 days 31260H 18,883 13,986
61-90 days 61290H 25,379 18,973
91-120 days 912120H 16,124 11,663
Over 120 days 1208 £ 105,174 108,846
396,579 391,350

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
|
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

32 Accounts payable, other payables and
accruals (Continued)

The carrying amounts of accounts payable, other payables and
accruals approximate their fair values.

The carrying amounts of accounts payable, other payables and
accruals are denominated in the following currencies:

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

32 BRI EMUBENRER
FEst IR ()

FEASRRR ~ BB 508 RERT FUR
ZIEHERE A HERS -

FEATRRAR » EAR B 508 RERT 3R
MRREEN THIE%SIE

2019 2018
2019 & 2018
$'000 $'000
T Tt
HK$ BT 223,721 221,099
RMB AR 1,660,682 1,077581
US$ EIT 5,910 8,229
UK pound gy 3,553 3,233
Other currencies HEmEk 707 583
1,894,573 1,310,725
33 Borrowings 33 fBE
2019 2018
2019 & 2018 FF
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Secured bank borrowings AEMBITEE

(Note a) (MfzEa) 431,952 825,188

Loans from non-controlling M8 A R EFEAR AR R

shareholders of subsidiaries RHER (MisEb)
(Note b) 384,362 376,507
816,314 1,201,695
3 2019 BREERRIRE (2R) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

33 Borrowings (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

33 fEE ()

(a) Secured bank borrowings (a) BEFRITEE
2019 2018
2019 20184
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Non-current ERED
Long-term secured REFERRITEER
bank borrowings 29,735 92,221
Current B
Current portion of long-term REBAEBRTEEZ
secured bank borrowings MENED 402,217 732,967
Total secured bank borrowings  HiEHRTIESHALE 431,952 825,188
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
T Tt
The secured bank borrowings BHEMRITEBERRAT
are repayable as follows: FFFEER -
—Within one year -—FR 402,217 732,967
— More than one year but not - —FRETBBRE
exceeding two years 27,878 62,090
— More than two years but not - MERBRENBBAT
exceeding five years - 28,222
— More than five years - BBEAF 1,857 1,909
Total secured bank borrowings BEMIBITEERE 431,952 825,188

As at 31 December 2019, bank borrowings of
HK$89,208,000 (2018: HK$141,113,000) are secured
by the land in Chaoyang Park with carrying values of
approximately HK$92,000,000 (2018: HK$96,000,000),
HK$335,000,000 (2018: HK$365,000,000) and
HK$1,472,000,000 (2018: HK$1,497,000,000) recorded
in right-of-use assets (2018: lease premium for land),
property, plant and equipment and investment properties
respectively. These bank borrowings are denominated in
RMB and bear interest at an average interest rate of 6.48%
(2018: 6.48%) annually.

316 Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

#2019% 124318 » iR17{E
589,208,000/ 7L (20184 :
141,113,000/878) JhAERMG
AER T ERE - HEA
BEE(2018F: LtHHAEE
B) Mm% BERZHEAR
REYMESSHERED L
7 92,000,000/8 7T (20184
96,000,000/ 7T) * 335,000,000
77T (20184 : 365,000,000/
JT) F1,472,000,0007 7T (2018
£:1,497000,00087T) ° %%
IRITEEUARBIINE - WEF
HFF|& 6.48/2 (20184 : 6.48
PN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

33 Borrowings (Continued)

(a)

47 2019

Secured bank borrowings (Continued)

A bank borrowing of HK$1,858,000 (as at 31 December
2018: HK$1,909,000) is secured by a property in the
United States with carrying value of approximately
HK$2,680,000 (as at 31 December 2018: HK$2,720,000)
recorded in property, plant and equipment as at 31
December 2019. The bank borrowing is denominated in
US dollar ("US$") and bears interest at an average interest
rate of 3.569% annually (as at 31 December 2018: 3.59%)
annually.

Bank borrowings of HK$340,886,000 (as at 31 December
2018: HK$682,167,000) are secured by bank deposits
of HK$391,465,000 as at 31 December 2019 (as at 31
December 2018: HK$734,745,000) (Note 35).

Loans from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

33 fEE ()

(a)

(b)

BEMRTEE (B)

— % iR 17 & E1,858,000%
7t (2018412 A31H :
1,909,000/ 7T) T3 A —IHZEE
MEEE A A R20195F 12
ANBEMYWE . BERRZE
£ 15 /Y BR T 1B 49 5 2,680,000
7T ( R2018512 A31H -
2,720,000 7T) ° i £ #R1TfE
BUAZETT ([ZEx]) 3)E « Wik
T EF &I E9E (R 20184
12A31H :3589[E) #t& »

R{71£ 5 340,886,000/5
(R 2018F 128318 :
682,167,000/8 7T ) J3 AR
20194612 A 31 B ¥R 1T 17 &KX
391,465,000 st ( A 20184
12 A 318 : 734,745,000 7 7T)
{EHAR (FizE35) °

B /B8 1 B SRR AR AR B2
HER

2019 2018
2019 F 20184F
$'000 $'000
o Tt
Non-current ERED
Long-term loans from MIB A A2 FEFEARAR R
non-controlling shareholders Rt REER
of subsidiaries 154,625 235,428
Current B
Short-term loans from MIB A Az FEFERR
non-controlling shareholders A SRS e
of subsidiaries 229,737 141,079
Total loans from non-controlling M B 2 & 2 =R ER
shareholders of subsidiaries Rt zEREEE 384,362 376,507

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)
33 Borrowings (Continued) 33 85 (&)
(b) Loans from non-controlling shareholders of (b) BB A BIFEIEARA R
subsidiaries (Continued) HER (8)
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4
$'000 $'000
T T
The loans from non-controlling M A E) 2 FEE IR R
shareholders of subsidiaries R ERAR
are repayable as follows: ATREHEER :
—Within one year -—FR 229,737 141,079
— More than one year but not - —FRETBBEMT
exceeding two years 121,561 78,889
— More than two years but not - MERETBERT
exceeding five years 10,762 133,961
— More than five years - HARF 22,302 22,578

Total loan from non-controlling  KiB 2 8 ZFEBRB R

shareholders of subsidiaries REZEREE 384,362 376,507
The loans from non-controlling shareholders of BT/ A ) 2 IEIERR AR R IR 4 2
subsidiaries are denominated in RMB, unsecured and ERBUARKETE - EEKHE
interest-free (2018: same). N s (20184 : HAME]) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)
33 Borrowings (Continued) 33 85 (&)
(c) The carrying amounts and fair values of the ) EEMNEmERATFE
borrowings are as follows: (I N
Group
rEE
Carrying amount Fair value
HREE AYE
2019 2018 2019 2018
20195 20184 2019 2018
$'000 $'000 $000 $'000
Fr T T Fr
Secured bank borrowings BHEARTEE 431,952 825,188 431,952 825,188
Loans from non-controlling ENGERE
shareholders of subsidiaries RERREHE 384,362 376,507 363,401 350,390
816,314 1,201,695 795,353 1,175,578
The fair values of floating rate borrowings approximate FEFIRMEERN N T EEER
their carrying amounts. The fair values of fixed rate HEEE - BEMNEEERN
borrowings are based on cash flows discounted using a ANTFEHRA—EER648E
rate based on the borrowing rate of 6.48% (2018: 6.48%) (20184 : 6.48/8) Z{EEFIX
and are within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. WA EPRMBSREET -

BRAFESRANE 24 -

4E4R 2019 BEEIRIRE (2R) BRAR 319




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

34 Deferred income tax

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

34 EEFTER

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities R EERBBERCELEMSHERE
on the consolidated balance sheet are analysed as follows: MBEEFTISHAES T T
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
$'000 $'000
S T
Deferred income tax assets: FRIEFTSTHEE ¢
— Deferred income tax assets to be — B 12 & B EIHY
recovered after more than 12 months FEFTSTHEE (1,253) (3,418)
— Deferred income tax assets to be — H—H&"\ 128 A ke A9
recovered within 12 months FEFTSTHEE (83,169) (68,914)
(84,422) (72,332)
Deferred income tax liabilities: FIEFTSTAME -
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be — B 128 AU EIR
recovered after more than 12 months FEEASHAE 399,376 337183
Deferred income tax liabilities, net BEMBHAaEFH 314,954 264,851
The gross movements in the deferred income tax liabilities, net FEEFTSH B EFRagsm
are as follows:
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
At 1 January ®w1A1H8 264,851 109,051
Charged to the consolidated TEfRE Was R B
income statement (Note 9) (FF7E9) 216,125 151,019
Acquisition of a subsidiary g —FM B AR (14,913) 8,342
Transferred to current liabilities ERETEHAG (158,260) =
Currency translation differences EERE s 7151 (3,561)
At 31 December ®12 A31H 314,954 264,851

320
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred taxation for the year ended 31 December 2019 is
calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability
method using a principal taxation rate of 16.5% (2018: 16.5%).

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable.
The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets
of HK$221,535,000 (2018: HK$174,073,000) in respect
of unrecognised tax losses of HK$1,342,637000 as at 31
December 2019 (2018: HK$1,054,986,000) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income. Approximately
HK$904,661,000 (2018: HK$911,151,000) of the unrecognised
tax losses have no expiry date and the remaining balance will
expire at various dates up to and including 2036.

As at 31 December 2019, deferred income tax liabilities
of HK$21,069,000 (2018: HK$25,465,000) have not been
recognised for the withholding tax and other taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of HK$214,869,000
(2018: HK$329,096,000) of certain PRC subsidiaries. Since the
Directors consider the timing for the reversal of the related
temporary differences can be controlled and such temporary
differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future, no
withholding tax has been provided.

F# 2019

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

34 EIEFTSH (M)

HZE2019%F12 A31 B IEFERIEL
REDEREEEINEEMER - &
F Z 7 £16.5% (20184F : 16.5%)
EZEEE -

RIEFMSHEETATEERIARE
TERR + ME LA T B8 35 3 2R 2R B SR B i A
SIRBATRIEH R AR - NEBWE
B 20194F 12 A 31 H Al A58 F AR
$H R 2K FE SR B U A /9 1,342,637,000
Bt (20184 : 1,054,986,0008
TL) RERBIEEERRELERS
i & &= 221,535,000 JT (2018 4F :
174,073,000 7T) : IR AR TS
B8 - #7904,661,0007% JT (2018
£ : 911,151,0007%70) WHESHR -
MmEREE RSN & = 2036 FF (BIE%F)
H% {8 B HEIEE o

MR2019F 12 A31H » I £ 78 5t 1%
=T B KB A R Z2214,869,000
7 7T (20184F : 329,096,00078 7T)
R PE B F A 2 TR0 R H A R
TH K& 7821,069,00078 JT (20184 :
25,465,000 7)) 2 ELEFTEH &
& - EERAA IS EERREE
EMHBOIRME - ARTSRATERE
REEARRGREESRE B RE
HTESNRL R o
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mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

34 Deferred income tax (Continued) 34 EEMBH (&)
The movement in deferred tax income assets and liabilities REANBELEHMSHEERBEESD
during the year without taking into consideration the offsetting (FEIRE R — BB Em g sa1) w0
of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: N
Deferred income tax liabilities BEFTSHAE
Accelerated tax depreciation Revaluation of assets Total
MERERE EffEE 5t
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
2019 2018% 2019% 201845 2019 20185F
$'000 $000 $'000 $000 $'000 $000
Tr T Fr T T r
At1 January M A1A 34 440 337149 185,528 337183 185,968
Charged)credited) to the ERalER
consolidated income 1/ (8%)
statement 18 (406) 219,722 152,257 219,740 151,851
Transferred to current liabiiies ~ EHZFHAR - - (158,260) = (158,260) =
Acquisition of a subsidiary NG - - - 8342 - 8342
Currency translation differences ~ SHASEH - - m3 (8,978) JAK] 8,978)
At 31 December M2A318 52 34 399,324 337149 399,376 337183
Deferred income tax assets BEREFTSREE
Tax losses Provisions Total
HEEE BE 5t
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
2019 2018% 2019% 201845 2019 2018F
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000 $000
r T Fr T T r
At1 January M A1A (9,107) (9,107) (63,225) (67810) (72,332) (76,917)
Credited to the consolidated ERANERES
income statement - - (3,615) (832) (3,615) (832)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WhE—EHBAR - - (14,913) - (14,913) =
Currency translation differences S HEEE - - 6,438 5417 6,438 5417
At 31 December M12A318 (9,107) (9,107) (75,315) (63,225) (84,422) (72.332)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Pledged bank deposits

As at 31 December 2019, two bank deposits of approximately
HK$391,465,000 (as at 31 December 2018: two bank deposits
of approximately HK$434,909,000) bearing fixed interest
rates ranging from 2.44% to 3.59% (as at 31 December 2018:
1.8% to 3.59%) per annum, are pledged to a bank to secure
two bank borrowings of approximately HK$340,886,000 (as
at 31 December 2018: HK$380,000,000) (Note 33(a)). The
bank borrowings bear interests at HIBOR plus 0.45% per
annum and LIBOR plus 0.45% per annum respectively (as
at 31 December 2018: HIBOR plus 0.45% per annum). The
Group has entered into interest rate swap and cross-currency
interest rate swap contracts with the same bank, with notional
principals of the same amount of the borrowings, to swap its
floating rate obligations under the borrowings for fixed rates
obligation ranging from 2.32% to 3.38% per annum (as at 31
December 2018: 1.66% to 3.38% per annum). The maturity
dates of the borrowings are the same as the interest rate swap
contracts. The Group did not elect to apply hedge accounting
for the interest rate swap contracts. As at 31 December 2019,
the fair values of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts
of HK$2,501,000 and HK$5,680,000 (as at 31 December
2018: HK$5,363,000 and HK$855,000) have been recorded
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss under
non-current liabilities and current liabilities respectively in the
consolidated balance sheet (Note 25).

As at 31 December 2018, RMB denominated short-term bank
deposits of approximately HK$299,836,000 bearing fixed
interest rates 2.10% per annum are pledged to a bank to secure
RMB denominated long term bank borrowings of approximately
HK$302,167.000 (Note 33(a)). The bank borrowings bear interest
rates ranging from 2.46% to 3.53% per annum. During 2019,
the RMB denominated short-term deposits have been fully
withdrawn.

The fair values of pledged bank deposits approximate their
carrying amounts.

F# 2019
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(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

CEARTER

MR2019F 12 A31H * WERITER
#9391,465,0007% 7T (7R 2018 12 A
31 H : MERITHFRAL 434,909,000
BIT) TIREEFAE2.44EE3.59
2 (2018412 A31H : 1.8 E%E3.59
[E) 5T 8« Wik T —HIRITUERE
% 58 17 15 B 49340,886,0007% 7T
(R 2018412 A 31 B : 380,000,000
7o) (BisE33(a) - RITEE D FIIR
BEARITAZERBEIMERNE0L45E
MiaBRREEFREMEF K045 (K
2018 12 A31 8 : BBRITRIER
BEMFEFE0ALSE) 5T B o ALK H
BA—ERITHEESE RELASHE
I AERBH R X XN E MR Rig G
W UBEEZZEBBERRAT
FIE N F2322 £3.38F (72018
F12R31H : FF*X166/Z£3.38
B)zERBE - BEEZEEEET
K18 A LR o ANEENELE H
FlERG AR EFRAE R -
R2019F12 8318 AF & ZFI=R
= B4 48 2 F1E2,501,0008 7T &
5,680,000/ 7T (742018124314 :
5,363,00078 7T &% 855,000/57T) B 5
FRFAEEBBRANIERB ARG
BB ETHEATEEBBRD
BRMEITS B ERER (FIzE25) ©

R20185F 12 A31H » A R ¥ 42 £
$R1777 2 %) 299,836,000 7 Jr JY 1% [E
EFFE2I0EF L - W T —
MIRITUES ARBRARITEELD
302,167,000 7T (MI7E33(a)) © #R1T
BEEERFNENT246EE3.53E
B - R2019F - ARBESERE
FEREIRM ©

EERRITERO A EREREE
GEE=I
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

36 Leases 36 HE

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a
lessee.

()  Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

WAEERABA - BIARKEREE
HEER o

ERNEEREBERNE

(i)

5]
The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating BEBBERETUTHBEES
to leases: AR &5 -
31 December 1 January
2019 2019
2019 F 20194
12831H 1H1H
Notes $'000 $'000
BRE ST T
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Properties LIES 107,024 105,037
Land T ih a, b 191,826 198,636
Equipment B 50 95
LED screen LEDF%& 614,848 559,592
Radio Channel and facility & & 4838 & & 64,472 77707
978,220 941,067
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current BNEA 214,791 133,933
Non-current JERNER 608,821 642,460
823,612 776,393

(@) Included in the right-of-use assets as of 31
December 2019 is an amount of HK$91,929,000
(as at 31 December 2018: HK$95,995,000 in lease
premium for land) which represents land use rights
held by the Group for a piece of land situated in
Beijing for development of the Phoenix International
Media Centre.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

36 Leases (Continued)

(i)

47 2019

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet
(Continued)

(b)

Included in the right-of-use assets as of 31
December 2019 is an amount of HK$12,721,000
(as at 31 December 2018: HK$13,126,000 in
lease premium for land) which was paid by the
Group pursuant to notification from the Shenzhen
Municipal Bureau of Land Resources and Housing
Management (“Shenzhen Land Bureau”) to the
Shenzhen Land Bureau to obtain a title certificate in
the name of Phoenix Satellite Television Company
Limited (the “Phoenix Subsidiary”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, for the Group's
upper ground space entitlement of approximately
8,500 square metres in China Phoenix Building
in Shenzhen (“Shenzhen Building”). As of 31
December 2019, the Group was still awaiting the
issuance of the title certificate to the Phoenix
Subsidiary by the Shenzhen Municipal Government.
The Directors are of the opinion that the title
certificate of the Shenzhen Building will be issued in
the near future.

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

36 HE (&)

(i) HRNEERABEXRNE
& (&)

(b)

R 2019 12 A 31 HHYfE
REEEET  BELE
BEREFITELER
MEEEERR(DFRIIE L
B1) BRI £
B HH912,721,000% 7T
(20185128318 £
HFEEE R 13,126,000/5
TT)  ABAREERRY
Ry BBl AR A (DR
JEF]) Mt EEET
1E#%78,500F 15 KB FT
o BEUAREEREN
Bra - BERERAR
NCIIQNENER =N D)
FEBLWEES - R
2019 128318 » &%
ENESERY BT R
[BlEL B B 2 &) 2%
#F o BERAFIIEFH
EEBERTAMKE
ﬁ °
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e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)
36 Leases (Continued) 36 HE (&)
(i) Amounts recognised in the income (i) FERRWmKRFPHERE
statement
The income statement shows the following amounts WaRBRUATEESEEEMN
relating to leases: crx
2019 2018
2019 5F 2018 ¢
Notes $'000 $'000
PisE ST T
Depreciation charge of FEREEENEXH
right-of-use assets
Properties L3 (48,714) -
Land +ih (5,690)
LED screen LED % (137,467) -
Radio Channel and facility & & 488 K& (17,287) -
7 (209,158) -
Interest expense FIEMY (BRERMERA)
(included in finance cost) (37581) -
Expense relating to HEHREERES AN
short-term and
low-value leases 7 (37,620) -

The Group leases various properties, land, LED screens, radio
channel and facility and other equipments. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 2 to 10 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended 31
December 2019 were approximately HK$258,734,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, total cash outflow

for leases of approximately HK$246,321,000 was included in
net cash used in financing activities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37 Notes to consolidated statement of cash

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

flows

(a)

47 2019

Cash (used in)/generated from operations

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash (used

in)/generated from operations

37

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

RERTREBRWEE

(a) X (FAA) /P
E:Ekn

B BT 15 B4 31 i I S48 4 75
(FTA) /FriseB S Hik

2019 2018
20195 20186
$'000 $'000
T T
Profit before income tax BRATSHAT AR 836,696 778,111
Amortisation of lease premium for land THHEEREH - 5,833
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment nE - BERRENE 178,195 186,379
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREAENE 209,158 =
Amortisation of purchased programme BARE RS REE
and film rights 12,188 9,306
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets & BE#HLAE 51,675 20,654
Share-based compensation expense MR SR ERY 22,853 25,085
Provision for impairment of accounts receivable FEMBR TR E R 79,583 53,692
Reversal of provision for impairment of FENRSOR E R R
accounts receivable (36,532) (11,470)
Provision for impairment of amounts due EhEErETBRERE
from joint ventures - 3,133
Reversal off(provision for) impairment of N —fRBE AR AR E
amount due from an associate BHERRE/ (BHE) - (1,199)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (HEME « BE kKX EEE 5,098 2,543
Loss on disposal of financial assets at fair value HERATEEBERTR
through profit or loss HBEEREE - 686
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  H&EWE  BERRERE (1,316) (1,801)
Share of profits less losses of joint ventures BlEagtEETRER 2,662 (3,427)
Share of profits less losses of associates BEBENRENREE 4,124 (10,632)
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment properties BENEATEEE/ (K3) 6,847 (7533)
Interest income FIBWA (37,002) (61,422)
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITEEZHERE 64,774 38,044
Investment income RERA (14,052) (10,458)
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value RATEEBERTRNITBEERN
through profit or loss INEILiGn (1,651,073) (804,025)
Impairment of other receivables Hiy U ER A 43279 =
Impairment of investment in an associate R—REEARNRERNE 29,884 =
Decrease/(increase) in other long-term assets HiRBEERD,/ () 18,089 (26,919)
Increase in accounts receivable EMEE T (70,915) (1,038)
Decrease in prepayments, BHE - Re REMEYGIR
deposits and other receivables b 51,050 20,574
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD,/ (5E10) 761 (2,621)
Decrease in amounts due from related companies ~ FEUUEBEE A Al ZUER D 43,836 32,806
(Increasel/decrease in self-produced programmes ~ BZARR () /H D (22) 3,678
Decrease in accounts payable, FERTRRS - EL AN S R BT TR
other payables and accruals e (109,191) (124,488)
(Decrease)fincrease in deferred income ELWA GRid) /8 (137,629) 77643
Cash (used in)/generated from operations g (TR) /FisnRe (396,980) 191,134
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mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

37 Notes to consolidated statement of cash 37

flows (Continued)

RERE

RETE ()

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

(b) The reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) MEEBELMEEY
financing activities is as follows: BRaN T :
Loans from Loans from
non-controlling  non-controlling
Secured bank Secured bank  shareholders of  shareholders of
borrowings horrowings a subsidiary subsidiaries Lease
(current) (non-current) (current) (non-current) liabilities Total
-EHBAR i !
HER FER FERRE FERRE
B8 Bi7fe BHER BHER
(@) (%) (%8) €37k HEEE a3t
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
n n r T rn r
Year ended HE019%
31 December 2019 12831 BLEE
At 1 January 2019 R2019%1 A18 132,967 92,221 141,079 235,428 - 1,201,695
Change inaccounting policy ~ EtHERE
{note 2(b)(i) (5 20o)i) - - - - 776393 776,393
Cash flows i
- inflow from financing -BEESTA
activities 140,886 - 15,405 - - 156,291
- outflow from financing -BEESTL
activities (538,276) - - - (246,321) (784,597)
Non-cash changes ESEEA &)
- Acquisition - leases -k -HE - - - - 265,504 265,504
- Finance costs - BENK - - - - 37581 37581
- currency translations -Ehag 5,309 (1,155) (352) (7198) 9,635) (13,031)
- reclassification -EN0E 61,331 (61,331) 73,605 (73,605) - -
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12 4318 402,217 29,735 229,131 154,625 823,612 1,639,926
Year ended HE018%
31 December 2018 12831 BLEE
At 1 January 2018 R2018E1 A 1R 596,507 329,215 57694 251,262 - 1,234,668
Cash flows RehE
~inflow from financing -BEEHTA
activities 509,590 - 12,322 68,611 - 590,523
- outflow from financing -BEE
activities (611,064) - = = - (611,064)
Non-cash changes FReE
- currency translations -EkpE 7133 (6,193 (2,878) (10,494) = (12.430)
- reclassification -EN0E 230,801 (230,801) 73,941 (713.941) - -
At 31 December 2018 R2018E 124318 732,967 92221 141,079 235428 - 1,201,69
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Transactions with non-controlling interests

Deemed disposal of partial interest in PNM

During the year ended 31 December 2019, as a result of the
exercise of share options by the option holders, the Group'’s
equity interest in PNM was decreased from 54.51% to 54.49%.
The Group recognised a deemed net loss of approximately
HK$355,000 in the equity attributable to owners of the
Company and an increase in non-controlling interests of
HK$3,763,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, as a result of the
exercise of share options by the option holders, the Group’s
equity interest in PNM was decreased from 54.96% to 54.51%.
The Group recognised a deemed net loss of approximately
HK$4,966,000 in the equity attributable to owners of the
Company and an increase in non-controlling interests of
HK$16,043,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018.

47 2019
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(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

38 HIEKREZRZIXS

GFL ERE TR (2

7
PN
Im

RE E2019F12 8318 It F &
HREREREATEERE K
SEREEFEBORAREZRS
54.51% 8 > £54.49% - A £ B
HZE2019F 12 A3 BHILFEEEAR
AEE NG R R IEEEF
EE #)355,000 7 7T F2 FE42= B 2 35 N
3,763,00078 7T °

REZ2018F12A31HILFE © #
REBIRER B ATTERERE - &8
7 B R HT £5 88 ) AR AR 25 FH 54.96 %
B EBAB1% o AEERE E2018
FRANBLEFEEARARRAESR
ABEEZRERAGIEBEFELD
4,966,000 % 7T & FF 12 IR & 2= 18 0
16,043,000 87T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

39 Commitments

(@) Service charges

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had committed
service charges payable under various agreements as

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

39 &g
(a)

R &

M2019F 12 A31H A& E
R IE A B 155 5% B 15 B A B R 7S

follows: BT

2019 2018

2019 20184

$'000 $'000

Fr Tz

Not later than one year TER—F 12,853 24,274
Later than one year and BN —FETERRT

not later than five years 42,278 4,046

Later than five years EBERAF 1,762 =

56,893 28,320

(b) Operating leases (b) KE2HE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had rental
commitments under various short-term and low-value
operating leases. Total future minimum lease payments
payable in respect of land and buildings, LED panels and
other equipment under non-cancellable operating leases

R2019%F 12 A31H A& H
BIEZHEHREEELEM
EEAERS -  TrRIHHKE
MEBETZ i REF - LED
BN N E AR 2 KRR FES

are as follows: RERBSBRELOT ¢
2019 2018
2019 20184
$'000 $'000
Fr Tt
Not later than one year TER—F 24,768 263,209

Later than one year and BN —FETERRT

not later than five years 1,253 565,653
Later than five years EBRAF - 29,241
26,021 858,103
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

39 Commitments (Continued)

(c) Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had capital

n _\éﬂjﬁiﬁ% IZ{E'.EI
(BRIEFFRISER - FAETIIE)
39 &iE (&)
(c) BEARANE

MR2019F 12 A31H A& E

commitments as follows: BEAEENT
2019 2018
2019 2018
$'000 $'000
T Tz
Contracted but not provided for BETHERVEL S 15,656 42,908

(d) Other commitments

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had other operating
commitments under various agreements as follows:

(d) HAbrAdE

R2019F 12 A31H " K&
RIEZ 0 e B Hfhac 2 i

U

2019 2018

2019 F 2018 F

$'000 $'000

Fir Tt

Not later than one year TEN—F 115,138 142,775
Later than one year and BRA—FETERRSF

not later than five years 38,167 117912

Later than five years BRRSF 500 =

153,805 260,687

47 2019
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mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)
40 Related party transactions 40 BEEALTRS

(i) In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial
statements, the Group had the following significant
transactions with the related parties as defined in HKAS
24 — Related Party Disclosures:

(i)

BB mREMEOMKRES
h REBEBEBREAL
(EER BB GTERFE 245 —
BHREALHRE) £1TTHE
AR5

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 %
Notes $'000 $000
FizE Tr Fr
Service charges received/ R EREREEEEERAR
receivable from the ((HHHREER]) KA
China Mobile Communication ~ KB (a4 [Hi5E)
Group Co., (“CMCC") and S8 ) BB/ ERERSE
its subsidiaries (collectively
"CMCC Group”) ab 74,279 124,164
Service charges paid/payable AT EEES A,/
to the CMCC Group JERT B RIS B a,c 18,610 58,727
Advertising sales to the AR BBEEETNESHES
CMCC Group a, d 15,957 50,312
License fee received/receivable  [MBFTRHEZKER /U H T o] B
from Fengxin Technology e f 7,806 15
Advertising sales to BT R HE TR
Fengxin Technology EEHE e g - 12
Key management compensation +ZEH A B % ii 35,283 35,085

Notes:

(@)  The CMCC Group, through a wholly-owned subsidiary of
China Mobile (Hong Kong) Group Limited, owns 19.69% of
the issued share capital of the Company.

(b) Service charges received/receivable from CMCC Group
related to wireless income which are charged based on
terms specified in the agreements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

40 Related party transactions (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

47 2019

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

(e)

Service charges paid/payable to CMCC Group related to
video cost which are charged based on terms specified in
the agreements.

Advertising sales to the CMCC Group are related to airtime
advertising and programme sponsoring on channels and
airtime advertising on giant sized light-emitting diode
panels operated by the Group.

The controlling shareholder of Fengxin Technology is a
close family member of the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

The license fee received/receivable from Fengxin
Technology relating to grant of license of domain name to
Fengxin Technology is charged based on terms specified in
the agreement.

Advertising sales to Fengxin Technology are related to
airtime advertising and programme sponsoring on channels
and internet advertising sales based on terms specified in
the agreements.

Year end balances arising from related party transactions
as disclosed in Note 40(i) above were also disclosed in
Note 24.

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

40 BREALRES (&)

(i)

(ii)

(&)

i3]

R

(c)

(e)

(f)

(9)

()

A RS ASN,E
R BB B RS B TR
R TE B R RURER ©

AR BB R EAETTH RS
ENEBARE MR L IRE
EMEERERIEEED
AR AR B Z e — 1R 8 BN
B LR EEEER -

BF R EERER AR
AERE I ERITRAEHD
—REVNREKE -

REBRBFRHRE LSS
HFATURER R M BT R A
FRR] B TR 15 R 18 E MR
IER ©

BT B 3 1 0 B
TR LR R R
BE B AR EBERES
1 BRI W
7o

AR STHEE 40() PR R 69 B 9
BALRBEENFREHRIT
BIEMTEE 24 FHKREE o
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40 Related party transactions (Continued)

41

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

40 BREALRES (&)

(il Key management compensation iy FEBEBAEH2
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
T T+t
Salaries e 23,539 22,650
Discretionary bonuses BB PETEAL 1,367 722
Housing allowance EEER 7,663 7384
Pension costs BRIREBRAR 1,711 1,686
Share-based compensation expense  MARKD TRV E RIS 1,003 2,643
35,283 35,085

Investments in and loans to Particle

In 2014, Phoenix New Media Limited (“PNM") invested in a
number of Series B Preferred Shares of Particle. In 2015, PNM
further invested approximately HK$496,989,000 in Series C
Preferred Shares of Particle.

On 28 January 2016, the board of directors of PNM have
authorised to provide short-term unsecured loans to Particle
in an aggregate principal amount of up to US$20,000,000
(approximately HK$155,138,000) (the “Loans”) at an interest
rate of 4.35% per annum with a term of twelve months and
convertible options of which PNM may, at its option, convert
all or a portion of the Loans together with any unpaid interest
into Series D1 Preferred Shares (“Conversion Options”) at any
time prior to 31 December 2018, subject to the completion of
issuance of Series D Preferred Shares by Particle. Particle has
drawn down all of the US$20,000,000 loans in April 2016.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

41 BENRKER T Particle

R2014F - BEFHEKEBEERA A
(TEE#xEE]) KERE THE
# Particle B& 5l 8 4% ik « 72015
FoREHEEE-—PRERY
496,989,000 7 JTHY Particle C R5I/{&
% o

R2016F1 A28H ' BLEFIERE
Eeit A Particle IRt A BT S
/20,000,000 Jt ( 43155,138,000
) MEEERER (ER]) -
BEFMFEFERA3BE EREA
=& AHT AR - R - BUE
FTIEEE R A 2018 FF 12 A 31 HATE(H
R PR32 13 1 2 B ok 2B (0 B G R 1)
KRR B AD1 RFEB R ([
R4 ]) - M 78 £F Particle 58 X 217D
RIBSERIE - FOI{EE ° Particle 2
#2016 4 A 12 B & #£20,000,000
EITHER °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Investments in and loans to Particle
(Continued)

On 30 December 2016, PNM exercised the Conversion Options
to convert the Loans totalling US$20,000,000 into 23,600,000
of Series D1 Preferred Shares. Similar to Series B and C, the
investment in D1 Preferred Shares have similar features and
were separated into the debt component of HK$122,744,000
which were classified as “available-for-sale financial assets”
(“AFS") and “derivative financial instruments” (“DFI") of
HK$38,171,000 (for the conversion option). The investments in
AFS and DFI were subsequently measured at fair value at each
reporting period based on an external valuation report. Under
HKAS 39, changes in fair value of the DFI are recognised in
the consolidated income statement whereas all changes in fair
value of AFS are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income except for the interest portion of the AFS calculated
using the effective interest method which is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

On 11 August 2016, PNM has provided a short-term unsecured
loan to Particle Inc. of US$14,800,000 (approximately
HK$114,802,000) (the “Convertible Loan"”) at an interest rate of
4.35% per annum with a term of six months and Conversion
Options exercisable at any time on or before the maturity
date of the loan. The loan represents compound financial
instruments, which comprise (i) “loans and receivable” of
HK$109,372,000 classified as “amounts due from related
companies” and (ii) DFI of HK$5,430,000. The “loans and
receivable” were carried at amortised cost and the DFI was
subsequently measured at fair value at each reporting period.
In August 2017 the term of the Convertible Loan was extended
to eighteen months to February 2018. On 22 January 2018, the
term of the Convertible Loan was further extended to August
2018.

On 2 November 2016, PNM provided another short-term
unsecured loan to Particle of RMB46,000,000 (approximately
HK$52,031,000) at an interest rate of 9.00% per annum with a
term of six months. In January 2017 the term of the loan was
extended to twelve months to November 2017 In November
2017 the unsecured loan was repaid by Particle.

F# 2019
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(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

BRERRE T Particle (&)

R 2016512 A308 @ B B 57 &K 82
171 # iR # 8 & £20,000,000 % 7T

9B X # % 523,600,0008%D1 FE
TR AL - BEEB R% & C RIIME STk
MIBRAERE - RD1 R EEKRHE
BEEBEURETE S AERIHD
122,744,000 7T (D484 [ AIHEHE
MsEE] ([FIHRESVBEE]) &
[T TA] ([STEFHBITA]
38,171,000 T (FETREMF)) ©
R EREEERITEN K TA
ZIRBHBENSRE HREINSHE
MERNATEFE - REBEESSHE
BIZE39%% - T T A AFEE
B4R A W e R TR T o] (L 8K & B 1S
BEZMAEATFESSEENEME
EW R - ERA BRI B R HE
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M2016F8 A 11 B » Bl & # K
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FREEATH IR BHOHERE
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41

Investments in and loans to Particle
(Continued)

On 20 January 2017 PNM also provided a short-term unsecured
loan to Particle Inc. of RMB74,000,000 (approximately
HK$83,835,000) at an interest rate of 9.00% per annum with a
term of twelve months.

Following the adoption of HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments on 1
January 2018, the investments in Series B, C and D1 Preferred
Shares of Particle Inc. (classified as AFS and derivative financial
instruments in 2017) and Convertible Loan (classified as loans
and receivables and derivative financial instruments in 2017)
have been reclassified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL').

On 22 January 2018, the term of the loan of RMB74,000,000
was extended for six months and the loan and interest were
fully repaid in July 2018.

On 2 April 2018, PNM signed an agreement with an investor
of Particle Inc. to grant a right to assign the US$14,800,000
convertible loan issued by Particle Inc. for US$17000,000 to
that investor of Particle Inc. (the “Loan Assignment”). The Loan
Assignment was completed on 7 August 2018.

On 23 February 2019, PNM entered into a letter of intent
(“LOI") with an independent third party (the “Purchaser”)
pursuant to which the Purchaser will purchase 32% equity
interest of Particle held by PNM on an as-if converted basis.
The total consideration is US$448,000,000 (approximately
HK$3,494,400,000), based on an estimated transaction
valuation.

On 22 March 2019, PNM entered into the Share Purchase
Agreement with Run Liang Tai Management Limited (“Run
Liang Tai”), pursuant to which PNM conditionally agreed to sell
the 32% equity interest in Particle Inc. on an as-if converted
basis and Run Liang Tai conditionally agreed to purchase
the Sale Shares for cash consideration of US$448,000,000
(approximately HK$3,494,400,000).

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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MR2019F3 A 228 + Bl B #iF 88 61
Run Liang Tai Management Limited
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hEE o UL - BUE TSR A R
A & W % Particle Inc. #)32% % 1#
(M E B E AT E) - 1 Run
Liang Tai B & R B AR & KB
448,000,000 7T ( 493,494,400,000
BIT) WS ERD -
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Investments in and loans to Particle
(Continued)

On 31 May 2019, PNM sent a completion confirmation letter
to the Run Liang Tai to confirm the satisfaction of all of the
conditions as specified in the Share Purchase Agreement.
Run Liang Tai, however, disputed on the satisfaction of certain
conditions.

On 23 July 2019, PNM and Run Liang Tai entered into a
supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”).
The key terms of the Supplemental Agreement, amongst other
things, are: (i) to adjust the amount of Offshore Sale Shares
to an aggregate of 212,358,165 shares of Particle; and (ii) to
complete the transaction in two stages on or before 10 August
2020. For details of the Supplemental Agreement, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 25 July 2019.

On 5 August 2019, both Long De Chengzhang Culture
Communication (Tianjin) Co., Ltd, and Long De Holdings (Hong
Kong) Co., Limited (collectively, “Long De") as existing equity
holders of Particle sent a notice to PNM purporting to exercise
their Co-sale right. Since then PNM has been in discussion with
Long De to settle the Co-sale right of Long De.

The Supplemental Agreement was approved in the
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM") on 22 October 2019.
PNM transferred the First Batch Shares to Run Liang Tai on 30
October 2019 (the “First Completion Date”), upon receipt of
the First Consideration and Second Deposit. Thereafter, the title
and legal ownership of the First Batch Shares in the register
of members of Particle has been changed to Run Liang Tai. As
Run Liang Tai was entitled to the entire rights of shareholders in
respect of the First Batch Shares, including the economic rights
and voting rights, PNM has derecognised the First Batch Shares
on First Completion Date.

F# 2019
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41

Investments in and loans to Particle
(Continued)

On 20 January 2020, PNM entered into the co-sale agreement
(the "“Co-sale Agreement”) with Run Liang Tai and Long De,
pursuant to which Long De will sell approximately 9,794,989
Preferred Shares of Particle (the “Long De Sale Shares”)
to Run Liang Tai for a total consideration of approximately
US$21,000,000 in two batches. Consequently, PNM will reduce
the number of Second Batch Shares to be disposed to Run
Liang Tai from 117,555,413 Preferred Shares as stipulated in the
Supplemental Agreement to 107,760,424 Preferred Shares.

As a result, the total consideration received/receivable by PNM
from Run Liang Tai will be reduced from US$448,000,000 to
approximately US$427,000,000. There is no change to the
consideration per share (equivalent to US$2.11 per Preferred
Share) under the Co-sale Agreement or the Supplemental
Agreement.

In addition, PNM agreed to provide an interest-free loan of
approximately US$9,700,000 to Run Liang Tai to enable them
to pay for the first batch of Long De Sale Shares (i.e. 4,584,209
Preferred Shares) in accordance with the terms of the Co-
sale Agreement. When Long De transfers the 4,584,209
Preferred Shares to Run Liang Tai, Run Liang Tai should pledge
the 4,584,209 shares to PNM to secure the repayment of the
approximately US$9,700,000 loan.

An EGM is expected to be held in May 2020 to approve the Co-
sale Agreement.

The second batch of Long De Sale Shares is expected to
complete within 10 business days after the completion of the
107,760,424 Second Batch Shares of Particle to be sold by PNM
(the “Second Completion”), which is expected to occur no later
than 10 August 2020 according to the Co-Sale Agreement.

The independent professional valuer (the “Valuer”) adopted
the market approach to calculate the enterprise value of
Particle at 31 December 2019. Accordingly, the fair values of
the investments in Series C and D1 Preferred Shares have
increased to approximately HK$2,259,000,000 at 31 December
2019 and a fair value gain of approximately HK$1,568,000,000
was recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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41 Investments in and loans to Particle
(Continued)

The following financial information attributable to the investment
in Particle Inc. was included in the Consolidated Income
Statement and the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2019, and the Consolidated
Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2019:

r e IR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

BRER R ERF Particle (&)

AT 8B RE T Particle Inc. BB 75
ﬁﬂﬁ)\éﬁzizowimﬂa =Nl
EE’\JZ H&Zﬁﬁ%&i j’://luii%
AR 2019F 12 A31 BNGZEEE
BfEx

Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2019
#HZE2019412 A 31 ElJtEJ*E’J

e R
$'000
Tt
Other gains, net H Al s H 58
Other operating gains, net HAbg g e #58
Fair value gain on financial RAFEBBEZCEN
assets at fair value through R EEN A FEEKE
profit or loss
Investment in Particle Inc. & & 1 Particle Inc. 1,567715
Other financial assets HEmBBEERAE
and liabilities 4,952
Income tax expense Frristi & A 221,442
Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2019
20194912 A31 B
RAEBEBER
$'000
Tt
Current assets MENE E
Cash and cash equivalents B kA SFEEH 400,624
Financial assets at fair value - /NS %iﬂiﬁ SRCARE I TS B E
through profit or loss 2,258,645
Current liabilities mEaE
Accounts payable, FERTBRIR -~ E R B R BT FCR
other payables and accruals 558,884
Financial liabilities at fair value BAFEBAERCRNMIEAE
through profit or loss 17828
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMBHARE 214,165
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2019
HZE2019412 H 31 BILFER
wT\ Iﬁi/}lbii‘%
$'000
Tt
Cash flows from RELTHNRSRE
Investing activities
Deposit for disposal of HEZR AT EE BIERCRN
financial assets at fair value IS EENLES
though profit or loss 401,395
Proceed from disposal of HERAFEBBERLEN
financial assets at fair value W EERE
through profit or loss 1,562,884

47 2019
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(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

41 Investments in and loans to Particle 41 TENKENF Particle (&)
(Continued)
The movements attributable to the investment in Particle Inc. HE209F12A3MA L FERE
included in financial asset at fair value through profit or loss for R E R Particle Inc. (GT AR AFE
the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out below: FRERCENMBEE) VT
T
Currency
Currency translation
translation differences -
Fair value gain differences - recognised in
recognised in recognised in other
As at income income  comprehensive As at
1 January 2019 statement Disposal statement income 31 December 2019
RbER ERREER-
R2019% B2 EBREEE- REft R2019%
1818 NHEWE HE  RUERRR 2ERERR 12A31H
(HKS'M) (HKS'M) (HKS'M) (HKS'M) (HKS'M) (HK$'M)
(BE#T) (REHT) (BB i (BB (BEAT)
First Batch Shares E-HERH
Series B Preferred Shares B ZJIE %R 2441 206.0 (450.2) 0.1 = =
Series C Preferred Shares ~ CZJIER MR 626.1 4675 (1,004.1) 05 - -
Second Batch Shares E-RERH
Series C Preferred Shares ~ CZJSIE%MR 1,004.6 776.1 = - 08) 17799
Remaining shares HEAR B
Series C Preferred Shares  C Z5IELH 824 343 - - - 116.7
Series D1 Preferred Shares D1 7Bk 2184 838 - - 0.2 362.0
TOTAL by 22356 1,5677 (1,544.3) 06 (1.0) 2,258.6

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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42 Acquisition of subsidiaries

(@) For the year ended 31 December 2019

(i)

47 2019

Acquisition of Tianbo

On 1 April 2019, PNM announced that it regained
control over Tianbo, a previously held joint venture,
and consolidated the financial statements of Jt /&l
BXBREFIMAERAR (Beijing Fenghuang Tianbo
Network Technology Co., Ltd.*) (“Tianbo”) as a
subsidiary through certain revisions to the articles of
association of Tianbo. Accordingly, the investment in
Tianbo has been accounted for as “step acquisition”
under HKFRS 3 “Business Combination” since 1
April 2019 (the “acquisition date”). Consequently, all
the identifiable net assets of Tianbo were measured
at fair value and consolidated in the Group's financial
statements and a goodwill of approximately
HK$13,259,000 was recognised as an intangible
asset in the Group's financial statements. Tianbo is
principally engaged in exclusive operation of the real
estate channel and exclusive sales of real estate
advertisements on PNM's website ifeng.com.

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

42 WEKHE AT

(@) HZE2019F12 A31H
IEFE

(i)

WhE X 18

R2019F4 A18 ' BE
RS M - mEESI
REEKRBHEGEITER
R ([RE]D) (RBEE
B3E) MZEGE - wiEE
BRRIEEBERT A
FiExx - &HKR1E (1ER
MiEAaE) M HERE -
B RRIEMIRER
20194818 ([ W B
HER]) BIRE BT SR
HHERIE I [EHA ]
B[ HREWRE] AK-
Ett - XIERETE A5
FEERATERNZE I
IRATEELREE 2 U5
¥ 3 ¢ 1M %913,259,000
BT FRARAEE 2
HEHREERBERE
E o KSR B IEEE
THEuh CBEEEY EE2%
EBFEEEERE -

FEERSBERIEESE
7 o
Consideration transferred EEENRE
$'000
Tt
Fair value of consideration in form NESEERTAREHATE
of advertising resources 6,866
Fair value of PNM previously held BRI EEREFERENATE
equity interest 19,798
Non-controlling interest IR RS 6,539
33,203

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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42 Acquisition of subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)
(Continued)

(i) Acquisition of Tianbo (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

The following table summarises the consideration,

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

42 WHEHEAR (H)

(@) HZE2019F12 A31H
IHFE (8)

() wEXEGE)

TERBARE EBAE

the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities EZAFERNIKE B E
assumed at the acquisition date: FrgiE s B1fE -
$'000
T
Bank balances RITHERR 204,233
Accounts receivable, net FEUBR S 58 136,552
Property, plant and equipment M -~ HE K& 3,633
Investment properties wEYZE 2,697
Accounts payable FERTERR (52,658)
Other payables b T RRIE (209,922)
Other liabilities, net HEtBEFE (64,591)
19,944
Consideration transferred EEENE 33,203
Less: net assets acquired B BEABERE (19,944)
Goodwill arising on step acquisition DEBKEEEE X 2 e 13,259
Net cash inflow on acquisition of Tianbo WEREZHSRAFE
$'000
T

Cash consideration
Less: cash and cash equivalent
balances acquired

Net cash inflow on acquisition
of Tianbo

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

ReHE

B BERARE RIREHERR &R

(204,233)

WHERIE 2 R EMATHER

(204,233)
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42 Acquisition of subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

47 2019

For the year ended 31 December 2019
(Continued)

(ii)

Acquisition of Lingke

In October 2019, the Group entered into an
agreement to acquire an additional 8.25% of the
equity interest in E8EEFREREXLERER QA
(“Lingke") for RMB1 to obtain control over Lingke.

Accordingly, the investment in Lingke has been
accounted for as “step acquisition” under HKFRS 3
“Business Combination” since 31 October 2019 (the
“acquisition date”).

Consequently, all the identifiable net assets of
Lingke were measured at fair value and consolidated
in the Group's financial statements. The Group
has acquired cash and cash equivalents of
HK$20,638,000 from Lingke, which resulted in a net
cash inflow on acquisition of Lingke. The goodwill
arising on the step acquisition of Lingke was
approximately HK$1,170,000.

The following table summarises the fair value
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
acquisition date:

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

42 WHEHEAR (F)

(@) HZE2019F12 A31H
IHFE (8)

(ii)

WhEEE

R2019F 108 » A& H
SIS W AARBE 1T
WELESEERBRER
XbERBRAR ([E
&) %8 HN8.25% X #E -
LABU/S #] SE R A1 4 o

it - RERENKRE B
20194108318 ([UEE
HER]) BIREEFENH
HELREIR[EBE
B AT R EBURE] A
EE o

Hig - BRI ATHR
BENRATFEGFEWLER
BEFARE BN ISR
Ko ASENETKE
20,638,000/8 7T /) 31 &
MASEMEER - B3k
BERFEERA D
& ER BB SR FTEE RS
£4951,170,00078 7T °

TRBACBABEZR
FE RS B BFTASE
ZBfE:

$'000

T

Bank balances and cash RITHEBR KRS 20,638

Other assets/(liabilities),net HEE(AfE)FE (354)

Non-controlling interests el (9,275)
Fair value of previously [REFFBRIERNATE

held equity interest (9,839)

Goodwill arising on acquisition W B EE R 1,170

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

42 Acquisition of subsidiaries (Continued)

(b)

For the year ended 31 December 2018

On 18 December 2018, PNM announced that its
indirect non- wholly owned subsidiary Beijing Chenhuan
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Chenhuan”) entered into
an agreement to acquire 25.5% equity interests in
Beijing Yitian Xindong Network Technology Co., Ltd.
("Yitian Xindong"), for an aggregate purchase price of
RMB144,100,000 (the "Acquisition”). The Acquisition
completed on 28 December 2018 (“Completion Date"”)
following the payment of part of the consideration of
RMB73,000,000 (approximately HK$82,000,000) and the
change of business registration. As Bingruixin Technology
Co., Ltd., another 25.5% equity interests holder in Yitian
Xindong entrusted its voting rights in respect to its
shareholding in the Yitian Xindong to Chenhuan on the
Completion Date, Chenhuan was able to obtain control
over Yitian Xindong. Consequently, all the identifiable
assets of Yitian Xindong was measured at fair value at
Completion Date and consolidated in the Group’s financial
statements and a goodwill of HK$111,310,000 was
recognised as an intangible asset in the Group’s financial
statements. Yitian Xindong owns the mobile application
Tadu, a leading online digital reading application in China
that currently has more than 1,000,000 daily active users.

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

42 WHEHEAR (H)

(b)

HZE2018%F 12 A
31 BIEFE

R2018F12 A18H © B &
MRS HEEEREW
BRAARILRERRIEBR AT
(TER)]) £ 1HWEILRS
KB EEREARAR ([ 5
K |) 2 25.5% BHE - 4a0E
B B % & AR #144,100,000
T (TWEEED - ZHHH
KB AR #73,000,0007T (4
82,000,000 7t) & 5 B
BifE - WEEIER 20184 12
A28R8 (=B =K -
AR RBEREERA
Al (B —%5K¥E255% K&
H2EAAN) RE A BRI E
EZRBEEZRTESREN
WEE BEREREmMESS XM
B - Bt - RIS
2B HREERTK B
HiEAFEFZE WiRE 5T
EEASE HBHRE M
111,310,000 7% 7T 2 B2 AR AR
SECUBRERERBELE
E-SRNBERSFHERRE
NBEEXE (BPREETEF L
E7EERARERZ—)  BAl
%A 3% 1,000,000% & B /&
AP -

Consideration transferred EEENRE
$'000
Tt
Cash e 82,410
Deferred consideration FEERE 80,265
162,675

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

42 Acquisition of subsidiaries (Continued)

(b)

47 2019

For the year ended 31 December 2018
(Continued)

The following table summarises the consideration paid,
the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
the acquisition date:

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

42 WHEHEAR (F)

HZE2018%F 12 A
3N HIEFE (B)

TERBAERNRE EBAE
EZAFERR WS B H A&
EzaE:

$'000
Tt
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRERELEE
and intangible assets 110,140
Other assets/(liability),net Hip&E (&) FE 27215
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR KRR S 12,354
Deferred tax liabilities BELEBIEAE (8,342)
141,367
Consideration transferred EEENAE 162,675
Plus: non-controlling interests o FEEAR R 90,002
Less: net assets acquired W BB ABESE (141,367)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHEETHEES 28 111,310
Net cash outflow on acquisition of Yitian Xindong B S R B 2 RE R FE
$'000
T
Consideration RIE 162,675
Less: cash and cash equivalent B BEEBARSR
balances acquired ReFEIEE &R (12,354)
Less: deferred consideration B IRERE (80,265)
Net cash outflow on acquisition WHE B RFhEh 2 et 55
of Yitian Xindong 70,056

On 1 March 2019, PNM entered into a second share
purchase agreement with Bingruixin Technology Co., Ltd.
to purchase an additional 25.5% of the equity interest in
Yitian Xidong for cash consideration of RMB144,100,000,
which results in a reduction of capital reserve amounting
to approximately HK$131,922,000.

R201943A18 - BEFE
BERImREEREAERA
BRI TE - XRBRHDEER
# - DAMR(EAREE 144,100,000
TLREINE R S RHE) 2 25.5%
IR SWMEARRKERDLD
131,922,000 7T °

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

43 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the 43 ARAFMNEESBXRNFES

Company 2E
2019 2018
2019 & 2018 4F
$'000 $'000
T Tt
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries REB AR KRR 157,292 157,292
Current assets REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents e RESEMEEE 10,795 10,786
Amounts due from subsidiaries, net JEULHI B A BB F 58 1,970,011 1,970,011
1,980,806 1,980,797
Total assets nEE 2,138,098 2,138,089
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owner KATER AELEER
of the Company
Share capital &N 499,347 499,347
Reserves (Note (a)) i (M (a) 980,718 1,038,307
Total equity R 1,480,065 1,537654
LIABILITIES aE
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals H Ao A FRIE R FERTRE 561 561
Amount due to a subsidiary JE < — RSB B A R FUE 657,472 599,874
Total liabilities wa s 658,033 600,435
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 2,138,098 2,138,089
LIU Changle CHUI Keung
LR By
Director Director
EE EE
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

43 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the 43 AARNEESEBERKFHE

Company (Continued)
Note (a)

Movement in the reserves of the Company during the year was as
follows:

25 (&)

HYEE (a)

ARTRENOEBRBIT :

Employee
share-based
Share payment Retained

premium reserve earnings Total

EEURS

XfH
RADERE RERE REEF @t
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Fr T T
At 31 December 2017 R2017%12A318 149,155 29,827 902,975 1,081,957
Lapse of share options BRI 2K 908 (908) = =
Loss for the year FEEE - - (2,288) (2,288)
Dividends related to 2017 812017 FEBNRE - - 49,935) (49,935)

Share-based compensation MR A RERS

expense - 8,673 - 8,573
At 31 December 2018 R2018%12A31H 150,063 37492 850,752 1,038,307
Lapse of share options BRI 2K 571 (571) = =
Loss for the year FEEE - - (7654) (7654)
Dividends related to 2018 812018 FBMMKRE - - 49,935) (49,935)
At 31 December 2019 R2019512A31H 150,634 36,921 793,163 980,718

47 2019
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mE MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44 Benefits and interest of directors

Directors’ and senior management’s
emoluments

The remuneration of every Director for the year ended 31
December 2019 is set out below:

As director (note (i)

fERES (KE()

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

4 EEEANRF =
BEENSREEAERB

&

BZEEREHE2019412 A31 HIE
FEMMESEHINNT

Estimated

money value

Discretionary of other

Fees Salaries bonus henefits
RftiERl

[ ffst

ik i WAL $RER
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
In n r I

Employer
contribution
toa
retirement As
Housing benefit management
allowance scheme (note (ii)) Total
Exm
BURERE  (FREEE
BEEE MM (B (i) &zt
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
r T n n

1 LIU Changle - - -
(Chief Executive Officer)
ARE (THes)
2 CHUI Keung 392 - -
ER
8 WANG JiYan - - -
Ths
4 GONG Jianzhong - - -
(resigned on 27 March 2020)
g
(20203 A27 BEfE)
5 LEUNG Hok Lim 250 - -
6 Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK 250 - -
7 FANG Fenglei 250 - -
HBE
8 SUN Yanjun - - -
(resigned on 16 August 2019)
FHRE
(201958 R 16 BEHE)
9 LAU Wai Kei, Ricky - - -
(ceased on 16 August 2019)
£ st
(201958 A 16 BZ(E)
10 HEDi 250 - -
fii
11 XABing - - -
(resigned on 6 June 2019)
Bk
(201956 A6 AEH)
12 JIANQin - - -
GE)
13 ZHANG Dong - - -
(appointed on 6 June 2019)
S
(201956 A6 REZ)
14 SUN Qiang Chang - - -
(appointed on 16 August 2019)
#R
(2019% 8 A 16 BEZT)

348 Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

44 Benefits and interest of directors (Continued)

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

44 EEENRANE (B)

Directors’ and senior management'’s EENEREEAENMNE
emoluments (Continued) (&)
The remuneration of every Director for the year ended 31 BREERHZE2018F 12 A31HIE
December 2018 is set out below: FEMMSIHINAT
As director (note (i))
{ERES ()
Employer
contribution
Estimated toa
money value retirement As
Discretionary of other Housing benefit  management
Fees Salaries bonus benefits allowance scheme (note (ii)) Total
EftEA] Exm
REEH #fiar RINERTE  (FREEE
5 e gyl SHEE FEZE  (EHAERN (PirzE i) @
$'000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $'000 $'000 $000
o S T i T S o S
1 LIU Changle
(Chief Executive Officer) - - - - - - 9,446 9,446
BIR% (f70ER)
2 CHUI Keung 392 - - - - - 4,500 4,892
EE
3 WANG JiYan - - - - - - 3,159 3,159
ThE
4 SHA Yugjia
(resigned on 16 Nov 2018) - - - - - - - -
(R2018% 11 A 16 BE(T)
5 GONG Jianzhong - - - - - - - -
Egd
6 LEUNG Hok Lim 250 - - - - - - 250
225K
7 Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK 250 - - - - - - 250
8 FANG Fenglei 250 - - - - - - 250
HEE
9 SUN Yanjun - - - - - - - -
10 LAUWaiKei, Ricky - - - - - - - -
et
11 HEDi 250 - - - - - - 250
faih
12 XABing - - - - - - - -
Bk
13 JIANQin
(appointed on 16 Nov 2018) - - - - - - - -
%
(2018511 A 16 HERFE)
3 2019 BRERIEE (%) BRAR]
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44 Benefits and interest of directors (Continued)

As of 31 December 2019, Mr. LIU Changle had outstanding
share options of the Company to purchase 4,900,000 shares
at HK$1.41 per share (2018: 4,900,000 shares at HK$1.41 per
share), Mr. CHUI Keung had outstanding share options of the
Company to purchase 3,900,000 shares at HK$1.41 per share
(2018: 3,900,000 shares at HK$1.41 per share) and Mr. WANG Ji
Yan had outstanding share options of the Company to purchase
3,900,000 shares at HK1.41 per share (2018: 3,900,000 shares
at HK$1.41 per share). No options were exercised during 2019.

(i) The amounts represented emoluments paid or receivable
in respect of a person’s services as a director, whether of
the Company or its subsidiary undertakings.

(i) The amounts represented emoluments paid or receivable
in respect of a person’s other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company
or its subsidiary undertakings and included salaries,
discretionary bonuses, employer’s contributions to
retirement benefit schemes, housing allowance and
value of the share option. The value of the share options
granted to the directors of the Company under the share
option schemes of the Company represents the fair value
of these options charged to the consolidated income
statement for the year in accordance with HKFRS 2.

(i) No director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the year.

During the year, no emoluments, retirement benefits, payments
or benefits in respect of termination of directors’ services
were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor
are any payable (2018: Nil). No consideration was provided to
or receivable by third parties for making available directors’
services (2018: Nil). There are no loans, quasi-loans or other
dealings in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities (2018: None).

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

44 EEENRANE (B)

MR2019F 12 A31H @ 8l K £ % &
BBERITEZARRERETIZER
14178 TiE E 4,900,000f% %15 (2018
F : ZE R 1.41% 708 4,900,000
B Hm) - EREEFERTEZAR
ANAEREANZRERIMNELEER
3,900,000 f% f% 7 (2018 4 : & &R
1.41 78 7T B B 3,900,000 i % 17) K&
FREEERBERTEZARRER
¥ Rl 1% 5 8% 1.41 7 T B8 E 3,900,000
& (20184 « H &% 1.41 B LiE
E 3,900,000 g & 10) - kFEZEH R
2019 FF NI TR REARAE o

) BHBEARAXAMERESE
(TmEARRIREMERED
BF) MREORYE  XNHF
FZARFB - HRZARRZF
B 765 1 W B 0 7 B =

(il BHBEARAXAEEER
ARR (HEMBLE) OF
BHEBENBER T RENE M
R - X TFRANEHH - X
% A T Bt % 55 R 75 1T W B EY 38
B YEemHe  BISERD
TEAL ~ R EFRINIE ARG EIME
HE R - FERR - ARE
IREMEE - REARRINE
BAEFT IR T AR B EENE
REMEE KR FERE
RIZ & 7B B 7 & 2R R 26 2 5%
REREFE WEKR MR R F
B

(i) BMEEERFAREXRZR
TN -

FA - WEAESEEKBEESI TR
EHBBRIEEZRBAOBMS < RIK
BRI ARk FIES  INEE A RE
318 (20184 « &) - WL ER
HEERBEMATE=—ERE=FT
FIRHE BRI M UE AR E (2018
FoE) WERNEE ZITEEN
SEFIEABERE FEEEED
NERREUER  KBEZEAL
MHEMRZ S (20184 : ) o
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

45 Subsequent event

After the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19
outbreak”) in early 2020, a series of precautionary and control
measures have been and continued to be implemented in
countries where the Group operates. The Group will pay close
attention to the development of the COVID-19 outbreak and
evaluate its impact to the Group.

47 2019

45

e ISR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - £FABTTIIE)

HREE

2019 #7178 A S & 1B 1R 2020 F 1] 18 8
(fCOVID-19/& %)) 1& - ERAEE
BEMHBEREE —ERhERE
THENE  WIEHFEETT - AEEER
P, ER COVID-19/B M BREE R -
WHEH AR EBAITE -

REEREKRE (ZR) BRAR
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